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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MBHRE

2017 2016
2017 F 20165
Operating results (HK$’ 000) RexE(TER)
Revenue LN 4,183,786 3,499,762
Gross profit EM 829,197 821512
Profit before tax BRBEAT A 7 58,242 110978
Profit for the year FERRA 50,785 100,452
Profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company ARREE AEIEFRRF 39,674 103,525
Financial position (HK$’ 000) BBMRR(FER)
Total assets BEE 2,883,172 2,537,083
Net current assets MBEEFR 388,425 397,189
Bank borrowings RITER 736,054 476,896
Net assets BE#E 1,309,466 1214096
Net assets attributable to owners of the Company ARAEE AEIEEEFRE 1,155,030 1,059,290
Per share data (HK cents) BREE (B)
Dividend per share BRERE
— Interim — — 06
~ Final — K8 1.0 10
~Total — 45t 1.0 1.6
Earnings per share BREN
— Basic —&EX 227 592
- Diluted -8 227 591
Net assets value per share BREEFE 748 69.4
Share price as at 31 December R 12831 BRYBR(E 70.0 630

Sinomax Group Limited 2017 Annual Report




FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

MBHE

2017 2016
2017F 20164

Key statistics TEHE
Gross profit margin (%) EFE (%) 19.8% 235%
Net profit margin (%) ENE (%) 1.2% 29%
Inventory turnover (days) FERBRE(RE) 62.9 52.8
Debtors' turnover (days) BBAREERE(KRE) 64.0 67.1
Creditors' turnover (days) BEREANEAERE(KRE) 51.5 505
Payout ratio (%) KEE (%) 34.5% 54.0%
Dividend yield (%) R B U Es 2 (%) 1.4% 25%
Retum on total assets (%) BEERRE (%) 1.8% 4.0%
Retumn on net assets (%) BEFERRE (%) 3.9% 8.3%
Gearing ratio (%) BEARLE %) 56.2% 39.3%
Current ratio (%) MENLLE (%) 128.8% 135.5%

BEKREBERLDA

2017 FERE




CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EERYE

On behalf of the board (the “Board") of directors (the "Directors”), | have the great pleasure
of presenting to you the annual report of Sinomax Group Limited (the “Company”) and its

subsidiaries (altogether, the “Group”) for the financial year ended 3| December 2017.

The year 2017 continued to be another challenging year. We strategically focus on the markets
in The People's Republic of China (“PRC") and the United States of America (the “US"). The

following are the major events during the year ended 3| December 2017

o a three-year strategic partnership with Serta Simmons Bedding, LLC (“Serta Simmons

Bedding);

. a grand opening of the US Factory; and
. commenced operation of the Shangdong factory in the third quarter.
Strategic Partnership with Serta Simmons Beddings

Serta Simmons Bedding is one of the largest manufacturers and distributors of mattresses in
the US. We have entered into a three-year strategic partnership with Serta Simmons Bedding
to develope new bed-in-a-box offerings for Serta Simmons Bedding's Serta® and Beautyrest®
brands. The new product offerings will be available for sale through existing and prospective
retailer channels of Serta Simmons Bedding. Under the strategic partnership arrangement with
Serta Simmons Bedding, the boxed mattress offerings under Serta® and Beautyrest® brands will

be manufactured in the US Factory.

Products that Sinomax USA, Inc manufactures for Serta Simmons Bedding
Sinomax USA, Inc £ Serta Simmons Bedding 241 K 2 i

Sinomax Group Limited 2017 Annual Report

AARARREE(EE ) e((EEE])
m ET2FEAREERRA(EDF]R
HEMBELR(SEAKE)EZ2017F12A
3 HEMBEEFR -

WITENARTRKEL —F - TEEEE - R
MEFRPEARLMBE(HE])RER(E
BmE - REZ2017F1A3RILEE
BUATEASH :

e HSerta Simmons Bedding, LLC ([Serta
Simmons Bedding]) 5T = FREEE (L H
&

s XEBFRERE: K
o URIBRE=ZFERHLEE -
£ Serta Simmons Bedding #95R B & £ B8 &

Serta Simmons Bedding & 3 Bl & X ! /K 1% &
ER N HEE 2 —  HiI5 B Serta Simmons
Bedding I T~ Serta® &z Beautyrest® m iR % 257
bed-in-a-box Z fn £ Serta Simmons Bedding 7]
V=ERBBHER - TERREREBR Serta
Simmons Bedding VA REHETERBIHE °
IRIEE Serta Simmons Bedding 5] 3 KSR RE B 1+
ZHE + Serta® & Beautyrest® 2 & H KRB E
mSREBRE 4 E R AR -



Grand Opening of the US Factory

Although the Group has experienced a delay in ramping up the US Factory to full commercial
production as additional time is required for the development and trial production of new
and innovative products. Commercial production of the US Factory started in June and the

production output will be increased gradually.

Operation of Shandong Factory

In order to better serve our customers in the northeast part of PRC, a new factory was set up
in Shandong and it started operation in the third quarter. It will expedite our sales growth and

enhance our leading position in the polyurethane foam industry in the PRC.

There are potential threats and uncertainties in the US for any additional tariff for PRC
imported commodities. We are unique in the polyurethane foam industry that we have both
factories in the US and in the PRC so that we can arrange our production to reduce any

additional tariff that may impose.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ESRAE

We are undergoing a rapid sales growth particularly in the US market. We will continue to HPHEEEEGHRERER  XEAMBEATE
seek for other business opportunities in the US and China markets in the future. Our bankers BEZ - XK BB EENERLTEMS
have been very supportive in financing our investments over the past years and have indicated SRHMEBEE - ZMNERBITLERK
that they would provide continuous support to finance our expected increase in working NREMNREREE S  TRABEERR
capital needs. PMERE NN EEeTERMES -

mo

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to thank all staff members for their RAAEREZZEZCRHRME2EETIRTHE

dedication to the Group and the shareholders of the Company (‘the Shareholders"), valued Rt P EARBAELNER - WREHEA

customers, suppliers, bankers and other business partners for the continuous support. ARFE(RR]) BEXPF - (tER - ROR
Htm R B H AR AT -

\

e

Lam Chi Fan EFR
Chairman MER
27 March 2018 201843 H27H
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Revenue by operating segments

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group's revenue of the Group increased by
approximately HK$684.0 million or approximately 19.5% to approximately HK$4,183.8 million
(FY2016: HK$3,499.8 million).

EEENWED T

BRIEED BT HEA

REZ2017F 2R3 BIEFE - REENK
ANERA 6840 BEBTTIL 195% £474,183.8
BEEAT(OIFHHRFEE 34988 &8
JT) °

For the year ended 3| December

BEZNA3NHLEE
2017 2016 Changes
2017 5 20165 i
HK$’ 000 HK$ 000 %
FER FET
China market HE TS 2,336,373 1,895,867 232
North American market tEmH 1,754,104 1,494,402 17.4
Europe and other overseas markets BN R B A g oM T 5 93,309 109,493 -14.8
Total st 4,183,786 3,499,762 19.5

The sales in China market increased by approximately 23.2 % as a result of the increase in the

market share of foam sales.

In terms of sales channel, same-store sales in China market recorded an increase of
approximately 6.5% for the year ended 3| December 2017. Same-store sales for each of Life
Stores and concession counters increased by approximately 8.3% and 5.7%, respectively for
the year ended 31 December 2017. During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group

opened ten new Life Stores in Hong Kong and in the PRC.

Though sales in the North American market recorded an approximately 7.4 % growth during
the year ended 31 December 2017, the growth was slightly less than our expectation as there

was a delay in a sales project with a customer in the US.

hEmG M EEEMNA232% HRAKHEE
M5 (D RRIR AT SN

RHEEREMNS PEAMSNREHEENHE
017F12A3IBIEFEHBFERN6S% R
BEWI7TFENAALFE  £EEKTE
EREANREHENAIERLISI%K57%
REZ017E 12831 B ILEE  XEBEE
AR BERRR ORI EEE -
RIEETENEEREZ2007F12A3181E
FEBEH 17458 R - BEEHMTRTEY
DEEEBEEFH—EHEEE TR -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWED T

Gross profit

With an increase of approximately 19.5% in the Group's revenue, gross profit (the “GP")
increased by approximately HK$7.7 million or 0.9% to approximately HK$829.2 million during
the year ended 3| December 2017 as compared to approximately HK$821.5 million for
FY2016. The GP margin decreased by 3.7% from approximately 23.5% to approximately 19.8%
as compared with FY2016. The major reasons for the decrease in the GP margin during the

year ended 3| December 2017 were:

(1) the cost incurred in the trial run of production in the Group's factory located in the US

resulted in a gross loss of HK$60.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2017; and

(2)  the significant increase in the purchase price of a key raw material of polyurethane
foam, namely, toluene diisocyanate (“TDI") for the year ended 31 December 2017, as

compared with the same period last year.

Costs and expenses

Selling and distribution costs for the year ended 31 December 2017 increased by
approximately HK$23.8 million or 5.3% to approximately HK$472.8 million, as compared
to approximately HK$449.0 million for FY2016. The increase was mainly due to increase in
transportation expenses that were incurred to better serve our the customers in PRC and the

US. Staff costs increased as more sales staff were recruited to strengthen sales tasks in the US.

Administrative expenses for the year ended 31 December 2017 increased by approximately
HK$10.8 million or 5.3% to approximately HK$217.0 million, as compared to approximately
HK$206.1 million for FY2016, which were incurred to support the growth of business.

Other expenses for the year ended 31 December 2017 mainly consisted of research and
development expenses amounted to approximately HK$77.4 million, as compared to
approximately HK$59.0 million for FY2016. The Group has put much more resources in

improving and developing more foam features to meet the increasing customers’ needs.

Sinomax Group Limited 2017 Annual Report
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Profit for the year

Profit for the year ended 3| December 2017 decreased by approximately HK$49.7 million or
49.4% to approximately HK$50.8 million, as compared to approximately HK$100.5 million for
FY2016.

The major reasons for the decrease were:

(1) Netloss of HK$71.5 million incurred for the US production facility; and

(2)  The significant increase in the cost of a key raw material as mentioned above.

The performance of Dormeo North America, LLC (“Dormeo”) has improved. Net loss of
Dormeo (including net loss on derecognition of an associate and share of loss of an associate)

decreased from HK$6 1.1 million in 2016 to HK$6.8 million in 2017.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2017, the Group had net current assets of approximately HK$388.4

million, as compared to approximately HK$397.2 million as at 3| December 2016.

Borrowings and pledge of assets

As at 31 December 2017, the Group had banking facilities amounted to approximately
HK$1,598.4 million of which approximately HK$827.5 million was utilized (31 December
2016: banking facilities amounted to approximately HK$1,383.0 million of which approximately

HK$562.3 million was utilized) (which included unsecured bank borrowings and bills payables).

The bills payables of the Group were secured by pledged bank deposits of approximately
HK$2.9 million (31 December 2016: approximately HK$5.1 million).

We expect that more bank borrowings will be obtained in 2018 to finance the rapid business

growth.

EEENWED T

EREF

BEWI7FNRABILEFEERFEFRDH497
BEBBITRA9A%ZHS08EEB T M2016
FEIEHEER AL 1005 HEETT
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWED T

Capital expenditure

The Group's capital expenditure for the year ended 31 December 2017 amounted to

approximately HK$ 1354 million and was incurred mainly for the purchase of the Group's plant

BARx

BEWI7TENANBIEFEREENHE R
THEIAEEET TEELERAREE

and machinery (31 December 2016: HK$285.0 million). REBERRME #2016 F 12831 H 12850
BEEL)
Financial ratios Bris LR
As at
i
3| December 31 December
2017 2016
2017%F 128318 2016%F 12A31H
Current ratio () TRENELE O 128.8% 135.5%
Quick ratio @ RE L RO 78.4% 93.0%
Gearing ratio @ BEBRLERO 56.2% 39.3%
Debt to equity ratio @ BRI RO 44.3% 284%

(1) Current ratio is equal to current assets divided by current liabilities.

(2)  Quick ratio is equal to current assets less inventories and divided by current liabilities.

(3)  Gearing ratio is derived by dividing interest-bearing debt incurred in the ordinary course of

business by total equity.

(4)  Debt to equity ratio is calculated by dividing net debt by total equity. Net debt is defined to

include all borrowings net of cash and cash equivalents.

FOREIGN CURRENCY EXPOSURE

The Group carries on business mainly in Hong Kong, the PRC and the US. The Group is
exposed to foreign exchange risk principally in Renminbi which can be largely offset by its
revenue and expenditure in the PRC. The Group does not expect any appreciation or
depreciation of the Hong Kong Dollar against Renminbi which could materially affect the
Group's results on operations, and therefore no hedging instrument has been employed. The
Group will closely monitor the trend of the Renminbi and will take appropriate measures to

deal with the foreign exchange exposure if necessary.

Sinomax Group Limited 2017 Annual Report
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

TREASURY POLICY AND MARKET RISKS

The Group has a treasury policy that aims to better control its treasury operations and lower
borrowing cost. Such treasury policy requires the Group to maintain an adequate level of cash
and cash equivalents, and sufficient available banking facilities to finance the Group's working
capital and to address short term funding needs. The Group reviews and evaluates its treasury

policy from time to time to ensure its adequacy and effectiveness.

PROSPECTS

The polyurethane foam products are becoming more and more popular in the US. With our
new US production facility, we can have provide a vertically integrated solution to customers
including product design, foam manufacturing, trimming and assembly, inventory and logistics
management as well as sales and marketing in the US. This is particularly a good time where we
can capture the increasing demand of polyurethane foam business opportunities as evidenced

by the increase in number of new customers and sales amount.

Recently there are more and more uncertainties in the US market where goods are imported
from PRC. With the advantage of having factories in the US and PRC, we have flexibility in
arranging our production schedule in the US and PRC to minimize any additional tariffs that
may arise. A lot of projects are already in the pipeline and we expect that there will be a

significant sales growth in the near future.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWED T

For the China market, the Group offers a wide range of health and household products, under
its flagship brand “SINOMAX". The Group will further enhance brand management through
various marketing activities to reinforce brand recognition and enhance the image of health,
relaxation and comfort of the “SINOMAX" brand. The Group will continue to promote
its brands and products to corporate customers so as to attract more corporate sales. To
penetrate into the furniture market, we are setting up a new subsidiary to promote and

distribute our health and household products in the furniture mall channel in PRC.

The Group is also expanding e-commerce sales channels to promote and distribute its
products. During the year ended 31 December 2017, e-commerce sales of the Group
recorded a substantial growth of HK$44.2 million or 66.7% to approximately HK$ | [0.5 million,

as compared to approximately HK$66.3 million for FY2016.

The price of TDI increased significantly in 2017. We expect the price of TDI will become
stable. with a greater supply of TDI'in the market by the end of 2018.

The Group will continue to upgrade the machinery so as to improve its production efficiency
and increase its competitiveness in the markets. The Group will continue to devote more
resources in research and development to develop more innovative products and to enhance

its product features.

The Group plans to continue to expand its business by exploring attractive acquisition and
collaboration opportunities that are compatible with its business vision. A factory in Shandong
started operation in the third quarter of 2017 to serve the customers in that region. This will

further enhance our leading position in the polyurethane foam industry in PRC.

Going forward, the Group will continue to look for other strategic acquisitions and business

opportunities.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Prospects” above, the Group does not have other

plans for material investments or capital assets.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S LISTED
SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 December 2017 neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries

purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company's listed securities.

EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2017, the employee headcount of the Group was 3,422 (3| December
2016: 3,429) and the total staff costs, including Directors’ remuneration and share option
expenses, amounted to approximately HK$444.0 million for the year ended 31 December
2017 (FY2016: approximately HK$363.4 million). The significant increase in staff costs was
primarily due to salary increment, increase in social insurance contributions, housing provident

fund and share option expenses.

The Group offers competitive remuneration packages commensurate with industry practice
and provides various fringe benefits to employees including housing and travel allowances
depending on their grade and ranking within the Group. The Group also maintains medical
insurance for the benefit of its employees. The Group conducts induction training for all of
its new employees and offers on-going training to its employees. The Group also operates an
employee incentive scheme pursuant to which rewards take the form of promotions, salary

raises, monetary bonuses, and grant of options under the Company's a share option scheme.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAEMENT
EERSREEE

The biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the Company who
held office during the year ended 3| December 2017 and up to the date of this report are as

follows:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

LAM Chi Fan, aged 59

Mr. Lam is a co-founder of the Group, the Chairman of the Group and an executive Director.
Mr. Lam is also the chairman of the Company's nomination committee and a member of the
Company's remuneration committee. Mr. Lam was appointed to the Board in June 2012. Mr.
Lam is responsible for formulation of the overall business strategies of the Group: He is also
responsible for the business Nanning and management of the Group. Mr. Lam is also a director
of certain subsidiaries of the Group. Mr. Lam has over 20 years' experience in the polyurethane
foam business. Prior to founding the Group in January 2000, he was a director of Luen Tai
Component Limited, a company engaged in the sales of foam products, from March 1991 to
July 1996. He is a member of the 13th Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference
Jiashan, Zhejiang Province Committee, the vice president of the Shau Kei Wan District of the
Scout Association of Hong Kong and an affiliated supervisor of the Huangpu Customs of PRC
and the president of the Dongguan City Tang Xia Association of Enterprises with Foreign
Investment. Mr. Lam is the uncle of Mr. Cheung Tung, the President and an executive Director;
the father of Mr. Lam Sze Chiu, a senior management member of the Group; and a cousin of

Ms. Lam Fei Man, an executive Director.

CHEUNG Tung, aged 42

Mr. Cheung is the President of the Company and an executive Director. Mr. Cheung joined the
Group in 2003 as the Chairman’s assistant, responsible for handling the information technology
infrastructure of the Group. He was appointed to the Board in June 2012. He is currently
responsible for the overall management and daily operations of the Group. He is also a director
of certain subsidiaries of the Group. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Cheung assisted in setting
up C&T Solutions Limited, a company engaged in providing information technology services,
in March 2000. Mr. Cheung holds a bachelor's degree in computer engineering from the Hong
Kong University of Science and Technology and a master's degree in business administration
jointly issued by Northwestern University and the Hong Kong University of Science and
Technology. Mr. Cheung was granted the “Young Industrialist Award of Hong Kong 2014"
by the Federation of Hong Kong Industries. Mr. Cheung is a nephew of Mr. Lam Chi Fan, the
Chairman and an executive Director; a nephew of Ms. Lam Fei Man, an executive Director; and

a cousin of Mr. Lam Sze Chiu, a senior management member of the Group.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAEMENT

CHEN Feng, aged 54

Mr. Chen is an executive Director. He was appointed to the Board in June 2012. He is
responsible for the overall management of the export sales business and product development
of the Group. He is also the key executive in mapping the sales and marketing strategies in the
US through Sinomax USA Inc. (“Sinomax USA™). He is a director of certain various subsidiaries
of the Group. Mr. Chen joined the Group on in January 2000 as an export sales manager
and became the vice president of the Group in 2007. He assisted in setting up Sinomax USA,
a company engaging in export sales in the US, and has been the president and director of
Sinomax USA since its establishment in 2005. Mr. Chen holds a Master of Science degree in
industrial engineering from Louisiana State University and a Bachelor of Engineering degree
in safety engineering from Beijing College of Economics, now known as Capital University of
Economics and Business. Mr. Chen is a cousin of the mother of Ms. Lam Fei Man, an executive

Director.

LAM Kam Cheung, aged 50

Mr. Lam is an executive Director, chief financial officer and company secretary of the Company.
Mr. Lam joined the Group in May 2004 as the financial controller and was appointed to the
Board in June 2012. He was appointed as the chief financial officer in August 2013 and is
responsible for the financial management of the Group. Mr. Lam has over 20 years' experience
in accounting and auditing. Prior to joining the Group, he was an executive director and
company secretary of Yeebo (International Holdings) Limited (stock code: 0259), a listed public
company in Hong Kong, from October 1995 to May 2004. Mr. Lam holds a bachelor’s degree
in business administration from the Chinese University of Hong Kong. He is a fellow member of
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and a member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAEMENT
EERGREEE

LAM Fei Man, aged 43

Ms. Lam is an executive Director. She is responsible for the Group's purchasing operations.
She is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the Group. Ms. Lam joined the Group in January
2000 and served as the assistant administration manager of Sinomax (Holding) Group Limited,
a predecessor company of Sinomax Enterprises Limited (“Sinomax Enterprises”), until January
2003. She was appointed to the Board in June 2012. Ms. Lam has over |8 years" experience
in purchasing and logistics. She holds a bachelor’s degree in commerce jointly issued by the
University of Canberra and the Hong Kong Baptist University. Ms. Lam is a cousin of Mr. Lam
Chi Fan, the Chairman of the Board and an executive Director; the daughter of a cousin of Mr.
Chen Feng, an executive Director; an aunt of Mr. Cheung Tung, the President and an executive

Director.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAEMENT

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

WONG Chi Keung, aged 51

Mr. Wong is an independent non-executive Director, the chairman of the audit committee
and corporate governance committee and a member of the nomination committee of the
Company. Mr. Wong was appointed to the Board in 4 March 2014. Mr. Wong is currently
an executive director and the chief financial officer of Win Hanverky Holdings Limited (stock
code: 3322), a listed public company in Hong Kong. He was previously the chief financial
officer of Besunyen Holdings Company Limited (stock code: 0926) from September 201 | to
September 2013 and China Dongxiang (Group) Co., Ltd. (stock code: 3818) from May 2007
to April 2010, all of which are listed public companies in Hong Kong. Between June 2002 and
June 2006, Mr. Wong was a senior finance manager of China Netcom Group Corporation
(Hong Kong) Limited (a company previously listed in Hong Kong (former stock code: 0906)
which subsequently merged with China Unicom (Hong Kong) Limited (stock code: 0762), a
listed public company in Hong Kong). Between July 1989 and December 1999, Mr. Wong
was employed by PricewaterhouseCoopers, an international public accounting firm, in Hong
Kong from 1989 to 1990 as an audit manager. Mr. Wong holds a bachelor's degree in business
administration from the Chinese University of Hong Kong and a master's degree in business
administration from the Australian Graduate School of Management, jointly issued by the
University of New South Wales and the University of Sydney. Mr. Wong is a fellow member of
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and a member of the Hong Kong Institute

of Certified Public Accountants.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAEMENT
EERSREEE

Professor LAM Sing Kwong, Simon, aged 59

Professor Lam is an independent non-executive Director, the chairman of the remuneration
committee and a member of the audit committee, the nomination committee and the
corporate governance committee of the Company. Professor Lam was appointed to the Board
in March 2014. Professor Lam joined the University of Hong Kong as full-time teaching staff in
September 1989 and is currently the Professor of Management at the Faculty of Business and
Economics at the University of Hong Kong. He has published a number of academic papers and
case analysis on topics such as corporate strategies, organisation development and operations
management. Professor Lam is an independent non-executive director of Overseas Chinese
Town (Asia) Holdings Limited (stock code: 3366), Kwan On Holdings Limited (stock code:
1559) and a non-executive director of Jacobson Pharma Corporation Limited (stock code:
2633), all of which are listed public companies in Hong Kong. Prior to joining the University
of Hong Kong, Professor Lam was a regional support manager of Canadian Imperial Bank of
Commerce from 1987 to 1989. Professor Lam holds a doctorate degree in commerce from

the Australian National University.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAEMENT

FAN Chun Wah Andrew, J.P., aged 39

Mr. Fan is an independent non-executive Director and a member of the audit committee,
the corporate governance committee and the remuneration committee of the Company. Mr.
Fan was appointed to the Board in March 2014. He is a managing director of CW. Fan & Co.
Limited. He is currently an independent non-executive director of Chuang's China Investments
Limited (stock code: 298), CNC Holdings Limited (stock code: 8356), Culturecom Holdings
Limited (stock code: 343), Fulum Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 1443), Nameson
Holdings Limited (stock code: 1982), Omnibridge Holdings Limited (stock code: 8462),
Sanbase Corporation Limited (stock code: 8501), and Space Group Holdings Limited (stock
code: 2448), all of which are listed public companies in Hong Kong. Mr. Fan was appointed as
the chairman of the 23rd council of Hong Kong United Youth Association with effect from |
July 2015. He is also a committee member of the 10th, | Ith and 12th Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference Zhejiang Province Committee, the 4th and 5th Chinese People's
Political Consultative Conference of Shenzhen Committee, member of HKSAR Committee
on the Promotion of Civic Education, HKSAR Justices of the Peace and the vice chairman of
Zhejiang Province United Young Association. Mr. Fan holds a bachelor’s degree in business
administration in accounting and finance from the University of Hong Kong and a bachelor's
degree in laws from the University of London. Mr. Fan is a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants and a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public

Accountants.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAEMENT
EERGREEE

ZHANG HWO Jie, aged 55 REE 558

Mr. Zhang is an independent non-executive Director, a member of the audit committee and REERARABUFNTES  EREEE
the corporate governance committee of the Company. Mr. Zhang was appointed to the Board MERGEERZEMKE - REER2014F3
in March 2014. Mr. Zhang is currently the chairman of EVA Precision Industrial Holdings Limited RAEZEMAEZE - RELREFELTR
(stock code: 838), a listed public company in Hong Kong. Mr. Zhang has more than 20 years FARENEEIEERER DA (RGN -
of experience in marketing, strategic planning and corporate management in manufacturing 838)MEE - REGEBEXENTIHEH &
industry. Mr. Zhang was granted with the “Young Industrialist Award of Hong Kong” by the BAZIMEEERESEEB20FLR - Kt
Federation of Hong Kong Industries in 2008, and was bestowed as an honorary fellow by The ERWBFRETETIXEBRER TN EES
Professional Validation Council of Hong Kong Industries in 2014. He is currently a honorary FTERE] URWI4FERETEZET
chairman of The Hong Kong Metals Manufacturers Association, a honorary president of Hong ERERARERT - RANATACBRE
Kong Mould and Product Technology Association and an ex-officio advisor of Hong Kong AMeREIR BAEAREMMRBES
Young Industrialists Council. EIFRRBATEIERBEENER -

24 Sinomax Group Limited 2017 Annual Report




DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAEMENT

WU Tak Lung, aged 52

Mr. Wu is an independent non-executive Director and a member of the audit committee and
the corporate governance committee of the Company. Mr. Wu was appointed to the Board
in March 2014. Mr. Wu had worked in Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, an international accounting
firm, for five years and had worked in several companies in Hong Kong as head of corporate
finance and/or executive director. Mr. Wu had over 10 years' experience in the corporate
finance field and He held a Type 6 license (Advising on corporate finance) until 2012. Mr.
Wu currently serves as an independent non-executive director of Beijing Media Corporation
Limited (stock code: 1000), China Machinery Engineering Corporation (stock code: 1829),
Henan Jinma Energy Company Limited (stock code: 6885), Kam Hing Intemational Holdings
Limited (stock code: 2307) and Sinotrans Sipping Limited (stock code: 368), all are listed public
companies in Hong Kong, and First Tractor Company Limited (a company listed in both Hong
Kong, stock code: 0038, and Shanghai). Mr. Wu currently is the member of the committee of
Jiangsu Provincial People’s Political Consultative Conference, honorary member of the Council
and the Court of Hong Kong Baptist University, the honorary chairman of the North Kwai
Chung Scout Association and the executive vice-president of Hong Kong — GuangDong Youth
Exchange Promotion Association. Mr. Wu holds a bachelor's degree in business administration
in accounting from the Hong Kong Baptist University and a master's degree in business
administration jointly issued by the University of Manchester and the University of Wales. Mr.
Wu is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, and a member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and he is also a fellow member of
the Taxation Institute of Hong Kong, the Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries and the

Hong Kong Securities Institute.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAEMENT
EERSREEE

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

LAM Sze Chiu, aged 35

Mr. Lam is the general manager of Sinohome Household Products (Shenzhen) Ltd (“Sinomax
Shenzhen”). He is responsible for the supervision of the daily operation of Sinomax Shenzhen.
Mr. Lam joined the Group in 2007 and has been working as the marketing director of the
Group from 2012 to 2016. Mr. Lam holds a Bachelor of Arts degree with honours from York

University in Toronto, Canada.

QIAN Hong Xiang, aged 54

Mr. Qian is a director of certain subsidiaries of the Group. He is responsible for the supervision
of the daily operation and management of Sinomax Kuka (Zhejiang) Foam Co. Limited
(“Sinomax Kuka"). Mr. Qian joined the Group in 2000 and worked as a general manager and
chief of foam research. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Qian worked as a factory manager and
researcher in foams from 1993 to 2000 at Tung Ah (China Holdings) Limited, a company
engaged in the chemical and plastic business. Mr. Qian has over 20 years' experience in
foam production and research and has participated in formulating more than five national
standards. Mr. Qian was a member of the Standardisation Administration of the People's
Republic of China until April 2018 and an expert in foaming plastics of the China Plastics
Processing Industry Association with tenure from November 2005 to September 2017. He
was presented the National Science & Technology Progress Award (third class) by the China
Light Industry Council in March 2008, the China Standards Innovation Contribution Award
jointly by the General Administration of Quality Supervision, Inspection and Quarantine of the
People's Republic of China and the Standardisation Administration of the People’s Republic of
China in December 2009. He was also awarded Outstanding Worker of the Plastic Industry
in PRC by the China Plastics Processing Industry Association in May 2009, and Good Citizen
between 2011 and 2012 in January 2013, Model Worker of Haining between 2008 and 2012
in April 2013 and Outstanding Entrepreneur of 201 | in March 2012 by the Jiaxing People’s

Government.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAEMENT

YUE Wai Fun, aged 43

Ms. Yue was appointed as a general manager of Sinomax Health & Household Products
Limited (“Sinomax Health") in June 2012. Ms. Yue is responsible for the supervision of the
daily operation and management of Sinomax Health. Ms. Yue joined the Group in 2004 and
served as marketing manager and brand & marketing manager prior to being appointed as the
general manager of Sinomax Health. Ms. Yue holds a Bachelor of Social Science degree from

the Chinese University of Hong Kong.

CHEN Xiao Hua, aged 56

Mr. Chen joined the Group in 2013 and was appointed as a general manager of Sinomax
(Zhejiang) Polyurethane Technology Limited (“Sinomax Zhejiang”) in October 2013. Mr. Chen
is responsible for supervision of the daily operation and management of Sinomax Zhejiang.
Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Chen was engaged in foam manufacturing from 2002 to 2013
and was a general manager of Sinomax Polyurethane (Shanghai) Co., Ltd., a company indirectly
controlled by Mr. Lam Chi Fan, Mr. Cheung Tung and Mr. Chen Feng, the executive Directors,
and Ms. Cheung Shui Ying, the mother of Mr. Cheung Tung,. Mr. Chen has over 20 years of
experience in foam production and research. Mr. Chen completed a business administration

course for company executives in Zhejiang University in November 2006.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT
EERESE

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The activities of its principal subsidiaries are

set out in note 40 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 3| December 2017 are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on page | 15 of this

annual report.

The Board recommends the payment of a final dividend of HKI.0 cent per ordinary shares of
nominal value of HKO.10 each in the share capital of the Company (“Share”), amounting to
approximately HK$17.5 million to the Shareholders whose names appear on the register of
members of the Company on 29 June 2018. The final dividend is subject to the approval of the
Directors' recommendation by the Shareholders at the annual general meeting of the Company

to be held on 15 June 2018 (“AGM"). The final dividend will be paid on || July 2018.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the investment properties and property, plant and equipment of
the Group during the year ended 31 December 2017 are set out in notes 15 and 16 to the

consolidated financial statements.

DONATIONS

During the year ended 3| December 2017, the Group made charitable and other donations

amounted to approximately HK$ 1.3 million.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the year ended 31

December 2017 are set out in note 30 to the consolidated financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALES OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED SECURITIES OF THE
COMPANY

During the year ended 31 December 2017, there was no purchase, sale or redemption of the

Company's listed securities by the Company or any of its subsidiaries.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

The Directors consider that the Company's reserves available for distribution to Shareholders
comprise the share premium and the accumulated profits which amounted to approximately
HK$561.2 million as at 31 December 2017 (as at 31 December 2016: approximately HK$593.4
million). Under the Companies Law (Revised) Chapter 22 of the Cayman Islands, the share
premium of the Company is available for paying distributions or dividends to Shareholders
subject to the provisions of its memorandum and articles of association and provided that
immediately following the distribution of dividend, the Company is able to pay its debts as they

fall due in the ordinary course of business.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

The Company has share option schemes, the details of which are set out in the section headed
“Share Option" in this report. Save as aforesaid, the Company has not entered into any equity-

linked agreement during the year ended 31 December 2017.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year ended 31 December 2017 and up to the date of this report

were as follows.

Executive Directors

LAM Chi Fan (Chairman of the Board)
CHEUNG Tung

CHEN Feng

LAM Kam Cheung

LAM Fei Man

Independent non-executive Directors

WONG Chi Keung

LAM Sing Kwong, Simon
FAN Chun Wah, Andrew, J.P
ZHANG HWO Jie

WU Tak Lung

In accordance with the articles of association of the Company, four Directors, namely, Mr.
Chen Feng, Mr. Lam Kam Cheung, Ms. Lam Fei Man and Mr. Wong Chi Keung will retire at the
forthcoming AGM, and being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the AGM.
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The Company has received from each independent non-executive Director an annual
confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stocks Exchange of Hong Kong Limited “(Stock Exchange”) (the"Listing

Rules”) and the Company considers such Directors to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICES CONTRACTS

None of the Directors has a service contract with the Company or any member of the
Group which is not terminable within one year without payment of compensation (other than

statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Continuing Connected Transactions” of this report,
no other transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance in relation to the Group's
business to which the Company or its subsidiaries or holding company was a party and in
which any Director or the Director’s connected entity had a material interest, whether directly

or indirectly, subsisted at the end or at any time during the year ended 31 December 2017.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts conceming the management and administration of the whole or any substantial
part of the business of the Company were entered into or existed during the year ended 31

December 2017.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKINGS

The Company has received an annual confirmation from each of the controlling Shareholders,
namely, Sinomax Enterprises, Mr. Lam Chi Fan, Mr. Cheung Tung, Mr. Chen Feng and
Ms. Cheung Shui Ying, in respect of their compliance with the terms of the deed of non-
competition as set out in the Prospectus of the Company dated 30 June 2014 (the

“Prospectus”) for the financial year ended 31 December 2017.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY AND DIRECTORS LIABILITY INSURANCE

The articles of association of the Company provided that every Director shall be entitled to
be indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all losses or liabilities incurred or
sustained by him/her as a Director in defending any proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in

which judgment is given in his/her favour, or in which he/she is quitted.

The Company has arranged approved Directors' liability insurance policy to protect the

Directors against potential costs and liability arising from claims brought against the Directors.

REMUNERATION POLICY

The Company's policy and structure for remuneration of all Directors and senior management
of the Group is formulated and reviewed by the remuneration committee of the Company,
having regards to the comparable market practice, market conditions, individual performance
and the Group's operating results. Details of the remunerations of the Directors are set out in

note 10 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES

As at 31 December 2017, the interests or short positions of the Directors and the chief
executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or
any of its associated corporations (within the meaning in Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (“SFO™)) which (a) were required to
be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part
XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they were taken or deemed to
have under such provisions of the SFO); (b) were required, pursuant to section 352 of the
SFO, to be entered in the register maintained by the Company referred to therein; or (c)
were required pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuer (the “Model Code") as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules, to be notified to the

Company and the Stock Exchange, were as follows:
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Long positions in the Shares and underlying Shares B REERGNETR
Interests in the Company RERQRHER
Approximate
Number percentage of
Name of Director Nature of interest of shares(" shareholding®
EEpE BEME ROHE O BAREE D@
LAM Chi Fan Founder of a discretionary trust 1,263,338,000 (L) © 72.19%
MR BB ERERRIZA
Beneficial owner 8,150,000 (L) @ 0.47%
ESBEAA
CHEUNG Tung Beneficial owner 7,876,200 (L) @ 0.45%
RAR BEHEAA
CHEN Feng Beneficial owner 4,050,000 (L) @ 0.23%
BRAE BRBEAA
LAM Fei Man Beneficial owner 3,150,000 (L) @ 0.18%
MEZ ESBEAA
LAM Kam Cheung Beneficial owner 3,000,000 (L) @ 0.17%
MERHE BEHEAA
WONG Chi Keung Beneficial owner 300,000 (L) @ 0.02%
TER BRBEAA
LAM Sing Kwong, Simon Beneficial owner 300,000 (L) @ 0.02%
M ESBEAA
FAN Chun Wah, Andrew, J.P. Beneficial owner 300,000 (L) @ 0.02%
SEREATHL BEHEAA
ZHANG HWO Jie Beneficial owner 300,000 (L) @ 0.02%
R BRBEAA
WU Tak Lung Beneficial owner 300,000 (L) @ 0.02%
RIH ESBEAA
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The letter “L" denotes long position.

The calculation is based on the total number of 1,750,002,000 shares in issue as at 31
December 2017.

These shares belong to Sinomax Enterprises. Sinomax Enterprises is legally and beneficially
owned as to 50% by each of Chi Fan Holding Limited and The Frankie Trust, respectively.
The Frankie Trust is a discretionary family trust established by LAM Chi Fan as settlor and
Vistra Trustees (BVI) Limited (“Vistra") acting as the trustee. The beneficiaries of The Frankie
Trust are LAM Chi Fan and his family members.

Each of LAM Chi Fan, CHEUNG Tung, CHEN Feng, LAM Fei Man and LAM Kam Cheung,
each being the executive Director, has been granted share options to subscribe for 6,650,000,
6,376,200, 3,050,000, 2,150,000 and 2,000,000 shares, respectively, under the Pre-IPO Share
Option Scheme, all of which are still outstanding. Each of LAM Chi Fan, CHEUNG Tung,
CHEN Feng, LAM Fei Man and LAM Kam Cheung, each being the executive Director, has
been granted share options to subscribe for 1,500,000, 1,500,000, 1,000,000, 1,000,000 and
1,000,000 shares, respectively, under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme, all of which are still
outstanding, Each of WONG Chi Keung, LAM Sing Kwong Simon, FAN Chun Wah Andrew,
ZHANG HWO Jie and WU Tak Lung, each being the independent non-executive Director,
has been granted share options to subscribe for 300,000 shares respectively, under the Post-
IPO Share Option Scheme.
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Long positions in associated corporation — Sinomax Enterprises

REEEN TR -ERELHE

Approximate

Number percentage of
Name of Director Nature of interest of shares shareholding
EEpE BEME BHEE BROREE DL
LAM Chi Fan Beneficiary of The Frankie Trust 15 50%
MER Frankie (EFERIX A
CHEUNG Tung Beneficiary of The Cheung's Family Trust 5 16.67%
RR RERKEFENZEA
CHEN Feng Beneficiary of The Feng Chen's Family Trust 5 16.67%
BRHE BRI IR (E LN 8 A
DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES EZHEROHNER

Save as otherwise disclosed in this annual report, at no time during the year ended 3|
December 2017, had any rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares
or debentures of the Company been granted to any Director or their respective spouse
or children under 18 years old, or had any such rights been exercised by them; or was the
Company, its holding company or its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the
Directors, or their respective spouse or children under |8 vears old, to acquire such rights in

any other body corporate.
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INTERESTS OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS TERRZES

As at 31 December 2017, the following persons (other than a Director or chief executive R20I17E12A318 - BAAL(TBEALE
of the Company) who had interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares as BRIHTES)NROIBBRD P HEE R
recorded in the register maintained by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO were as RRBEESFRBEKROIEIBHEMETFENE

follows: affegasxsmT -
Long positions in Shares ROWER
Approximate
Number percentage of
Name of Director Nature of interest of shares(" shareholding®
HERERE BENE ROHE O BOREE O
Sinomax Enterprises Beneficial owner 1,263,338,000 (L) 72.19%
PRBLRO ESBEAA
Chi Fan Holding Limited Interest of a controlled corporation 1,263,338,000 (L) 72.19%
Rt B ES
Vistra ©) Trustee of various trusts 263,338,000 (L) 72.19%
ZREFRNETEA
LI Ching Hau Interest of spouse 1,271,488,000 (L)© 72.66%
FPRE [T 5
BREBEARAT 2007 FEHE 35
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Notes:

The letter “L" denotes long position.

The calculation is based on the total number of 1,750,002,000 Shares in issue as at 31
December 2017.

Sinomax Enterprises is legally owned as to 50%, 16.67%, 16.67% and 16.67% by Chi Fan
Holding Limited, Wing Yiu Investments Limited, The James" Family Holding Limited and
Venture Win Holdings Limited, respectively, and beneficially owned in the same proportion
by The Frankie Trust, The Cheung's Family Trust, The James' Family Trust and The Feng
Chen'’s Family Trust, respectively.

These Shares belong to Sinomax Enterprises, which is legally owned as to 50% by Chi Fan
Holding Limited.

Vistra acts as the trustee of The Frankie Trust, The James' Family Trust, The Cheung's Family
Trust and The Feng Chen’s Family Trust. The beneficiaries of The Frankie Trust are Mr. LAM
Chi Fan and his family members. The beneficiaries of The Cheung's Family Trust are Mr.
CHEUNG Tung and his family members. The beneficiaries of The James' Family Trust are Ms.
CHEUNG Shui Ying and her family members. The beneficiaries of The Feng Chen's Family
Trust are Mr. CHEN Feng and his family members.

These interests belong to Mr. LAM Chi Fan, the spouse of Ms. LI Ching Hau. Under the SFO,
Ms. LI Ching Hau is deemed to be interested in the same number of Shares which Mr. LAM
Chi Fan is interested.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 3| December 2017, the Group had continuing connected transactions
with certain connected persons, details of which have been disclosed in the Prospectus and
the announcements of the Company dated | November 2017, 3 November 2017 and 19
December 2017. Certain continuing connected transactions are exempt from one or more of
the reporting, announcement, shareholders’ approval and annual review requirements for the

purpose of Chapter |4A of the Listing Rules.

The following are the continuing connected transactions of the Group that are subject to
the reporting and annual review requirements but otherwise exempt from the shareholders'

approval requirement pursuant to Chapter |4A of the Listing Rules:

(i)  Sale of foams by Sinomax International Trading Limited (“Sinomax Trading”) and

Studio Moderna S.A (“Studio Moderna”)

Studio Moderna is the holding company of SMSA North America Holdings, LLC which
holds 48.69% equity interest in Dormeo, an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of
the Company. As a substantial shareholder of a subsidiary of the Company, Studio
Moderna is a connected person of the Company. Each subsidiary of Studio Moderna is

an associate of Studio Moderna and hence a connected person of the Company.

On 30 December 2016, Sinomax Trading entered into a renewed procurement
agreement (the “2017 Renewal Procurement Agreement’) with Studio Moderna to
govern the sale and purchase of polyurethane foams between Sinomax Trading and
Studio Moderna after the expiry of the procurement agreement entered into with
Studio Moderna in 2016 (the “Procurement Agreement”). Parties to the Procurement
Agreement will, from time to time, agree to a price list setting out the price,
specifications and delivery schedule in respect of each type of foam products, which the

purchase orders must adhere to.
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On 19 December 2017, Sinomax Trading and Studio Moderna entered into a renewed
procurement agreement (the “2018 Renewal Procurement Agreement”) in relation
to the continuing supply of foam products by the Group to Studio Moderna and its

subsidiaries for a term commencing from | January 2018 to 31 December 2018.

Details of the terms of the 2017 Renewal Procurement Agreement and the 2018
Renewal Procurement Agreement and the transactions contemplated thereunder
were set out in the announcement of the Company dated 30 December 2016 and 19

December 2017 respectively.

The annual caps determined by the Directors in respect of the annual maximum
aggregate value for such continuing connected transactions under the 2017 Renewal
Procurement Agreement and the 2018 Renewal Procurement Agreement for the
year ended 3| December 2017 and ended 3| December 2018 were USD30 million
respectively. The total amount of sales to Studio Moderna pursuant to the 2017
Renewal Procurement Agreement for the year ended 31 December 2017 was

approximately USD7.3 million (equivalent to approximately HK$56.6 million).

Sale of foams by Sinomax (Zhejiang) Polyurethane Household Products Limited
(“Sinomax Zhejiang”) to Hangzhou Gu Jia Bedding Co., Limited (“Gu Jia
Bedding”) (MMBEREBEBRAF)

Gu Jia Bedding is a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of Gu Jia Household, Co., Limited
(BERRXERNHER L
in Sinomax Kuka ((Zhejiang) Foam Co., Limited (4 )T 2 7

al) ("Gu Jia Household"), which holds 40% equity interest
- BERERARD
A]) (“Sinomax Kuka") and hence a substantial shareholder of an indirect non-wholly
subsidiary of the Company. As such, Gu Jia Household is a connected person of
the Company and Gu Jia Bedding is an associate of Gu Jia Household and hence a

connected person of the Company.
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On 29 April 2016, Sinomax Zhejiang, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, as supplier entered into a procurement agreement (the “2016 Zhejiang
Procurement Agreement”) with Gu Jia Bedding as purchaser to govern the sale
and purchase of polyurethane foams by issuing purchase orders from time to time
to Sinomax Zhejiang, pursuant to which the Group will sell and Gu Jia Bedding will
purchase polyurethane foams for a term commencing from the announcement date to

31 December 2016.

On 30 December 2016, Sinomax Zhejiang entered into a renewed procurement
agreement (the “2017 Renewal Zhejiang Procurement Agreement’) with Gu Jia
Bedding to govern the sale and purchase of polyurethane foams between Sinomax
Zhejiang and Gu Jia Bedding after the expiry of the 2016 Zhejiang Procurement
Agreement entered into on 29 April 2016. The price, type, amount and specification of
polyurethane foams to be purchased depend on the purchase orders issued by Gu Jia
Bedding to Sinomax Zhejiang from time to time, provided that the price of polyurethane

foams shall be with reference to market price.

Details of the terms of the 2017 Renewal Zhejiang Procurement Agreement and
the transactions contemplated thereunder were set out in the announcement of the

Company dated 30 December 201 6.

The annual cap determined by the Directors in respect of the annual maximum
aggregate value for such continuing connected transactions under the 2017 Renewal
Zhejiang Procurement Agreement for the year ended 31 December 2017 were
RMBI12.0 million. The total amount of sales to Gu Jia Bedding pursuant to the 2017
Procurement Agreement for the year ended 3| December 2017 was RMBI10.9 million

(equivalent to approximately HK$12.6 million).
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(ii)

Sale of foams by Haining Sinomax Trading Co., Limited (“Haining Sinomax”)
and Sinomax Kuka to Gu Jia Household, Zhejiang Gu Jia Meilin Household Co.,
Limited (WIBEREMRBBR D F) (“Gu Jia Meilin”), Gu Jia Bedding and
Hangzhou Gu Jia Household Co.,Limited (FIMERE#EXEBRAH) (‘Gu

Jia Intelligence”)

Gu Jia Household holds 40% equity interest in Sinomax Kuka, which is an indirect non-
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. As a substantial shareholder of a subsidiary of
the Company, Gu Jia Household is a connected person of the Company. Gu Jia Meilin,
being the direct wholly-owned subsidiary of Gu Jia Household, is an associate of Gu Jia

Household and hence a connected person of the Company.

On 30 December 2016, Haining Sinomax and Sinomax Kuka entered into a
procurement agreement (the "Original Haining Procurement Agreement”) with Gu
Jia Household, Gu Jia Melin, Gu Jia Bedding and Gu Jia Intelligence, pursuant to which
the Group will sell and Gu Jia Household, Gu Jia Melin, Gu Jia Bedding and Gu Jia
Intelligence will purchase polyurethane foams for a term commencing from | January
2017 to 31 December 2017, after the expiry of the 2016 procurement agreement. The
price, type, amount and specification of polyurethane foams to be purchased depend on
the purchase orders issued by Gu Jia Household, Gu Jia Melin, Gu Jia Bedding and Gu Jia
Intelligence to Haining Sinomax and Sinomax Kuka from time to time, provided that the

price of polyurethane foams shall be with reference to market price.

On | November 2017, the Original Haining Procurement Agreement was superseded
by a revised procurement agreement (“the Revised Haining Procurement

Agreement”).

Details of the terms of the Original Haining Procurement Agreement and the Revised
Haining Procurement Agreement and the transactions contemplated thereunder
were set out in the announcement of the Company dated 30 December 2016 and |

November 2017.
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The annual caps determined by the Directors in respect of the annual maximum
aggregate value for such continuing connected transactions under the Original Haining
Procurement Agreement and the Revised Haining Procurement Agreement ended 3|
December 2017 were RMBI170.0 million and RMB250.0 million respectively. The total
amount of sales to Gu Jia Household and Gu Jia Melin pursuant to the Original Haining
Procurement Agreement for the year ended 31 December 2017 was approximately

RMB219.9 million (equivalent to approximately HK$254.2 million).

Sale of foams by the Company to Gu Jia Household

Sinomax Kuka is an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, which is
owned as to 40% by Gu Jia Household. As a substantial shareholder of a subsidiary
of the Company, Gu Jia Household is a connected person of the Company. As such,
each subsidiary of Gu Jia Household is an associate of Gu Jia Household and hence a

connected person of the Company.

On 19 December 2017, in view of the prospective expiry of the Original Haining
Procurement Agreement (as superseded by the Revised Haining Procurement
Agreement) and the 2017 Renewal Zhejiang Procurement Agreement on 3|
December 2017, on 19 December 2017, the Company as supplier entered into a new
procurement agreement (“the 2018-2020 Gu Jia Procurement Agreement”) with Gu
Jia Household as purchaser for the sale and purchase of polyurethane foams for the
three financial years commencing from | January 2018 and ending on 31 December

2020.

Details of the terms of the 2018-2020 Gu Jia Procurement Agreement and the
transactions contemplated thereunder were set out in the announcement of the

Company dated |9 December 2017.
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The annual caps determined by the Directors in respect of the annual maximum
aggregate value for such continuing connected transactions under the 2018-2020 Gu Jia

Procurement Agreement are capped as follows:

BEMIBER 200 FERRERET
ERRBERERINTFERSREET
HEEFROTAR :

For the year ending 31 December 2018 For the year ending 31 December 2019 For the year ending 31 December 2020
BE2018F 12831 AILFE BE2019F 12831 AILFE BE20205 12831 ALFEE
RMB305.8 million RMB376.2 million RMB437.8 million

ARK3058 B8 ARE3T6 2 BET ARE478BET

(v)  Lease agreements between Dongguan Sinohome and Dongguan Donglian
Furniture Co., Ltd. (RZERBREBPR 2 A) (“Dongguan Donglian”)

Dongguan Donglian is indirectly wholly-owned by Sinomax Enterprises, the controlling
Shareholder. Dongguan Donglian is therefore an associate of Sinomax Enterprises and a

connected person of the Company.

On 2 December 2013, Dongguan Sinohome, as tenant, entered into a lease agreement
(the “Lease Agreement of Dongguan Sinohome") with Dongguan Donglian, as landlord,
for the lease of No. | Dajieling Road, Shahu Village, Tang Xia Town, Dongguan,
Guangdong Province, PRC (“Dongguan Premises”) for a term of slightly more than two

years at a monthly rental of approximately RMB695,000.

On 18 December 2015, Dongguan Sinohome entered into a renewal lease agreement
(the "Renewal Dongguan Lease Agreement”) with Dongguan Donglian for the lease
of Dongguan Premises for a term of three years at a monthly rental of approximately

RMBI.3 million after the expiry of the Lease Agreement of Dongguan Sinohome.

Details of the terms of the Lease Agreement of Dongguan Sinohome and the Renewal
Dongguan Lease Agreement and the transactions contemplated thereunder were set
out in the Prospectus and the announcement of the Company dated 18 December

2015, respectively.
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The annual caps determined by the Directors in respect of the annual maximum
aggregate value for such continuing connected transactions under the Lease Agreement
of Dongguan Sinohome and the Renewal Dongguan Lease Agreement for the year
ended 3| December 2016 and each of the two years ended 3| December 2018
were RMBI5.7 million, respectively. The total amount of rent paid pursuant to the
Lease Agreement of Dongguan Sinohome for the year ended 31 December 2017 was

approximately RMB15.7 million (equivalent to approximately HK$18.1 million).

Pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the independent non-executive Directors have
reviewed the above continuing connected transactions for the year ended 3| December 2017

and confirmed that the transactions had been entered into:
(@)  inthe ordinary and usual course of the business of the Group;
(b)  onnormal commercial terms; and

() inaccordance with the relevant agreements governing them and on terms that are fair

and reasonable and in the interests of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole.

The Company's auditor was engaged to report on the Group's continuing connected
transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised)
"Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information™ and
with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor's Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions
Under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. The auditor has issued the unqualified letter containing the findings and
conclusions in respect of the above continuing connected transactions in accordance with Rule

[4A.56 of the Listing Rules.
A copy of the auditor’s letter had been provided by the Company to the Stock Exchange.

In the opinion of the Board, the Company has complied with the requirements under Chapter
[4A of the Listing Rules in respect of all the connected and continuing connected transactions
entered into by the Group during the year ended 31 December 2017 and all the above

continuing connected transactions was entered into in the manners stated above.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group and an analysis of the Group financial performance
for the year ended 3| December 2017 using financial key performance indicators can be found
in the “Financial Highlights" and “Management Discussion and Analysis” sections on page 6 and

pages | | to 17 of this annual report, respectively.

Environmental Policy and Performance

In conducting the business, the Group's objective is to minimize the adverse effects of
its operations on the environment. In addition, in order to comply with the applicable
environmental protection laws, the Group has established an environmental management
system in its operations in accordance with ISO 14001:2004 international standards and
obtained ISO 14001 certification. The environmental management system will be reviewed
from time to time in order to reduce risks related to environmental issues. The Group has
complied with a number of PRC environmental protection laws in connection with water
pollutants, air pollutants, solid waste pollutants, as well as noise pollution generated from
its manufacturing operations. During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group was in
compliance with the applicable PRC laws and regulations on environmental laws and was
not subject to any fines or legal action resulting from incidents of non-compliance with any
applicable PRC environmental regulations, nor was there any threatened or pending action by

any PRC environmental regulatory authority.

Other green initiatives and measures have been adopted by the Group to control the use of
energy and resources in the production, business operation and management activities so as to
achieve economic benefit. Such initiatives include reducing manufacturing wastes by using scrap
foams to produce pillows and mattresses, reducing electricity consumption by using the LED
lightings and by using the diesel hot water system operated by solar energy, recycling of used

papers, creating a paperless work environment and promoting water saving practices.

Compliance with Relevant Laws and Regulations

During the year ended 3| December 2017, as far as the Company is aware, there was no
material breach of or non-compliance with applicable laws and regulations by the Group that

has a significant impact on the business and operations of the Group.
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Relationship with Employees, Suppliers, Customers, and other Stakeholders

Details of the Group's relationship with employees, suppliers, customers and other stakeholder

are set out in Environmental, Social and Governance Report on page 78 of this annual report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

(1

Risk of customer concentration

Sales to the Group's top five customers accounted for approximately 36.3% (2016:
37.1%) of the Group's total revenue, with one customer in the Group's export sales
segment accounted for approximately 15.2% (2016: 20.3%) of the Group's total

revenue.

The Group does not enter into any long-term agreements with these top five
customers. Their purchases are on an order-by-order basis. The Group cannot assure
that it will be able to maintain stable relationships with its key customers. A substantial
decrease of purchases could adversely affect product sales, financial condition and results

of operations of the Group.

The Group will continue to diversify the customer's portfolio by actively searching for
new customers and seeking for strategic acquisition in order to capture more customers

in different markets.

Risk of changing in the economic conditions

To manage the risk of economic fluctuation in the world, the Group is trying to diversify
its investment geographically. In particular, the US factory started operation that is
expected to generate profit in the future. The management of the Group expects the

total revenue from the US will increase in the coming years.
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Risk of deterioration in the value of the Group brands

The Group is dependent on the goodwill in its brands for the continued success and
growth of its business. In particular, the Group relies on sales of its “Sinomax" branded
products in Hong Kong and in PRC, and products under other brands owned by or
licensed to it in other territories. Adverse publicity or regulatory or legal action against
the Group could damage the reputation, the brand images and reduce long-term

demand for the Group's products.

The Group continues its strategy to promote its brand names through different
marketing schemes. The Group also uses multi brands strategy to promote more
brands like “Zeopedic”, “PureLUX", “Dream Serenity”, “ComforZen", “Customizer’,
“Spa Supreme” and “Tung Ah” so as to reduce the risk and deterioration in a particular

brand.

Risk of volatility in the pricing of raw materials

The Group is exposed to commodity price risks resulting from fluctuation of prices of
chemicals including polypropylene glycol and toluene diisocyanate, the principal raw
materials for the production of polyurethane foams. The Group has not entered into
any long-term agreement with any of its raw materials suppliers, nor has it entered into
any hedging arrangements or transactions to reduce the exposure to fluctuations in raw

materials costs.

The Group implements a cost-plus pricing policy in the segments of export sales and
polyurethane foam sales. Price quotations for orders are negotiated in an order-by-
order basis. In determining the product prices, the Group usually takes into account of
various factors such as production costs (including costs of raw materials), production
cycle, transportation costs, product types and specification, market price and global

economic conditions.
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Risk of legal, regulatory and compliance

The Group's business is subject to Hong Kong, China and US laws and regulations.
Any failure to comply with laws and regulations could result in legal proceedings and
expose us the civil and/or criminal liabilities. The long term development of our business
is largely depend on a steady legal environment. Unanticipated changes in policies and
regulatory practices may adversely affect our business. The Group will continue to
manger and ensure the highest compliance standard with first-rate independent legal

services.

PROSPECTS

A description of the likely future development in the Group's business is provided in the

“Management Discussion and Analysis” section on pages |15 to 16 of this annual report.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

(i)

The Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme

On 13 December 2013, the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme which complies with the
requirements of Chapter |7 of the Listing Rules was adopted by the Shareholders.

The Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme is a share incentive scheme and is established to
recognise and acknowledge the contributions that the eligible participants under the

scheme have or may have made to the Company.

The eligible participants include any full-time or part-time employees, executives or
officers (including executive, non-executive and independent non-executive directors) of
the Company or any of its subsidiaries and any suppliers, customers, consultants, agents
and advisers who, in the opinion of the Directors, will contribute or have contributed to

the Company and/or any of its subsidiaries.
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Upon acceptance of the share option, the grantee shall pay HK$| to the Company by

way of consideration for the grant.

On 13 December 2013, the Company has authorised to grant to 140 eligible
participants to subscribe for an aggregate of 34,918,000 Shares under the Pre-IPO Share
Option Scheme. In February 2014, the Company granted share options to 137 eligible
participants to subscribe for an aggregate of 34,903,000 Shares.

The subscription price of a share in respect of any particular share option offered under
the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme shall be a price representing 30% discount to the
Offer Price (as defined in the Prospectus).

The share options granted to each grantee under the Pre- IPO Share Option Scheme
shall be vested equally in five tranches commencing on the Listing Date and on each
of the first, second, third and fourth anniversary of the Listing Date. The grantees to
whom a share option has been granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme will
be entitled to exercise the share option any time after the share option has been vested
but in any event on or before the date falling on the fifth anniversary of the Listing
Date. The share options granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme are not
transferable and share options not exercised within the exercise period will lapse and

cease to be of further effect.

The Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme expired on 10 July 2014 and ceased to have
effect after 10 July 2014. Share options granted prior to the expiration of the Pre-IPO
Share Option Scheme but not yet exercised at that time shall continue to be valid and

exercisable in accordance with the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme.
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The following tables disclose details of movements of share options granted under the TEBEEREE AR ERBERET
Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme: BIR MR B S
Outstanding Outstanding
Exercise  asat|jan  Granted Lapsed  Exercised asat 3] Dec
price 2017  duringthe  duringthe  during the 2017
per Share 120175 Period Period Period  H2017F
Grantee Date of grant Vesting period Exercisable period gk 1RIA RER RER WER 128318
ERA R4 AH BEY T8 THE HATE Rt b3 8 HATE
LAM Chi Fan (Chairman) 10Feb 2014 10 Feb 2014-10 Jul 2014 10Jul 2014-10ul 2019 074 1330000 - - - 1,330,000
EA(EER) WI4EIR108 W4F2LA 108 - W4FTAI08-
W014%7R108 019%7A108
10Feb 2014 10 Feb 2014-10 Jul 2015 10Jul 2015-10Jul 2019 074 1330000 - - - 1,330,000
014828108 W01452A108- W0I557A108-
0I5%7A108 019%7A108
10Feb 2014 10 Feb 2014-10Jul 2016 10Jul 2016-10Jul 2019 074 1330000 - - - 1,330,000
014828108 W01452A108- WI657A108-
W0I6%57A108 019%7A108
10Feb 2014 10 Feb 2014-10 Jul 2017 10 Jul 2017-10ul 2019 074 1330000 - - - 1,330,000
014828108 WI4E2R 108~ W0I757R108-
W0I17%57A108 019%7A108
10 Feb 2014 10 Feb 2014-10 ul 2018 10Jul 2018-10ul 2019 074 1330000 - - - 1,330,000
014828108 WI4E2R 108~ W018%57A108-
018%7A10A 019%7A108
CHEUNG Tung (President) 10Feb 2014 10 Feb 2014-10 Jul 2014 10Jul 2014-10}ul 2019 074 1275240 - - - 127540
RiR(#25) WI4E2R108 WI4E2A108- WHETRI0B-
W4ETRI0R WI9%7R10R
10Feb 2014 10 Feb 2014-10 Jul 2015 10Jul 2015-10}ul 2019 074 1275240 - - - 127540
014528108 W014521R108- WI557A108-
WISETRI0R WI9%ETRI0R
10Feb 2014 10 Feb 2014-10Jul 2016 10 Jul 2016-10Jul 2019 074 1275240 - - - 12540
014528108 W014%52R108- WI657A108-
WETRI0R WI9%ETRI0R
10Feb 2014 10 Feb 2014-10 ul 2017 10 Jul 2017-10Jul 2019 074 1275240 - - - 12540
014528108 W0I4%52R108- WI7E7A10B-
WITETRI0R WI9%ETRI0R
10Feb 2014 10 Feb 2014-10Jul 2018 10Jul 2018-10Jul 2019 074 1275240 - - - 12540
014528108 W0I4%52R108- 0I8%F7A10H-
WIBETRI0R WI9ETRI0R
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Outstanding Outstanding
Exercise  asatljan  Granted Lapsed  Exercised asat 3l Dec
price 2017 duringthe  duringthe  during the 2017
perShare 20175 Period Period Period  R2017%
Grantee Date of grant Vesting period Exercisable period R AR REA RER RMER 12A3IB
ERA R4 A8 SR 158 fEE  HAOE MATTE
CHEN Feng 10 Feb 2014 10 Feb 2014-10 ul 2014 10Jul 2014-10Jul 2019 074 610000 610000
R W4EIR108 W4F2A108- W4FTAI0B-
014%7R108 019%7A108
10 Feb 2014 10 Feb 2014-10 Jul 2015 10 Jul 2015-10 Jul 2019 074 610000 610000
W4EIR108 W4F2A108- WISFTAI0B-
015%7A108 019%7A108
10 Feb 2014 10 Feb 2014-10Jul 2016 10Jul 2016-10Jul 2019 074 610000 610000
W4EIR108 W4F2A108- W6FTAI0E-
W016%57A108 019%7A108
10 Feb 2014 10 Feb 2014-10 Jul 2017 10 Jul 2017-10 Jul 2019 074 610000 610000
W4EIR108 W4F2A108- WITETAI0B-
W0I17%57R108 019%7A108
10 Feb 2014 10 Feb 2014-10 ul 2018 10Jul 2018-10Jul 2019 074 610000 610000
W4EIR108 W4F2A108- WIBFTAI0R-
018%7A108 019%7A108
LAM Kam Cheung 10Feb 2014 10 Feb2014-10 Jul 2014 10Jul 2014-10 Jul 2019 074 400000 400,000
s 014528108 WI4ELR10B- WHETRI0B-
W014%7R108 019%7A108
10Feb 2014 10 Feb2014-10 Jul 2015 10Jul 2015-10 Jul 2019 074 400000 400,000
014528108 01428108~ WISETAI0B-
W0I5%7A108 019%7A108
10Feb 2014 10 Feb2014-10Jul 2016 10Jul 2016-10 Jul 2019 074 400000 400,000
014528108 01428108~ WIETAI0B -
W0I6E7A108 019%7A108
10Feb 2014 10 Feb 2014-10 Jul 2017 10Jul 2017-10 Jul 2019 074 400000 400,000
014528108 01428108~ WI7ETAI0B-
0I17%7R108 019%7A108
10Feb 2014 10Feb2014-10Jul 2018 10Jul 2018-10 Jul 2019 074 400000 400,000
014528108 01428108~ 0I8F7AI08-
0I18%7A10A 019%7A108
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Outstanding Outstanding
Exercise  asatljan  Granted Lapsed  Exercised asat3l Dec
price 2017  duringthe  duringthe  during the 2017
perShare 20175 Period Period Period  R20I7E
Grantee Date of grant Vesting period Exercisable period Sk I1BIB RER izl RER  1A3IA
REA REAH SR it ke HAGE i b3 f  HAGE
LAM Fei Man 10Feb 2014 10 Feb 2014-10 Jul 2014 10 Jul 2014-10 Jul 2019 074 430000 = = - 430000
HEE 01427108 WI4E28 108~ WH4ETRI0A-
WI4E7A 108 0I9E7A108
10Feb 2014 10 Feb 2014-10 ul 2015 10Jul 2015-10 Jul 2019 074 430000 = = - 430000
014%28108 WI4E1R108- WISETAI10H-
WI5ETA 108 0I9E7A 108
10Feb 2014 10 Feb 2014-10 ul 2016 10 Jul 2016-10 Jul 2019 074 430000 = = - 430000
014%28108 WI4E1R108- WI6ETAI0H-
WI6ETA 108 0I9E7A 108
10Feb 2014 10 Feb 2014-10 ul 2017 10 Jul 2017-10Jul 2019 074 430000 = = - 430000
014%28108 WI4E1R108- WI7ETA108-
WI7E7A 108 0I9E7A 108
10Feb 2014 10 Feb 2014-10 ul 2018 10ul 2018-10 Jul 2019 074 430000 = = - 430000
014%28108 WI4F1R108- WIBETAI0H-
0I8E7A 108 0I9E7A 108
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Outstanding Outstanding
Exercise  asatljan  Granted Lapsed  Exercised asat 3l Dec
price 2017 duringthe  duringthe  during the 2017
perShare 20175 Period Period Period  R2017%
Grantee Date of grant Vesting period Exercisable period R AR REA RER RMER 12A3IB
5 N RHAH BEH 118 TEE HATE Rit %X it H&Of
Other employees (in aggregate) 10 Feb 2014 10 Feb 2014-10 Jul 2014 10 Jul 2014-10 Jul 2019 074 2655360 - (22,500) - 2645860
A8 (e %) 014528108 014528108~ 04578108~
01457R108 019%7A108
10 Feb 2014 10 Feb 2014-10 Jul 2015 10 Jul 2015-10 Jul 2019 074 2657360 - (22,500) - 2647860
W4ELR10R W4ELAI0R- WISETAI0B-
01557A108 019%7A108
10 Feb 2014 10 Feb 2014-10 Jul 2016 10 Jul 2016-10Jul 2019 074 2657360 - (22,500) - 2647860
W4ELR10R W4FLAI0R- WIEFETAI0B-
0I657A108 019%7A108
10 Feb 2014 10 Feb 2014-10 Jul 2017 10 Jul 2017-10 Jul 2019 074 2657360 - 22,500) - 2647860
WI4ELR10R W4FLAI0R- WITETRI0B-
01757R108 019%7A108
10 Feb 2014 10 Feb 2014-10 Jul 2018 10 Jul 2018-10 Jul 2019 074 2657360 - (22,500) - 2647860
W4ELR10R W4FLAI0R- WIBETAI0B-
018%57A108 019%7A108
Total 33,576,000 - (112500) - 33463500
ot
Number of share options
exercisable at 3| December 2017 26770400
R0I7F 124318
TiTERRERE
Notes: Bt
() 10 eligible participants (FY2016: 5), who have been granted share options have ceased to (a) 0B ERBREN S ERSEE (2016 FHK

become eligible participants upon termination of employment during the year ended 31

December 2017 and the said share options have automatically lapsed.

(b)  Other details of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme are set out in note 3| to the

consolidated financial statements.
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The Post-IPO Share Option Scheme

On 4 March 2014, a share option scheme was conditionally adopted by the
Shareholders (the “Post-IPO Share Option Scheme”).

The purpose of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme is to provide incentive or reward to
eligible participants with an opportunity to acquire the equity interests in the Company,
for their contributions to, and continuing efforts to promote the interest of the Group
or for such other purposes as the board of directors of the Company may approve
from time to time, linking their interests with the interests of the Group and thereby

attracting and encouraging those parties to work better for the interests of the Group.

The eligible participants include any full-time or part-time employees, executives or
officers (including executive, non-executive and independent non-executive directors) of
the Company or any of its subsidiaries and any suppliers, customers, consultants, agents
and advisers who, in the sole opinion of the directors of the Company, will contribute

or have contributed to the Company and/or any of its subsidiaries.

On 26 January 2017 (the “Date of Grant”), the Company granted a total of 30,800,000
share options to 58 eligible participants, representing approximately 1.76% of the
1,750,002,000 shares in issue as at the Date of Grant. All 30,800,000 share options are
valid for a period of 5 years commencing from the relevant vesting date. Each option
granted under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme shall entitle the grantee to subscribe
for one share upon exercise of such option at a subscription price of HK$0.69 per

share.
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The following tables disclose details of movements of share options granted under the

54

Post-IPO Share Option Scheme: BIR MBS
Outstanding Outstanding
Exercise  asat|jan  Granted Lapsed  Exercised asat 3| Dec
price per 2017  duringthe  duringthe  during the 2017
Share  R2017E Period Period Period  H2017F
Grantee Date of Grant Vesting Period Exercisable period gk 1RIA RER RER WER 128318
ERA R4 AH BEY T8 THE HATE Rt b3 8 HATE
LAM Chi Fan (Chaiman) 26 Jan 2017 26Jan 2017 26 Jan 2018 27 Jan 2018 - 26 Jan 2022 069 - 750,000 - - 750,000
WENZE) WI7F1A2H WITEIAWA- WIBFIAH- 049 - = =
01851 A26A W01 A26A
26 Jan 2017 26Jan 2017 - 26 Jan 2019 27 Jan 2019 - 26 Jan 2022 069 - 750,000 - - 750,000
WI7EIA2%E WIEIABA- WFIAVA- 069 = = =
09F 1 A26A WNEFIA%A
CHEUNG Tung (President) 26Jan 2017 26Jan 2017 -26 Jan 2018 27 Jan 2018-26 Jan 2022 0.69 - 750000 - - 750000
Fik(ex) 0751 A2A WITEIRWE- WIBEIAH- 069 - = =
01851 A2 R WNEFIRBA
26Jan 2017 26Jan 2017 - 26 Jan 2019 27Jan 2019 - 26 Jan 2022 0.69 - 750000 - - 750000
W0I7F1A26A W0I7TEIR2%A- W91 A28~ 0.69 - - -
019% 1 A26 R WNEFIR2WA
CHEN Feng 26Jan 2017 26Jan 2017 -26 Jan 2018 27 Jan 2018 - 26 Jan 2022 0,69 - 500000 - - 500000
Rl 017%F 1A 26A WITEIR26A- WI8EIR27R- 069 = = =
201851 A26A 001 A26A
26Jan 2017 26]an 2017 -26 Jan 2019 27Jan 2019 - 26 Jan 2022 0.69 - 500000 - - 500000
017%F 1A 26A WITEIR26A- W9EFIR7R- 069 = - -
019% 1 A26A 001 A26A
LAM Kam Cheung 26 Jan 2017 26Jan 2017 26 Jan 2018 27 Jan 2018 - 26 Jan 2022 069 - 500,000 - - 500,000
s WI7F1A2H WITEIAWA- WIBFIATH- 049 - = =
01851 A26A 001 A26A
26 Jan 2017 26Jan 2017 -26Jan 2019 27 Jan 2019 - 26 Jan 2022 069 - 500,000 - - 500,000
01751828 WIEIRWA- W9E 178~ 0.69 - - -
019% 1 A26A 001 A26A
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Outstanding Outstanding
Exercise  asatljan  Granted Lapsed  Exercised asat3l Dec
price per 2017 duringthe  duringthe  during the 2017
Share  B2017F  Period  Period  Period R20I7F
Grantee Date of Grant Vesting Period Exercisable period R AR RER RER RMER 12A3IB
ERA R AH BEA TEH TEE HATE Rt %% 8 HATE
LAM Fei Man 26Jan 2017 26Jan 2017 -26 Jan 2018 27]an 2018 - 26 Jan 2022 069 - 500,000 - - 500000
MER WI7E1B2%A WI7TEIAWE- WIBFIRVAE- 069 - - -
01851 A26A 0% 1 A26A
26Jan 2017 26Jan 2017 - 26 Jan 2019 27]an 2019 - 26 Jan 2022 069 - 500,000 - - 500000
01751 A 26H WITEIR26A- WFIR7R- 069 = - -
019% 1 A26A 0% 1 A26A
WONG Chi Keung 26 Jan 2017 26Jan 2017 26 Jan 2018 27 Jan 2018 - 26 Jan 2022 069 - 150,000 - - 150000
Itk 01751 R26H WITEIR26A- WIFIR27A- 0469 = = =
018%F 1 A26A W0EIA26A
26 Jan 2017 26Jan 2017 - 26 Jan 2019 27 Jan 2019 - 26 Jan 2022 069 - 150,000 - - 150000
W75 1 A2%A WI7TFIA2%A- W95 I1A278- 0.69 - - -
019% 1 A26A 00 1R2A
LAM Sing Kwong, Simon 26Jan 2017 26Jan 2017 -26 Jan 2018 27Jan 2018 - 26 Jan 2022 069 - 150000 - - 150000
e WI7EIR2%8 WI7EIRWE- WIBEIRVAE-
081 A2 W0REIR2WA
26an 2017 26Jan 2017 - 26 Jan 2019 27Jan 2019 - 26 Jan 2022 069 - 150000 - - 150000
WI7E1A2%A WI7TEIR2%A- W0I9%F1R278-
01951 A2 WREIR2WA
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Outstanding Outstanding
Exercise  asatljan  Granted Lapsed  Exercised asat 3l Dec
price per 2017 duringthe  duringthe  during the 2017
Shre  R20I7E  Period  Period  Period R2017F
Grantee Date of Grant Vesting Period Exercisable period R AR REA RER RMER 12A3IB
ERA R4 A8 SR T8 TEE HATE Rt %% it H&Of
FAN Chun Wah, Andrew, JP. 26 Jan 2017 26Jan 2017 -26 Jan 2018 27Jan 2018 - 26 Jan 2022 0,69 - 150,000 - - 150000
BREATHL WI7E1B2%A WIEIRWA- WIBFIRVAE-
01851 A26A 0% 1 A26A
26Jan 2017 26Jan 2017 - 26 Jan 2019 27Jan 2019 - 26 Jan 2022 0,69 - 150,000 - - 150000
WI7F1 A28 WITFIAWA- WI9FIATA-
019% 1 A26A 0% 1 A26A
ZHANG HWO Jie 26Jan 2017 26Jan 201726 Jan 2018 27}an 2018 - 26 Jan 2022 069 = 150000 = = 150000
Rl W75 1 A2%A W0I7E1 A28~ 081 A278-
018%F 1 A26A W0EIA26A
26 Jan 2017 26Jan 2017 - 26 Jan 2019 27 Jan 2019 - 26 Jan 2022 069 - 150,000 - - 150000
W75 1 A2%A W0I7E1 A28~ 01912778~
0191 A26A W0EIA26A
WU Tak Lung 26Jan 2017 26Jan 2017 -26 Jan 2018 27Jan 2018 - 26 Jan 2022 069 - 150,000 - - 150,000
RiE WI7TEIABA WITEIRWAE- 0I8% 1 A278 -
0IBE 1 AR W2EI AR
26Jan 2017 26Jan 2017 - 26 Jan 2019 27Jan 2019 - 26 Jan 2022 069 - 150,000 - - 150,000
W0I7E1A2%A WI7E1A%A- 09F 178~
W95 1 AR W2EI AR
Other employees (in aggregate) 26 Jan 2017 26Jan 2017 26 Jan 2018 27 Jan 2018 - 26 Jan 2022 069 - 11650000 - - 11,650000
AftER(RH) WI7E1B2%A WIEIRWA- WIBFIRVE-
01851 A26A 0% 1 A26A
26Jan 2017 26Jan 2017 - 26 Jan 2019 27 Jan 2019 - 26 Jan 2022 0,69 - 11650000 - - 11,650,000
WI7F1 A28 WI7FIAWA- WI9FIATA-
019% 1 A26A 001 A26A
Total - 30,800,000 = - 30,800,000
it
Number of share options

exercisable at 3| December 2017

R0I7ENA3IA
AfTERRESE
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Note:

Other details of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme are set out in note 31 to the condensed

consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

The articles of association of the Company and the Companies Law (2013 Revision) of the
Cayman Islands do not entitle any Shareholder to any pre-emptive right or other similar rights

to subscribe for the Shares.

PURCHASE, SALES OR REDEMPTION OF SHARES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any Shares

during the year ended 3| December 2017.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the significant related party transactions undertaken by the Group during the year
ended 3| December 2017 are set out in note 39 to the consolidated financial statements.
Other than those transactions disclosed in the paragraph headed “Continuing Connected
Transactions” above, these related party transactions either did not constitute connected
transaction/continuing connected transactions or constituted connected transaction/continuing
connected transactions that were exempted from all disclosure and independent Shareholders’

approval requirement under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the aggregate purchases from the Group's five
largest suppliers was approximately 39.5% of the Group's total purchases. The Group's largest
supplier accounted for approximately 17.7% of the Group's total purchases. The average length

of relationship with the Group's five largest suppliers was approximately | 1.8 years.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the aggregate sales to the Group's five largest
customers was approximately 36.3% of the Group's total revenue. The Group's largest
customer accounted for approximately 15.2% of the Group's total revenue. The average length

of relationship with the Group's five largest customers was approximately 4.9 years.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates or any Shareholder (which to the
knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of the issued shares) had a beneficial interest in

the Group's five largest customers or suppliers.

PROFESSIONAL TAX ADVICE

If any Shareholders has any doubt about the taxation implication of purchasing, holding,
disposing of, dealing in, or exercise of any rights in relation to the shares, they are advised to

consult their own professional advisers.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The principal corporate governance practices adopted by the Company are set out in the

"Corporate Governance Report” on pages 60 to 77 of this annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information publicly available to the Company and to the knowledge of the Directors,
at least 25% of the Company's total issued share capital, the prescribed minimum percentage
of public float approved by the Stock Exchange and permitted under the Listing Rules, are held
by the public at all times during the year ended 3| December 2017 and up to the date of this

report.
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AUDITOR

The Group's consolidated financial statements have been audited by Messrs. Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu, Certified Public Accountants, who will retire and offer itself for re-appointment
at the forthcoming AGM. A resolution will be submitted to the AGM to re-appoint Messrs.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as auditor of the Company.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 3| December 2017 have

been reviewed by the audit committee of the Company.

This report is signed for and on behalf of the Board.

Lam Chi Fan

Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 March 2018
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate governance to
safeguard the interests of its Shareholders and to enhance corporate value and accountability.
The Board believes that good corporate governance provides a framework that is essential for
effective management and healthy corporate culture, thereby eaming the confidence of the

Shareholders and the public.

The Company has adopted the code provisions as set out in the Corporate Governance Code
(the "CG Code") contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules as its own code of corporate
governance. The Company had met the applicable code provisions set out in the CG Code

during the year ended 3| December 2017.

The Board will continue to monitor and review the Company's corporate governance practices

to ensure compliance with the CG Code.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct for the Directors and relevant employees, who
are likely to possess inside information of the Company, in their dealings in the Company's
securities. The code of conduct are on terms no less exacting than the required standard set

out in the Model Code.

The Company has made specific enquiry of all Directors and all Directors confirmed that they
had complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code during the year ended 3|
December 2017.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Board composition

The Board currently comprises ten Directors, with five executive Directors and five
Independent non-executive Directors. The Directors during the year ended 31 December

2017 and up to the date of this report were as follows:
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Executive Directors  : Lam Chi Fan (Chairman)

Cheung Tung (President)

Chen Feng
Lam Kam Cheung
Lam Fei Man
Independent
Non-executive
Directors : Wong Chi Keung

Lam Sing Kwong, Simon
Fan Chun Wah, Andrew
Zhang Hwo Jie

Wu Tak Lung

The Board has a balance of skills and experience appropriate for the Company's business.
The independence of the Independent Non-executive Directors. Independent Non-executive
Directors is assessed according to the relevant rules and requirements under the Listing Rules.
The Company requests the Directors to disclose annually to the Company the number and
nature of office held in public companies or organizations and other significant commitments

with an indication of time involved.

Relationship between Board members

Mr. Lam Chi Fan, the Chairman and an executive Director, is the uncle of Mr. Cheung
Tung, the President and an executive Director and a cousin of Ms. Lam Fei Man, an

executive Director;
= Mr. Cheung Tung, is a nephew of Ms. Lam Fei Man;

= Mr. Chen Feng, an executive Director, is a cousin of the mother of Ms. Lam Fei Man, an

executive Director; and

— Ms. Lam is a cousin of Mr. Lam Chi Fan, the Chairman of the Board and an executive
Director; the daughter of a cousin of Mr. Chen Feng, an executive Director; an aunt of

Mr. Cheung Tung, the President and an executive Director.

Save as disclosed above, there are no financial, business, family or other material relationships

among members of the Board.
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Delegation by the Board

The Board is responsible and has general power for the management and conduct of the
business of the Group. It delegates day-to-day management and operations functions of
the Company to Board committees and senior management of the Company with clear
directions and authority framework. The Board will review periodically the delegation given to
management to ensure that they are appropriate and continue to be beneficial to the Group as

a whole.

The Board has delegated specific roles and responsibilities to the Company’s audit committee,
corporate governance committee, remuneration committee and nomination committee.

Details of these committees are set out on pages 60 to 71 of this annual report.

Chairman and President

Mr. Lam Chi Fan is the Chairman of the Board. Mr. Lam is responsible for the formulation of

the overall business strategies and business planning of the Group.

Mr. Cheung Tung is the President (equivalent to the role of a chief executive) of the Company.
Mr. Cheung is responsible for the overall management of the day-to-day operations of the

Group.

Mr. Lam Chi Fan is the uncle of Mr. Cheung Tung. However, there is a clear distinction

between the Chairman'’s responsibility and the President’s responsibility.
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Independent non-executive Directors

The Company currently has five Independent non-executive Directors, more than one-third
of the members of the Board, and are persons of high caliber with appropriate professional

qualifications or accounting or related financial management expertise.

Each of Mr. Wong Chi Keung, Professor Lam Sing Kwong, Simon, Mr. Fan Chun Wah, Andrew,
JP, Mr. Zhang Hwo Jie and Mr. Wu Tak Lung has entered into a service contract with the

Company for a term of three years commenced from || July 2017, respectively.

The Company has received from all Independent non-executive Directors their confirmation
of independence pursuant to the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. The Company is of the view that all Independent non-executive Directors met the
independence guidelines and are independent. These Independent non-executive Directors are
high calibre executives who bring a diversified range of expertise and serve the crucial function
of providing checks and balances for safeguarding the interests of Shareholders and the Group

as a whole.

Board meetings

The Board meets at least four times a year and a tentative schedule for regular Board meetings
for each year is provided to Directors prior to the beginning of each calendar year. Between
scheduled regular Board meetings, Directors may approve various matters by way of passing
written resolutions. Additional Board meetings may be arranged if required. At least 14 days’
notice of a regular Board meeting shall be given and the Company aims at sending the agenda
and the accompanying board papers to Directors at a reasonable time before the intended

date of a Board meeting.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Board held four meetings and the Company

held one general meeting,

Board minutes are kept by the company secretary of the Company and are open for inspection

by the Directors.

A\ e
EREBRE

BUFHTES

ARREBAEERLBUFNTES  BBE
FEXE=Nz— BERAFAEERER
AEHAEANBERZIRNEEAL

THEBRELE  MANER  BREATHL
REFARRBEAEESBEERD AR
Bad  m2017E7R I BEAS=F-

AREEGERBUNFNTESTRELTR
BISE 3. I31GPTE 2 B 146 5l 1 0 B 1 1
R ARARREBBUFNTEFHNAE
VIS RABUYL - ZREBUFRTES
BERBAEZIIBAL  HEEBZHEANER
M ARAEERETANEZLHE - U
RERRRAEENERE -

S

ek

EBFELAMNREREE  MARA
EREBEEFREMNESREZFEESS
FRERZNRERAKR - REREFSEH
o EFANERABVAMASAERE &
ERR ARTHAREZESH EZCFER
SR RABLED 4XBA - MARANK
IREEFE LR TR —RAEKER
ExRHARRENESE XX T -

REBZ017FNA3NBILEFE EF€4H
[P/
EEeeRBAARAARMEREFYMHE
ERHEH o

BHEEEERQA

2017 FEwmE

63



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TRER/RRE

The attendance records of the Directors at the Board meetings held during the year ended 3|

December 2017 are set out as follows:

EEHREEZ0I7F 1A BIEEERT

i

oo

B B8R

ZRCERESIMT

i)

Meetings attended

Name of Directors BEEps HEERLRE
Executive Directors BITES

Lam Chi Fan HEN 414
Cheung Tung RIR 414
Chen Feng BRAE 4/4
Lam Kam Cheung MR HE 414
Lam Fei Man MER 4/4
Independent non-executive Directors BYFHITES

Wong Chi Keung TER 4/4
Lam Sing Kwong, Simon WK 414
Fan Chun Wah, Andrew, |.P. SBEEATAL 4/4
Zhang Hwo Jie R 4/4
Wu Tak Lung RERE 414

Accountability and Audit

BERER

EXRAEUREAEE  MBHREREAE N
BRMERREAEMNATFRBREAEENS
BRANREEEXERAGT - REREZE
WI7ENANBLEFEZLHBREE £
SERFREEERBRERBEHEANRATR
RAEEMBHRE EFEXBRRELSE
BBz AER  HEMESRHELEE
KB MR RATRBM AR -

The Directors acknowledged their responsibilities for the preparation of financial statements of
the Group to ensure that the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of affairs
of the Group and of the results of its operation and its cashflows. In preparing the financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2017, the Board had prepared the Group's
financial statements on a going-concern basis and in accordance with relevant accounting
standards and regulations. Board members are provided with monthly updates on the Group's
financial position, which give the Directors a clear assessment of the performance, position and

prospect of the Group.

B EE R EREETNHAERE 107
Z 68 B2 B ZEARER

A statement from the external auditor relating to their reporting responsibilities is set out in

the independent auditor’s report on pages 107 to 268 of this annual report.
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Continuous training and professional development for Directors

Directors must keep abreast of their responsibilities and duties and are committed to
participate in continuous professional development to develop their knowledge and skills. This

is to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

The Company provides regular updates on changes and developments relating to the Group's
business and the legislative and regulatory environments to the Directors at regular Board
meetings. In addition, the Company also organises briefing sessions to the Directors which
place emphasis on the roles, functions and duties of a listed company director, as well as the

latest developments regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements.

Individual training record of each Director during the year ended 31 December 2017 is set out

A\ e
EREBRE

EERBEIRERRRE

ESVRRRBECBARRBE  LATNRN
SMFBEEXER  WhRAMABRERE - #
RESEABEEEARNEGATNER Y
EXefhER

AREEHREREEE SR LAESEHNE
$EIZ¥Fﬁﬁ“@M&EE&£¢&£ﬁ
oS ARRBREZLHEHRE &
itm@ﬂ%%%ﬁ@‘% BfE-ARE
MR R EALEREERENRHMER -

REERHZ0I7TENANBLEEEZ@A

as follows: RS MT
Reading
materials regarding
regulatory updates Attending seminars
and corporate and/or conferences
governance matters and/or briefings
FREEENREE HEWAER/I
Name of Directors EEpA ERBENRAEMA BER/ AR
Executive Directors HITE=R
Lam Chi Fan HER V v
Cheung Tung RIR V V
Chen Feng B, V V
Lam Kam Cheung MRERFE V \
Lam Fei Man MEE V V
Independent non-executive Directors BUkHTES
Wong Chi Keung TER V V
Lam Sing Kwong, Simon MR V V
Fan Chun Wah, Andrew BERE V V
Zhang Hwo Jie %ﬁ% V V
Wu Tak Lung o8 V V
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Company has set up four committees, namely, the audit committee, the remuneration
committee, the nomination committee and the corporate governance committee, for
overseeing the particular aspects of the Company. The terms of reference of these committees

are available on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

Audit Committee

The audit committee comprises five Independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Wong
Chi Keung, Professor Lam Sing Kwong, Simon, Mr. Fan Chun Wah, Andrew, J.P., Mr. Zhang
Hwo Jie and Mr. Wu Tak Lung. Mr. Wong Chi Keung is the chairman of the audit committee.

He has professional qualifications in accounting and financial management.

The primary duties of the audit committee include, among other things:

= reviewing and monitoring the external auditor’s independence and objectivity;

= recommending to the Board on the re-appointment of the external auditor and

approve its remuneration;

- reviewing the Group's consolidated financial statements, annual reports and interim

reports before submitting them to the Board;

= overseeing the Group's financial reporting system, internal control and risk management

procedures and audit process;

= reviewing the Group's financial and accounting policies and practices of the Group; and

- meeting with the external auditor to discuss issues regarding audit at least once a year in

the absence of the management.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the audit committee held three meetings and
reviewed and discussed with the external auditor the interim and annual results of the Group
and the relevant financial reports. It also discussed matters with respect to the risk management

and intemal controls and re-appointment of external auditor.

Sinomax Group Limited 2017 Annual Report
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A summary of the work of the audit committee during the year ended 3| December 2017 is

as follows:

(@)  reviewed and discussed with the external auditor the annual results for the year ended

31 December 2016 and interim results for the six months ended 30 June 2017;

(b)  discussed and reviewed the risk management system of the Group, reviewed the
internal control review plan and the internal controls report of the Group prepared by
the internal control advisor relating to the annual financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2016 and the interim financial statements for the six months ended 30

June 2017,

(¢)  reviewed the effectiveness of the Company's internal audit function; and

(d)  approved and confirmed the annual audit plan for the year ended 31 December 2017.

The attendance record of each member of the audit committee at the meetings held during

the year ended 31 December 2017 is set out as follows:

A\ e
EREBRE

REZ017F 1A BILEEEEREEST
EHEMT :

(a)

(d)

0 M EINFIZ BN I RBE 2016 F 12
A3 HEFENFEEEREE0I7E
6 A30HIEAEAMPEEE

ARkEHARE EARERRS B
Bl EEHEREE 20165 12 A3
AR EERBRRRBENITE
6A30REAEANTHMBREGE
6 720 B 42 11 25 B0 51 B R AR SR B P A

RE
ERA AR ABEHBAENERL Rk

HEREREZ2017F12A3IBLE
ERFEEZE -

EEREREEREREE2017F12A31HIE
FERAzeZMERELESNNMT

Meetings attended

Name of members of audit committee ERZEEEREHRE HEERRE
Wong Chi Keung TER 33
Lam Sing Kwong, Simon MK 3/3
Fan Chun Wah, Andrew, |.P. SBEEATAL 3/3
Zhang Hwo Jie R 303
Wu Tak Lung RiERE 33

BREEEARRAT 2017 FERE

67



68

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CEERBE

Corporate Governance Committee

The corporate governance committee comprises five Independent non-executive Directors,

namely, Mr. Wong Chi Keung, the chairman of the corporate govemance committee, Professor

Lam Sing Kwong, Simon, Mr. Fan Chun Wah, Andrew, J.P., Mr. Zhang Hwo Jie and Mr. Wu Tak

Lung.

The primary duties of the corporate governance committee include, among other things:

— developing and reviewing the policies and practices of the Company on corporate

governance and making recommendation to the Board with regard to any change;

= reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous professional development of

Directors and senior management on corporate governance;

= reviewing and monitoring the policies and practices of the Company on compliance

with legal and regulatory requirements on corporate governance and making

recommendation to the Board with regard to any change;

= developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct and corporate govemance

manual applicable to Directors and employees; and

- reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in the corporate

governance report.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the corporate governance committee held one

meeting to review the Company's corporate governance policies and practices and the

compliance with the CG Code.

The attendance record of each member of the corporate governance committee at the

meeting held during the year ended 3| December 2017 is set out as follows:
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Meeting attended
Name of members of corporate governance committee tEERZEERERE HESBRH
Wong Chi Keung TE /1
Lam Sing Kwong, Simon MRBK 11
Fan Chun Wah, Andrew).P. BRENTHL 11
Zhang Hwo Jie R /1
Wau Tak Lung RIEH /1
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Remuneration Committee

The remuneration committee consists of one executive Director and two Independent non-
executive Directors. The remuneration committee is chaired by Professor Lam Sing Kwong,
Simon, an Independent non-executive Director. Other members are Mr. Fan Chun Wah,

Andrew, |.P., an Independent non-executive Director and Mr. Lam Chi Fan.
The primary duties of the remuneration committee include, among other things:

— studying and making recommendations or proposals to the Board for its review on
the Company's policy and structure for remuneration of all Directors and senior
management, on the Company's incentive schemes and on the establishment of a
formal and transparent procedure for formulating the remuneration policies and

incentive schemes;

= determining the remuneration packages of all executive Directors and senior
management and making recommendation to the Board on the remuneration of the

non-executive Directors; and

— reviewing and approving performance-based remuneration by reference to corporate

objectives approved by the Board from time to time.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the remuneration committee held two meetings
to review and approve the granting of options pursuant to the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme
and to approve Directors’ and senior management's performance bonus, after taking into
consideration the comparable market practice, competitive market condition position, individual

performance and contributions and the Group's operating results.

In order to recognise and acknowledge the contributions of key employees of the Company,
the Company adopted the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme and the Post-IPO Share Option
Scheme. These incentive schemes enable eligible persons to have a personal stake in the
Company and thus motivate them to optimize their performance efficiency for the benefit of

the Group.
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Details of the Directors” emolument for the year ended 31 December 2017 and the Pre-IPO
Share Option Scheme and POST IPO Share Option Scheme are set out in note 10 and note

31 to the consolidated financial statements, respectively.

The attendance record of each member of the remuneration committee at the meeting held

during the year ended 3| December 2017 is set out as follows:

BEBREZ0I7ENA3NBLEENESHE
RERRREEAHBREAERERAAEE
‘ERESE 2 F BN RIE N RS M BREN
i 10 RPHEE3 -

BHMEZEEeRENEE2017F 12831 BILF

EARTZ & HMNEE S RN L LEEHI
T

Meeting attended
Name of members of remuneration committee FHZEERERS HESBRE
Lam Sing Kwong, Simon WK 22
Lam Chi Fan HEN 212
Fan Chun Wah, Andrew piek &= 22

Nomination Committee

The nomination committee comprises three members with the majority of its members being
Independent non-executive Directors. The nomination committee is chaired by Mr. Lam Chi
Fan, the Chairman of the Board and an executive Director. Other members are Mr. Wong
Chi Keung and Professor Lam Sing Kwong, Simon, both being Independent non-executive

Directors.
The primary duties of the nomination committee include, among other things:

= reviewing the structure, size, diversity and composition of the Board and making
recommendations regarding any proposed changes to the Board in line with the

Company's strategies;

= developing and formulating relevant procedures for nomination and appointment of

directors;
= identifying suitable candidates for appointment as directors; and
= assessing the independence of independent non-executive Director.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the nomination committee held one meeting
to review the structure, size and composition of the Board. The Company and embraces
the benefits of diversity among its Board members. The nomination committee has a policy
concerning the diversity of Board members with measurable objectives. Selection of candidates
is based on a range of diversity perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge, length of

service and the legitimate interests of the principal Shareholders.
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The attendance record of each member of the nomination committee at the meeting held

during the year ended 3| December 2017 is set out as follows:

A\ e
EREBRE

EREEEEREREE2017F12A31HIE
FERBITZEZNHELHEIINT

Meeting attended

Name of members of nomination committee REZEERERSR HEEZREY
Lam Chi Fan HEN 11
Wong Chi Keung FER 11
Lam Sing Kwong, Simon MR 11

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2017, the fees in respect of the audit and non-audit services

provided to the Group by Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, are set out as follows:

RERME
REBZ207F1A3BILFEE REY - B
ER A ST RAEBIRENEZ K IFEX
REMEANERSIIMT

Fee
EA
HK$’ 000
FET
Audit services BERRS 3750
Non-audit services: FEZRE
Reviewing the Company's interim financial information, report on ERZALNRRHMBEN  HEERI SRS
continuing connected transactions and review of risk management R EZAEEHRRE E R AEIEH] -
and intemal control of the Group, and conducting financial SEENEEBELNBERRBE T A RREDS
and tax due diligence for potential acquisition 550
4,300

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Lam Kam Cheung was appointed as the company secretary of the Company on 4 March
2014. The biographical details of Mr. Lam is set out in the paragraph headed "Directors and

Senior Management” on page 19 of this annual report.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, Mr. Lam took no less than |5 hours of relevant

professional training.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company respects the rights of Shareholders and seeks to facilitate the effective exercise

of those rights by ensuring that the Company communicates effectively with its Shareholders.

The Company promotes effective communication with Shareholders and encourages effective
participation by Shareholders at general meetings of the Company. To ensure a high quality of
communication and level of clarity with all investors and other stakeholders, whilst complying
with its statutory disclosure obligations, the Company endeavours to provide Shareholders with
ready and easy access on a timely basis to matters that affect their investment in the Company;
communicate in a clear, accurate and easy to understand manner with investors and other
stakeholders. Communication with Shareholders would be mainly through the Company's
interim and annual reports, announcements and circulars, general meetings and publications on

the Company's website.

General Meetings

The Board also considers that general meetings of the Company provide an useful forum for
Shareholders to exchange views with the Board. The Company shall in each year hold a general
meeting as its annual general meeting. All general meetings other than annual general meeting

shall be called extraordinary general meetings (‘EGMs”).

Members of the audit committee, remuneration committee, corporate governance committee
and nomination committee and the external auditor also attend the annual general meetings
to answer questions from Shareholders. Notice of annual general meetings is sent to all
Shareholders at least 20 clear business days before the annual general meetings and the
accompanying circular also sets out details of each proposed resolution and other relevant
information as required under the Listing Rules. The voting results of annual general meetings
and EGMs are posted on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company on the same

day of the annual general meetings and EGMs.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Rights and Procedures for Shareholders to Convene General Meetings

Any two or more members of the Company, at the date of the deposit of a written requisition
holding not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company which carries the right
of voting at general meetings, shall at all times have the right to require an EGM to be called by

the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition.

The written requisition must specify the purpose of the meeting, signed by the requisitionists
and deposit it with the Company Secretary of the Company at the Company's principal place
of business in Hong Kong at Units 2005-2007, Level 20, Tower |, MegaBox Enterprise Square
Five, No. 38 Wang Chiu Road, Kowloon Bay, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of deposit of the requisition proceed duly
to convene the EGM to be held within a further 21 days, the requisitionists themselves or any
of them representing more than one-half of the total voting rights of all of them, may convene
the EGM, but any EGM shall not be held after the expiration of three months from the date of

deposit of the requisition.

An EGM so convened by the requisitionists shall be convened in the same manner, as nearly

possible, as that in which meetings are to be convened by the Board.

Right to put enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may, at any time, direct questions or requests for information to the Directors or
management through the ‘Contact Us' section in the Company’s website at www.sinomax.com

or in writing and sent by post to the Company's principal place of business in Hong Kong.

Right to put forward proposals at general meetings

As a matter of Cayman Islands law, no members nor Shareholders are permitted to propose
new resolutions at general meetings if the intention to propose the new resolutions is not
specified in the notice convening the general meeting. However, procedures for proposing
candidate(s) for election as Directors at a Shareholder's meeting are set out in the Corporate

Governance section of the Company's website at ir.sinomax.com.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company believes that communicating with its Shareholders, investors and other
stakeholders by electronic means, particularly through its website, is an efficient way of
distributing information in a timely and convenient manner. The Company’s website at www.

sinomax.com/group provides the following information:

= member of the Board, terms of reference of the Board committees, key corporate

governance policies and the Company's constitutional documents;

= latest news, announcements, financials including interim and annual reports and all

material information submitted to the Stock Exchange; and

= other information relating to the Group and its business.

Shareholders can make any query in respect of the Group or to make request for the

Company's financial reports. The designated contact details are as follows:

By post: Sinomax Group Limited

Units 2005-2007, Level 20, Tower |,

MegaBox Enterprise Square Five,

No. 38 Wang Chiu Road, Kowloon Bay, Hong Kong
By email: ir@sinomax.com

Shareholders who have any matters relating to change of name or address, transfer of shares
and loss of share certificates, may contact the Company's share registrar, Tricor Investor

Services Limited. The contact details are as follows:

Address: Tricor Investor Services Limited
Level 22, Hopewell Centre,
183 Queen'’s Road East, Hong Kong
Tel: (852) 2980 1333

Constitutional Documents

There was no change in the Company's constitutional documents during the year ended 31

December 2017.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for maintaining and reviewing the effectiveness of the Group's
risk management and internal control systems. A review of the implemented systems and
procedures, including areas covering financial, operational, legal compliance controls and risk
management functions, is carried out annually. The risk management and internal control
systems are implemented to minimise the risks to which the Group is exposed and used as a

management tool for the day-to-day operation of business.

The Board has, through the audit committee, reviewed and considered the Group's risk
management and intemal control systems to be effective and adequate for the year ended 3|

December 2017.

No significant areas of concern that might affect the financial, operational, legal compliance

controls and risk management functions of the Group were identified.

The Group has established an organizational structure with defined levels of responsibility
and reporting procedures. The group internal audit department assist the Board and the audit
committee in the review of the effectiveness of the Group's risk management and internal

control systems on an ongoing basis.

The Company has established Enterprise Risk Management Procedures to ensure safeguard of
assets and to identify, evaluate, quantify and manage existing and potential risks. Relevant rules
and regulations are adhered to and complied with, reliable financial and accounting records
are maintained in accordance with relevant accounting standards and regulatory reporting
requirements, and key risks that may impact on the Group's performance are appropriately

identified and addressed.

The internal audit department is responsible for the operation and coordination of enterprise
risk management mechanism, which includes examining, reviewing the effectiveness of risk
management processes and systems, assessing whether risk is properly identified, assessing
significant risk reporting, and reviewing significant risk management. The internal audit
department provides risk management and internal control assessment reports to the
management on a regular or ad hoc basis. The intemal audit department also regularly reviews
and reports to the audit committee and the Board on risk management and interal control

affairs. The Group will appoint external intemal control consultant when necessary.
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The task group on risk management is responsible for establishing the risk management register
and defining responsibilities, procedures and system of risk management, formulating the annual
risk management work plan, carrying out risk assessment, proposing the risk management
strategy, assisting the relevant departments and the enterprises in significant risk management.
[t also prepares risk management performance appraisal program and conducts annual

performance appraisal and arranges risk management training.

The departmental managements execute risk management strategies, solutions and crisis
management plans for significant risks, dynamically monitor significant risk associated indicators
and execute the procedures and policies of the risk management and internal controls of the

Group.

In addition to the review of risk management and internal controls undertaken within the
Group, the external auditor also assessed the effectiveness of certain key risks and internal

controls as part of their statutory audits.

To help ensure all risks which are relevant to the Group are considered, a systematic approach

to risk identification is followed. |dentifiable risk areas which are considered include:

. maintaining a safe work environment for the Group's employees;
. safeguarding and efficient use of assets;

o management of human resources;

. ensuring the Group complies with legal and regulatory obligations;
. achieving established objectives and goals;

. reliability and integrity of financial and operational information; and

. compliance with intemal policies and procedures.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

With respect to procedures and internal controls for the handling and dissemination of inside

information, the Group:

(i) is aware of the obligations under the SFO, the applicable Listing Rules and other
statutory regulations with regard to the timely and proper disclosure of inside
information, announcements and financial disclosures and authorises their publication as

required;
(i) has adopted and implemented its Inside Information Disclosure Policy; and

@iy has in place a Code for Securities Dealing for governing the securities transactions of
those employees who, because of their positions, are likely to have access to confidential

or inside information.
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

This report is an annual environmental, social and governance report prepared in accordance
with the Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) Reporting Guide set out in Appendix
27 to the Listing Rules. It follows the “comply or explain” provisions of the Guide to disclose

certain Key Performance Indicators recommended for disclosure therein.

This report covers the year ended 31 December 2017.

This report mainly covers the environmental, social and governance activities at the Group's
core operating sites, i.e. the headquarter in Hong Kong, Sinomax Industrial Park in Shahu Village

in Tangxia Town in Dongguan.

ENGAGEMENT OF STAKEHOLDERS

The Group is well aware of the importance of stakeholders' long-term support for and
engagement in the Group's fulfillment of its corporate social responsibility. As such, the Group
strives to improve existing communication channels and maintain close communication with
customers, employees, suppliers, community organizations, governmental agencies and other
relevant stakeholders through a variety of channels, including interviews, phone calls, emails,

symposia, seminars, internal communications, publications and press conferences.

In the past, the Group also conducted “substantive environmental and social assessments”
through interviews and questionnaire surveys with stakeholders to identify the issues that
concerned stakeholders and the environmental and social impacts of the Company's business
operations. During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group continued to discern the
issues concerned. The Group communicates with stakeholders in a variety of ways to leam
about their expectations on the Group's fulfillment of its corporate social responsibility. Based
on the commonly used concept of substantive matrix analysis, the Group sorted out and
analyzed corporate social responsibility issues according to the degrees of importance of such
issues stakeholders for stakeholders, and gave priority to issues that concered both the Group
and stakeholders the most. In doing so, we feel obliged to set our sustainable development
objectives and development strategies that meet the expectations of stakeholders and are thus

echoed by them.
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GROUP DEVELOPMENT AND SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY SERRERHEER

As an industry leader specialized in making memory foam healthcare products, the Group is a AEERENELENAERREERSIEE -

resources-integrated enterprise that integrates research and development, manufacturing and REWRE  2UE  HER-BLINERESE

sales, and takes effective efforts to promote social responsibility from upstream to downstream o UARHEET ETHEXHENLER

industry chain. The Group strives to become a global leader in the field of health and - AEEBNRKBERRRERENSIE

household products and a multinational company with its own brand and good reputation. EF URAREETRENRFOENERE
0

AN INTEGRATED ENTERPRISE
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CORPORATE VISION AND MISSION

CORPORATE VISION

“To become a global leader in the
field of health and household products”

With the support of its strong R&D capabilities and a comprehensive industry chain and based
on its understanding of the sphere of health and household products, the Group has been
continuously providing innovative solutions of healthy living and sharing quality home life for
more than a decade. The grand vision of the Group is to become a global leader in the field of

health and household products.

CORPORATE MISSION
“Creating and sharing quality household lifestyle ”

Using Sinomax products to bring comfort and health to numerous households and improve

the quality of life of the general public.
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MILESTONES OF SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT

Incorporate the concept of sustainable development into operating strategy

To align with the development trends of the world and to achieve its sustainable development
objectives for the next century, the Group integrates the concept of sustainable development
as an essential operating strategy into its values and corporate culture while adhering to its
existing core values. The Group's sustainable development culture lies in its corporate decisions
and operating strategies, including building a working environment with interational standards
for social responsibility management, improving the awareness of sustainability, and practicing
the mission to reduce the environment impact of production and supply health and household
products, with a view to creating maximum value for the Company, the society, customers and
employees.

Practice I1SO 26000 international standards to fulfill social responsibility

In 2016, the Group obtained the 1SO 26000 certification on corporate social responsibility from
SGS Hong Kong Limited (“SGS”), an international testing and certification agency, becoming the
first enterprise in the industry to receive such recognition from SGS. This serves as recognition
of the sustainable development system established by the Group and our attention and
contribution to social responsibility.

REVIEW OF HIGHLIGHTS

Carbon emissions management

Reduced carbon dioxide emissions by introducing renewable energy and investing in energy-
saving equipment.

Giving back to society

Supported the community and the environment through a number of retail-related donation
activities, successfully promoted the relevant social and environmental concepts among
customers, and continuously implemented the ISO 26000 requirements on managing the
Group's social responsibility.

Quality assurance

Set up a testing center and provided after-sale services to honor our commitment to
customers.

Coordination with the government

Actively responded to the government’s consultations and assisted the relevant authorities in
mainland China in formulating industry standards.

External recognition

Received the Caring Company Award for consecutive years and obtained a series of
certifications of international standards for social responsibility and environmental management.
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ENVIRONMENTAL =%

ASPECT Al: EMISSIONS

As a large-scale manufacturer of memory foam healthcare products, the Group has been
attaching great importance to environmental protection and pollution prevention since its
inception, and always complies with national and local environmental laws, regulations, policies
and standards. In addition to abiding by the requirements of the local regulator and industry-
specific guidelines, the Group tries to fulfill its green social responsibility by various means. By
carrying out environmental management and internal training, the Group strives to enhance
group-wide environmental awareness, encourage employees to protect the environment,

contribute to the environment and create a good brand image for the Group.

The Group extends the concept of “green industry chain” from its “Development Model
Featuring Vertical Integration”. We minimize the environmental impact produced during
our production by incorporating green elements into our business process spanning R&D,
procurement, manufacturing, packaging, sales and marketing and regularly reviewing such

elements to reflect on how to bring more benefits to the society and the environment.
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RENEWABLE ENERGY AND EMISSIONS MANAGEMENT BRERERRERER

FE R 3% 6 B H i 57 6058 =2 S BB X
Photovoltaic Power Generation and
The Resulting Reduction in Greenhouse Gas Emissions

KRRBEE FRB
Photovoltaic Power Generation B I ’ 794; 5 I 3 kWh
HRBEREK
T —satEEs
g duction in Greenhouse I » 5 5 tons of carbon dioxide equivalent

Gas Emissions

In addition, the Group has formulated the Procedures for Energy and Resource Consumption o SEFTU(EREREREERF IR
Management and the Management Rules on Electricity and Water Conservation, which clearly (B RERKERMETE) ARERLEER
provide for energy consumption management in the process of production and operation and LEBEPHREAIR - BRSO
require ongoing control and reduction of energy consumption in a bid to effectively reduce BERBERE . mARURERERER - 5—F
indirect carbon emissions. Meanwhile, the Group has developed the Rules for Management of B EBXG(HETERT) BAFRE
Business Trips which prioritizes the use of modern communication means, including the widely- RIBBAES - AREZERERBEEGS
use Internet videoconferencing, to reduce the need for long-distance business trips and thus ZUMALEREZENTE  EMRLEFER

lower carbon emissions caused by long-distance transport. RGBT A S BAVHREEN
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WASTE MANAGEMENT

The Group has developed the Waste Management Rules for the relevant production processes.
Each of the Group's production facilities has to follow such rules to ensure that wastes are
disposed of in a responsible manner. In order to reduce the impact of hazardous wastes on
the environment through proper disposition, hazardous wastes are recycled collectively in the
factory and disposed of by a qualified contractor, with the vouchers for handling hazardous
wastes being kept according to the law. We also consider how to practice the green concept
in the course of raw material procurement. We choose to use larger volume containers to
store raw materials to reduce the waste of raw material barrels (e.g. replacing small barrels with

oil tank trucks).

When it comes to downstream retailing, in view of the fact that plastic bags will produce
difficult-to-decompose contaminants, we adopt “Green Convenient Packaging” by adding
a handle to the packaging boxes of most of our retail products to eliminate the need for
customers to use plastic bags and make the best use of recyclable materials, so as to promote
environmental awareness among the masses and encourage them to protect the environment

together.

INDOOR AIR QUALITY MANAGEMENT

In order to reduce exhaust emissions, we have installed activated carbon adsorption devices
in Sinomax Industrial Park to collect and treat the waste gas generated during the foaming of

sponges, thereby improving air quality and reducing air pollution in the workplace.

THIRD-PARTY MONITORING OF ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT

Sinomax Industrial Park carries out supervision, control and continuous assessment of the
Group's environment impact based on the ISO 14001: 2004 environmental management
system. The aim is to promote green industry chains through appropriate control measures. A
third-party certification agency conducts field inspection over the Group every year to ensure
that its environment management meets intermnational standards. According to the Management
Procedures for Environmental Monitoring and Measurement, each year the Group commissions
an independent agency to measure its wastewater, waste gas, and noise, so as to ensure that its

operations meet the applicable environmental requirements.

The Company strictly abides by the relevant environmental laws. During the year ended 3|
December 2017, there was not case of prosecution against the Company for violation of

environmental laws.
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4 HEDCHN 13 70 5% il B3 HE bk X B

Emissions and Related Emissions Data

FEAEWHER

Automobile Nitrogen Oxide Emissions

RE=SHCHIER g g ag T

3,643 T*

Automobile Sulfur Dioxide Emissions

AR 361 7%
KG

Automotive Particulate Emissions

4 RERBRAEKEREE

Total Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Density

A R . e —
Greenhouse Gas Emissions _
. T s 5.800 H_aHss
FTEESHEEREASRENE AN LHHEE - EERNSH y Tons of Carbon Dioxide Equivalent

HAELL ~ BIEFE - IRERMRE
Covering mobile gasoline and diesel consumption, stationary
diesel and power consumption, and gas combustion

FI9EESHEEm
FEAHNBRERBHENRE U I [ e 11 432

Average Greenhouse Gas Emissions .
Per Ton of Products Produced

Tons of Carbon Dioxide Equivalent

4 BEEFMRAERER

Total Hazardous Waste and Density

EEBEYNEE

Total Hazardous Waste

FIHEESWER
FELXENBEERRY
Average Hazardous Waste
Per Ton of Products Produced

225737
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ASPECT A2: USE OF RESOURCES

The Group attaches great importance to the concept of environmental protection and
follows national policies to achieve the vision of optimizing the use of resources by improve
production efficiency. As a company integrating production and sales, we can utilize materials
more effectively in the operation process and thus save resources consumed in transportation
and processing. We also promote energy conservation and water saving within the Group
to reduce waste through effective use of resources. The Group has formulated guidelines
to remind and encourage employees to make rational use of resources, minimize water and
power consumption, and reduce paper consumption by adopting electronic business processes,

with a view to optimizing the use of resources.

GREEN PRODUCTION AND PROCUREMENT

We make good use of foam debris in the production process to maximize the value of
resources and avoid waste generation. The Group gives priority to using local suppliers to
reduce energy consumption due to cargo transportation. The Group also prefers purchasing
FSC-certified paper products, and its industrial park provides solar water heating systems to

reduce power consumption for heating.

GREEN LIGHTING

We have replaced 30% of the lights in the Hong Kong office with LED lighting, which can lower
power consumption and reduce hazardous wastes from replacement of short-lived traditional
lighting fixtures. In addition, while factory has substituted over 600 energy-saving lamps for
obsolete lamps and introduced an energy saving policy for lunch time. Most of the lights will
be temporarily tumed off during employees’ lunch time to conserve energy, thereby reducing

consumption of 500 hours” worth of power each year.
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WATER RESOURCES MANAGEMENT

The water consumed by the Group mainly is mostly domestic water. We encourage
employees to save and cherish water resources and promote the concept and importance of
environmental protection among them. The Group has formulated the Management Rules on
Water and Power Conservation that gives rise to a series of measures to remind and procure

employees to practice the resource-conservation principle of “turn off the tap before leaving”.

PAPERLESS OFFICE AND PAYMENTS

We use a variety of electronic management systems, such as OA, POS and WMS, to reduce
paper consumption by, among other things, submitting spending requests and updating
personal information and other intemal documents through electronic systems. Meanwhile, we
advocate the importance of “reducing carbon emissions” among our employees and suppliers
and encourage them to adopt double-sided printing and reuse paper for reduction of paper

consumption.

In respect of downstream retailing, we encourage customers to use electronic payment
methods, so as to enhance environmental awareness of the public and work with them to

protect the environment.

4 BERBEGGRARERE R

Direct and Indirect Energy Consumption and Density

1 828582 Type of Energy
BEJRFEFIE Energy Consumption

Fttk (T BAEEER)
Solar energy (renewable energy)
TR

1,794,513 v
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Gas

30,763 I *
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Gasoline

122,128 15"
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4 REIKEREBHE

Total Water Consumption and Density

HWFEKE

Total Water Consumption

FHEESWERAEANKE

299,959 Lh#

Average Water Consumption 7 I K/
[}

m3/Tons

Per Ton of Products Produced

4 B RFANEHRNESERBEERNNGE

Total Packaging Materials Used for Finished Products and
Consumption of Packaging Materials Per Unit of Products

EmAAASEMBNEAE
Total Consumption of Packaging Materials
for Finished Products

FHEESHMERTERANEEME
Average Consumption of Packaging Materials I 4 I :kF/?I'E/m
Per Ton of Products Produced g lons

4,378"%
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ASPECT A3: ENVIRONMENT AND NATURAL RESOURCES

We firmly believe that environmental protection and conservation of natural resources are
closely linked to the Group's operations, so we emphasize incorporating green elements in

various respects to improve the environment.

GREEN INDUSTRY CHAIN

In order to reduce the major environmental impact arising from the operation process, the
Group considers the use of renewable materials starting from the upstream R&D of the
industry chain and avoids using organic volatile materials to meet the requirements of the
US and European countries. As to production, we insist on clean production and emission
mitigation to avert any negative impact on the environment. In terms of product packaging,
we use recyclable packaging materials to reduce the impact on the environment and natural
resources. When it comes to downstream retailing and marketing, we increase the use of
electronic media to reduce environmental footprint while promoting environmental awareness

among the general public.

PROMOTING ENVIRONMENTAL AWARENESS

The Group incorporates environmental training into the annual training of its employees with
an aim to enhance group-wide awareness of environmental protection. The Group takes an
active part in activities organized by environmental groups, including the “Earth Hour"" campaign
initiated by the WWF Hong Kong, with a view to combating climate change with real action
and increasing employees’ awareness of energy conservation and environmental protection in
daily work and life. The Group also endeavors to advance environmental protection campaigns.
During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group launched a volunteer cleaning activity
themed as “We are All Sanitation Workers at this Moment”, in an effort to promote the

awareness of reducing waste and making good use of resources.

RE - #HERERBRE

AN EH:  BRERAAER

BMBERERERARERREBEENE
EREEN ERETAEAMARRITEN
BERE o

REERE

RTE-—FRIAEEBRTHELNERX
REYE EEEEFET SENLEHR
FNEREARBZERERTBEM U
%ﬂ%ﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬂ%ﬁi%ﬁ&@%
AR ER - EEETABRBREE &R
PR BEHRRERTRYE - WA Em
BENTE  ZANEBERIRRBERR

B AR ERERRAERAEXOTE -
BETHEERERTEMBEREFLEN -
BREFRY  RRAAREERRES

EBRASE

EEBRREIMABINFEESEIZF @ 17
ARBLTHRRED - SEEG2HERRE
BRENEY OE2EERGRAELEEE
AEHMIE— K] LITBHRRREL -
EMBEIEARIEREETNHEERRE
# o SEXBNEDRREY  BE2017F12
AJBLEFEEE#TZARIE—Z ®HME
RIREIA KBS hﬁ%%%%ﬁlﬁ%@'
SERLEY  ERERNE

BHEEEERQA

2017 FEwmE

89



90

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

B HERERHE

SOCIAL &

ASPECT BI: EMPLOYMENT

The Group is well aware that talents are one of the cornerstones for the Company's long-
term implementation of sustainable development. It won the Employer Award for Excellence
from the Job Market in the past and has received the recognition of “Caring Company” for
many consecutive years. We advocate a culture of diversity and inclusiveness, and promote a
diversified work environment based on meritocracy regardless of age, gender, marital status,
religious beliefs and ethnicity. We strive to provide equal opportunities for the growth, study
and development of employees, enabling employees in different positions to have well-planned

career paths. These commitments have been included into the Group's employee handbook.

The Group's employment policy covers all career development stages spanning from
employment, talent development, working environment to work-family balance and even

retirement.

EQUAL EMPLOYMENT

We provide good and equal employment opportunities to all job applicants and fairly select
them based on their knowledge, competence, morality and job requirements. In an effort to
support equal opportunities and enhance its innovative capabilities, the Group opposes any
compromise of the principle of equal opportunities due to race, skin color, sex, age, family

status, language, religion, politics, etc.

COMPETITIVE COMPENSATION

The Group abides by relevant labor and employment regulations and all other employment
laws and regulations regarding working hours and time-out. The Group also provides
competitive compensation packages with reference to market conditions to attract and retain

talents.

Sinomax Group Limited 2017 Annual Report
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EQUALITY AND DIVERSIFICATION

The Group hopes that each employee will grow side by side with the Group. Under the same
conditions, we will first conduct internal recruitment to fill the job vacancies and give preference
to the suitable candidates within the Company. The Group's promotion system for employees
also embodies the concept of equality as promotion of an employee is dependent upon his/her

job performance, experience and personal capabilities.

VITAL WORK ENVIRONMENT

The Group is committed to building a comfortable and satisfying work environment while
encouraging employees and their families to participate in colorful recreational and sports
activities. To this end, it has built up a wealth of facilities including a staff recreation center, a
fitness room, KTV rooms and a playroom in Sinomax Industrial Park to improve employees’

physical and mental health and enable them to work vigorously.

WORK-FAMILY LIFE BALANCE

As a family-friendly employer, the Group not only strictly complies with local policies on
employees’ retirement and vacations, but also advocates against overtime work. The Group
hopes that employees can achieve a balance between work and family life, and introduces
flexible measures to consolidate the employment relationship. , improve morale and reduce

staff turnover, so as to achieve a win-win outcome.

The Hong Kong office has a five-day work week system that allows employees to make good
use of the two rest days each week to meet with friends and relatives, do more exercises,
study for self-improvement or participate in volunteer activities, so as to maintain physical and

mental health.

RETIREMENT PROTECTION

In respect of retirement protection, in addition to the national social insurances (five major
social insurance programs and housing provident fund), the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
and other mandatory retirement protection, the Group provides additional retirement benefits
for Hong Kong employees who retired at the age of 65 in recognition of their contributions to

the Group over the years.

The Group strictly abides by the relevant employment laws. During the year ended in 3|
December 2017, there was not case of prosecution against the Group for violation of

employment-related laws.
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RE  HERERRE

ASPECT B2: HEALTH AND SAFETY

The group regards occupational safety as a top priority. Over the years, the group has been
working closely with its staff to achieve the goal of “zero work-related accident” by building a
safe working environment and constantly raising employees’ awareness of occupational health

and safety.

The managers of each department of the Group also serve as safety managers in charge
of managing the Group's occupational health and safety matters. We continue to prevent

industrial accidents and occupational diseases by improving the working environment.

HAZARDS AND RISK ASSESSMENT

The Group identifies occupational hazards that may occur in various positions in domestic
manufacturing workshops and carries out risk assessments to ensure that employees in their
respective positions are protected from occupational hazards in terms of management,

equipment, education and operation.

OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY TRAINING

We provide employees with training on occupational health and safety to make them aware of
the high-risk areas in the workplace and how to take appropriate management and protective
measures. The well-being of employees is not only a matter of physical health, but also
concerns physiological and mental health. Where necessary, we engage professional agencies

and authorities to provide psychological support services to our staff.

PROTECTIVE AND SAFETY DEVICES

We distribute suitable personal protective devices to employees for occupational safety, such
as safety helmets, dust masks, earplugs and protective gloves, in an effort to protect them from

occupational injuries and diseases.

FREE PHYSICAL EXAMINATION

Each year, the Group provides free physical examinations for employees who may be exposed
to occupational hazards, and closely follows up on problematic cases to protect employees

from occupational injuries.

The Group strictly abides by the relevant safety laws. During the year ended 31 December
2017, there was not case of prosecution against the Group for breach of laws relating to

occupational safety.
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ASPECT B3: DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING

The Group is dedicated to investing resources in ongoing education and training of its staff to
enhance their skills and know-how and empower them to keep up with the times and keep
in line with the Group's business development. The Group honors its statement: “If you are
willing to join the Sinomax team and choose us to be your career development platform, we
will provide the best career planning services for you.” The Group makes promotion or transfer
arrangements in a planned way based on the competence, potential, performance and career
planning of employees and the Company's business development needs, so as to maximize the

potential of employees for them to realize the value of life and their ideals.

INTERNAL AND EXTERNAL TRAINING FUNDING SCHEME

The Group provides employees with internal orientation and on-the-job training to ensure
that they effectively perform their duties and to unleash their development potential. We
also encourage employees to participate in external training programs to boost their career
development and support the Group's business development. The Group has established a
funding mechanism to support employees participation in external training, pursuant to which
an employee will receive funding for his/her training after he/her completed the training and

obtained the relevant qualification(s).
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RE  HERERRE

ASPECT B4: LABOR STANDARDS

The Group prohibits the employment of child labor, forced labor or hard labor, and makes
sure that all employees work on a voluntary basis. We are committed to safeguarding human

rights and establishing a fair work environment for our employees.

Before hiring any job applicant, the Group will thoroughly check all the files conceming the
applicant's age and take effective procedures to verify his/her age, so as to ensure that the
applicant is at least 16 years old, otherwise he/her will not be recruited. The Group recruits
personnel in the principle of impartiality and voluntariness and prohibits any coercion or
deception in the course of recruitment. We are committed to safeguarding human rights and

establishing a fair work environment for our employees.

ZERO TOLERANCE POLICY

We strictly observe the local regulations on child labor and forced labor in the places where

we operate, and has adopted a “zero tolerance policy” towards child labor and forced labor.

In order to prevent child labor, the Group thoroughly verifies the identity documents of job
applicants and takes effective procedures to verify their age so as to ensure that they reach the
legal age. In respect of the issue of forced labor, before entering into an employment contract
with a job applicant, we will explain to the applicant the relevant requirements therein and
his/her rights and interests and give the applicant sufficient time to read and understand the

contract.

The relevant company rules and staff code of conduct have been attached to the employee
handbook and the contract and are subject to revision from time to time. Where any revision
is made, the Company will explain the latest updated content to the employees through a

responsible department or staff representative.

INQUIRING AND WHISTLE-BLOWING

On the issue of preventing forced labor, the Group also has an independent hotline run by the

human resources department to receive inquiries and reports on relevant issues.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group found no internal violation of relevant

laws and regulations, nor did it find any case of child labor or forced labor.
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ASPECT B5: SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

The Group's major suppliers of materials come from countries such as PRC, the US and
Japan. They regularly provide materials and services to the Group. Driven by global economic
integration, the Group has introduced stringent requirements on the procurement of raw
materials to ensure that suppliers meet the Group's corporate social responsibility standards

and to promote the upgrading of its supply chain.

SELECTION CRITERIA

The Group takes the performance of corporate social responsibility as one of the main
criteria for selecting suppliers. We require our suppliers not only to comply with local laws
and regulations and operate in an environmentally and socially responsible manner, but also
to observe the Group's corporate social responsibility standards, including requirements
on business ethics, environmental impact, health and safety, fire safety and confidentiality of

information.

COMMUNICATION AND MANAGEMENT

The Group regularly communicates with suppliers by various means, including telephone, email,
questionnaire, training and on-site assessment, to provide them with detailed information
on the Group's latest requirements, with a view to enhancing our partners’ awareness and

performance of corporate social responsibility and achieving a win-win situation.

INTEGRITY AND ANTI-CORRUPTION

The Group requires all suppliers to sign and comply with the “Integrity Agreement” formulated

by us in a bid to strengthen the integrity and anti-corruption awareness in the supply chain.
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RE  HERERRE

ASPECT B6: PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY

The Group adheres to the customer-oriented approach for international expansion. We
adopts the “resource-integrated” business model and implements the ISO 9001:2008 Quality
Management System, where we have put in place systematic and reliable procedures for all
operational processes spanning from upstream R&D, procurement, production, packaging to
downstream sales and marketing. For many vyears, the Group has been in compliance with the
quality requirements under relevant laws, continuously monitoring quality performance and

improving product quality to meet higher safety requirements.

QUALITY MANAGEMENT CERTIFICATION AND QUALITY
RECOGNITION

The Company has obtained ISO 9001: 2008 certification since 2005, showing that we are in
line with international standards anywhere from the management's commitment to product
quality to our operation plans, practices, monitoring and improvement procedures. The visco-
elastic foams, conventional polyurethane foams and high resilience foams produced by us
have all received CertiPUR-US certification, proving that our foams have low volatile organic

compound (VOC) emission and are free from ozone-depleting chlorofluorocarbons (CFCs).

The Group's “SINOMAX" brand bedding and mattresses have been recognised by the
Chiropractic Doctors” Association of Hong Kong since 2005. In particular, our bedding products
have been recognised by the Hong Kong's Consumer Council as quality products, testifying the

excellent quality of Sinomax Group's products.

RAW MATERIAL MONITORING AND QUALITY CONTROL TEAM

We implement strict monitoring measures towards our suppliers of raw materials. Specifically,
we examine the quality of materials provided by the suppliers on a regular and irregular
basis through on-site inspection and sampling of materials, so as to maintain supply of stable
and high-quality raw materials. In addition, each production line of the Group has a quality
control officer who carries out monitoring according to the quality control standards for each
production process, with a view to achieving the ultimate goal of producing consistent, high-

quality products.

Sinomax Group Limited 2017 Annual Report
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INDEPENDENT TESTING CENTER

The Group has set up a variety of advanced testing instruments, and its Dongguan factory
has an independent laboratory and a testing center. In order to obtain reliable testing results,
all products, anywhere from those under R&D to finished products ready for shipment, must
pass a series of rigorous tests, including environmental and safety tests such as testing of VOC
content and fire resistance.

In addition, the Group is planning to upgrade its laboratory and testing center to a certified
laboratory which will be run in accordance with the internationally recognised ISO/IEC 17025

standards to enhance the objectiveness of testing and calibration.

TRANSPARENCY OF PRODUCT INFORMATION

The Group is committed to providing the best products for customers. To make information
on the Group and its products more accessible to customers, we have established online and
offline platforms to provide a wide range of information, including retail outlets, webpages,
online social media platforms, product catalogues and leaflets. Customers can get a sense of the
efficacy of products at first hand through product experience. Meanwhile, in order to ensure
that the Group always provides accurate and true information on products and services to
customers during sales activities, we provide product training to staff and account managers at

all retail outlets by clearly explaining to them the features and effects of our products.
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RE  HEREREKRE

AFTER-SALE SERVICE OF PRODUCTS

Customers may inquire about products, provide feedback and file complaints via different
channels. In addition to the traditional channels including sales outlets and counters, customer
service hotline and email, customers can also use our mobile app to communicate with shop
assistants or customer service personnel. The customer service personnel will follow up on the
customers' feedback and conduct reviews or arrange product recalls accordingly in an effort
to give satisfactory responses to customers. Whenever the Group discovers a quality problem
with a batch of delivered products,
the responsible personnel will
initiate the product recall process
and notify the distributors and
customers concerned within four

hours.
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FORMULATING INDUSTRY STANDARDS

In addition to its own development, the Group also places emphasis on R&D and the overall
development of the industry, and strives to help improve the overall product quality of the
industry. We have promoted and participated in the development of more than 10 sets of
industry standards. The Group also dispatched senior R&D personnel to participate in China’s

drafting and formulation of product standards and quality standards for polyurethane foams.
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RE  dERERKRE

AFTER-SALE SERVICE OF PRODUCTS

Our one-stop service includes after-sale service. Customers may inquire about products,
provide feedback and file complaints via different channels, including our sales outlets and
counters, mobile applications, customer service hotline and email. Customers can use such
channels to communicate with shop assistants or customer service personnel. Our customer
service personnel will follow up on the customers’ feedback and conduct reviews accordingly in

an effort to give satisfactory responses to customers.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group did not recall any products due to
safety or health problems, nor did it receive any complaints from customers about its products
and services. Should any such contingencies happen, we will follow our product recall process

for prompt handling of problems.
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CONSUMER DATA PROTECTION AND PRIVACY POLICY

The Group attaches great importance to protection of consumer data and privacy. The Group
manages customers’ personal data collected in the course of sales activities in accordance with
the information management standards set out in its Corporate Culture Handbook and the
requirements of the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance and in the principle of “safe, reliable
and efficient service”. We will not use customer information for promotional purposes without

customers' prior consent, and will properly preserve all customer information.

In view of the rapid development of technology, the Group has commissioned a technology
company to monitor its customer data storage system on a regular basis in order to ensure the
safety of the system and eliminate any loophole that may be taken advantage of by criminals.
The Group conducts log analysis and inspection for firewall and online activity management to

evaluate the security and stability of the system.

PROTECTION OF INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY

The Group undertakes not to purchase any pirated hardware and software and to have its
information technology department and material development department ensure that all
software is provided by copyright holders. The information technology department of the
Group is responsible for installing and managing the software and maintaining the integrity and
stability of the system. When partnering with a partner or supplier or being commissioned
to design and develop any product, we will enter into a cooperation agreement with the
counterparty setting out the terms on protection of intellectual property rights, and respect

each other's rights and responsibilities.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group did not recall any products due to
safety or health problems, nor did it receive complaints from customers about its products
and services. Should such contingencies happen, we will follow our product recall process for
prompt handling of problems. As to product promotional materials, we strictly abide by the

Trade Descriptions Ordinance and never violate the relevant regulations.

There were no products of the Group that needed to be recalled for safety and health reasons

during the year.
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ASPECT B7: ANTI-CORRUPTION

As an honest enterprise, the Group develops business in the principle of integrity, honesty,
responsibility and compliance, and is firmly against bribery, extortion, fraud, money laundering

and other acts in serious breach of business ethics.

We strictly implement the Integrity Agreement signed with suppliers and subject our
employees to the Letter of Commitment to Honest and Clean Business Practices, with a
view to preventing unethical business practices. The Group has set a series of management
and approval powers and responsibilities for procurement contracts in different amounts. In
order to safeguard its integrity philosophy, the Group also has in place a chairman’s mailbox to

receive complaints and whistleblowing reports from employees.

The Group strictly abides by the relevant anti-corruption and anti-bribery laws. During the year
ended 3| December 2017, there was not case of prosecution against the Group for violation

of the relevant laws.
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ASPECT B8: COMMUNITY INVESTMENT

The Group always upholds the philosophy of “Love Supports the Beloved” and extended care and

love to the community and field of environmental protection and conservation.

The Group established a volunteer team in 2015 to encourage employees to voluntarily
contribute their time and effort in caring for the disadvantaged, protecting the environment
and promoting a green and harmonious life. By joining the volunteer team, employees can
explore their personal potential, increase organizational cohesion and develop team spirit. The
Group initiates fund-raising to support patients, visits elderly people living alone, and helps
poor children improve their education and quality of life, showcasing its spirit of caring for the
disadvantaged. The Group also participates in community activities focused on environmental

protection to create a sustainable living environment.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group's volunteer team spent more than 5,039
hours of spare time to help prepare for public welfare activities and to visit people in need.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group donated HK$1.3 million.

4 BMEMEE - WERSHARTEAL
To help prepare for public welfare activities
and to visit people in need

#ZIRARA

Volunteer Team spent More Than

4 FEERAI30FEER

During the year, the Group donated approximately
HK$1.3 million

a | 30 mix 4 4

approximately HK$ I- 3 million
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RE  HERERRE

Durning the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group organized a fundraising event themed as
"SINOMAX Pillow Fight”" for Make-A-Wish Hong Kong in an effort to support children that are
seriously il. The Group also participated in the Orbis World Sight Day and the Orbis Darkness
to Go campaigns by raising funds for such campaigns in the Company. For each purchase of any
stress-relief product in the Sinomax Life Store or Sinomax E-shop, the Group donated HK$10 to
Orbis in support of their global efforts in helping people with eye diseases see the light again. The
Group also sponsored SKH St. Christopher's Home during the year, tailor-made bedding for the
children resided in there, and donated a large quantity of pillows and blankets for replacement as
needed. In addition, the Group participated in the Pink Revolution organized by the Cancer Fund
1o raise public awareness of breast cancer. Half of the profit from customers purchase of Candy
Neck Advanced from Sinomax was donated to the Pink Revolution campaign of the Cancer
Fund in support of its free breast cancer support services. The Group celebrated birthdays for the
elderty in old-age homes in an effort to promote caring for the elderty. The Group also sponsored
the Shahu Cantonese Opera Performance in the Shahu community in China to promote cuttural
conservation, benefiting more than 1,000 people. In respect of environmental protection, the
Group showed strong support for the conservation work of the World Wide Fund for Nature. To
this end, any customer who bought at least of HK$1,500 of products would be given a Sinomax
Companion Bear for free and part of the profit therefrom would be donated to the WWF Hong
Kong to support conservation of polar bears and other related issues and to save endangered
polar bears. Moreover, the Group organized a voluntary community cleaning activity to promote

environmental heath.

SINOMAX

Hear Premium Artwork

AW Hew I1&

' SINOMAX £ £ 8

Sinomax Companion Bear
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Deloitte.

TO THE MEMBERS OF SINOMAX GROUP LIMITED
BHREEARAT
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Sinomax Group Limited (the
"Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “the Group”) set out on pages | 15
to 267, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2017, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of

significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the
consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2017, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong institute
of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance

with the disclosure requirements of Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs™)
issued by HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (“‘the Code"), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient

and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS HEETEE

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most HMRESSERBEESNHBEAE - 88
significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These AEeMERENEITRABEENSTE - Lﬁ—b

matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements EHCETEE: f%&ﬁf%ﬁ/\ BRmREANEAES

as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on R ETRER TEeHELEFRESE
these matters. BHER -

Key audit matters How our audit addressed the key audit matters

BRETEE EEEETHBERFSENEEDRK

Valuation of goodwill and intangible assets

BERENEENRE

We identified the valuation of goodwill and intangible assets arising on  Our procedures in relation to valuation of goodwill and intangible assets
the acquisition of Dormeo North America, LLC (the “Dormeo”) as a key  included:
audit matter due to the complexity and significant judgements made by

0 Understanding the entity’s key controls in relation to the valuation of
the management.

goodwill and intangible assets, including the process of preparation of

As at 31 December 2017, the carrying values of goodwill and intangible the future cash flows projections, CGUs allocation and assumptions
assets of Dormeo were HK$36,463,000 and HK$ 137,268,000, as set out estimation;

in note 20 to the consolidated financial statements. . . o
0 Evaluating the appropriateness of the key assumptions in the cash flow

projections endorsed by the board and assessed by an independent
professional valuer, including growth rates, gross margin, discount
rate, and expected sales from customers, by discussing with the

management based on their expectation for market development;

ENEHEENEBEMENERHE  ZEEAREDormeo ZEHNBENENBENGEZRFBE
North America, LLC([Dormeo|)EEREE R EF EENGE
SR BERETEE -

TRERAEREREVAENBENBRELTRE  ARBE
BERRREAKRERERR  AEELENNDERERRL
fhEMBE -

FIER A B SRR M FE20FTE, - 2017 12 A31 B * Dormeo
MEEREREENREEA36463000/8 T & 1372680008 o NEEBEEBNRESHMSEENBDRNIN  TEEEES
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BRETEE

Valuation of goodwill and intangible assets

BERENEENRE

Determining whether the goodwill and intangible assets are impaired
requires the management's estimation of the value in use of cash-
generating units (“CGUs") related to business of which the goodwill and
intangible assets have been allocated. In estimating the value in use of
the CGUs, key assumptions used by the management include cash flow
projections, growth rates, gross margin, discount rate, expected sales from

customers and management's expectation for market development.

Management of the Group determined that there was no impairment
in these CGUs containing goodwill and intangible assets during the year

ended 3| December 2017.
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How our audit addressed the key audit matters

EEEBNTHBEREERANEEAR

Evaluating the reasonableness of, and recalculating, the sensitivity
provided by management and assess the extent impact on the value

in use;

Comparing historical financial performance and revenue after the
end of reporting period of the CGUs with the original forecasts, to

evaluate the accuracy of management's budgeting process;

Assessing whether the disclosures of impairment testing in the

consolidated financial statements are sufficient and appropriate;

Evaluating the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the
independent qualified professional valuer and obtaining an
understanding of the valuer's scope of work and their terms of

engagement; and

Engaging our internal valuation specialists to assess the appropriateness

of valuation model, methodology and discount rate adopted.
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Key audit matters

BRETEE

Recoverability of trade receivables

EZRWEZ TRERER

We identified the recoverability of trade receivables as a key audit matter
due to management judgement is required in making an assessment of

the adequacy of the allowance for doubtful debts.

As disclosed in notes 4 and 24 for the consolidated financial statements,
the Group had trade receivables approximately of HK$708,489,000 which
was net of allowance for doubtful debts of approximately HK$19,209,000
as at 31 December 2017.

When there is an objective evidence of allowance for doubtful debts,
the management determines the allowance based on the aging analysis,
business relationship with customers and settlement records for each

transaction.
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How our audit addressed the key audit matters

EEEFNTHBEREERANEEAR

Our procedures in relation to the recoverability of trade receivables included:

BERERE SRS

Obtaining an understanding of how impairment for trade receivables

is estimated by the management;

Understanding the entity's key control in relation to the recoverability

of trade receivables;

Testing the aging analysis of the trade receivables, on a sample basis,

to the source documents;

Assessing the reasonableness of management assessment on the
recoverability of trade receivables with reference to the credit history
including default or delay in payments, settlement records and aging

analysis of each individual trade debtor; and

Discussing with management about the business relationship with
customers and evaluating the reasonableness of the management
assessment on the recoverability of trade receivables with/without

subsequent settlement.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises the information included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated

financial statements and our auditor's report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information

and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is
to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained
in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are

required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED WITH
GOVERNANCE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such intemal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated

financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing
the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related
to going concern and using the going concem basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do

SO.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group's financial reporting

process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users

taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain

professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of intemnal

control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of

expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

0 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of

accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.
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J Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concemn basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date
of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to

cease to continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair

presentation.

J Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of
the entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and

performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant

deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence,

and where applicable, related safeguards.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B B R

From the matters communicated with those charged with govemance, we determine those REE/ASBANTEY  ZEETHAH
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of REeMBRENETEBEENTE BN
the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our BRERETEE EEEREMBRERHEL
auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, DEFRE  BRIFEBRLERATATARREZ
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in SEE JEBHERNBALT  WAERED
our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to EEEREPEREEHERNAEERBL
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. EENRRNEG  AIESRETEAERETE
ERER

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent auditor's report is Gladys HEABUREMRENENEEABARLES

Fung Suet Ngan. BxTt o
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Y .BERISET
Certified Public Accountants HEDITHN
Hong Kong EB
27 March 2018 201853 H27H
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
ReEskHEtEZERER

For the year ended 31 December 2017
BZ017F 12831 BLEEE

2017 2016
2017 201645
NOTES HK$’ 000 HK$ 000
[ T THET
Revenue LN 5 4,183,786 3,499,762
Cost of sales HERA (3,354,589) (2,678,250)
Gross profit E7 829,197 821,512
Other income HigA 6 51,739 55,123
Other gains and losses Hitnlzs kBB 7 (6,548) (1,248)
Selling and distribution costs HE RO HKA (472,796) (449,028)
Administrative expenses THRAX (216,950) (206,106)
Finance costs IR AR 8 (26,158) (16332)
Other expenses Hinfix (100,242) (70,124)
Share of loss of an associate i (ool ik /N ) S - (12,719)
Net loss on derecognition of an associate RIFER -k E AR
BREFH — (10,100)
Profit before taxation BR B0 A& A 9 58,242 110978
Income tax expenses PSR < 12 (7,457) (10,526)
Profit for the year FRER 50,785 100,452
Other comprehensive income (expense) HitZ2EWA (%)
Items that may be reclassified subsequently RENHEH 7 EZ R R
to profit or loss: HWER -
Exchange differences arising on translation MEBINEREENES
of foreign operations et 73,483 (53,705)
Reclassification of translation reserve to profit or HE-FHMNBAREERN
loss upon dissolution of a subsidiary NBEEBEENELRE (1,364) —
Other comprehensive income (expenses) for the year FNEMEERA(AR) 72,119 (53,705)
Total comprehensive income for the year FREEBRAEE 122,904 46,747
Profit (loss) for the year attributable to: THATRIEEREN(EE):
Owners of the Company V/NGIE 2N 39,674 103525
Non-controlling interests FERER [T (3,073)
50,785 100,452

BREEEERAF

017 FE®mE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
GeBRERkEMEEKER

For the year ended 3| December 2017
HZE2017F12A31 BIEFE

2017 2016
2017F 2016
NOTES HK$’ 000 HK$'000
(g TR TR
Total comprehensive income (expense) TIATEEFAZEKRA
for the year attributable to: (R )% -
Owners of the Company AREHEEA 107,652 52,851
Non-controlling interests iR 15,252 (6,104)
122,904 46,747
Earnings per share BREM 14
— Basic —EXK HK2.27 cents 1Ll HK5.92 cents &l
— Diluted — 8 HK2.27 cents 1Ll HK5.91 cents il
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

me MR R
At 31 December 2017
R2017F 128318

2017 2016
2017 & 20164
NOTES HK$’ 000 HK$' 000
BizE FET FHT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment I ER S [5 713,031 572917
Investment properties REYE 6 99,389 82,274
Prepaid lease payments BNMEEHE |7 67,631 64,469
Deposits paid for acquisition of SWEDE  BE K
property, plant and equipment RBEXHEEE 20,806 50,781
Goodwill e 18 62,764 60926
Intangible assets BREE 19 137,268 143545
Rental deposits Meke 2 24,470 23952
Deferred tax assets B IEEE 2 19,710 22673
1,145,069 1,021,537
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Inventories & 23 679,473 475941
Prepaid lease payments BNMEEHE |7 1,727 1,607
Trade and other receivables Z 5 REMENFE 24 847,121 870,760
Bills receivables RWERE 25 16,814 11,714
Tax recoverable A4y [l 7 78 1,719 e
Pledged bank deposits BHEERITER 26 2912 5053
Fixed bank deposits FEHRITIEK 26 32,852 18,623
Bank balances and cash RITHB RIS 26 155,485 131,848
1,738,103 1,515,546
CURRENT LIABILITIES mEaE
Trade and other payables 85 REAMENFIEA 27 623,192 617331
Bills payables ANESE 28 91,474 85433
Taxation payable PRI TiIR 20,022 24,000
Unsecured bank borrowings EIHAIRITIER 29 614,990 391,593
1,349,678 1118357
NET CURRENT ASSETS TEEEFE 388,425 397,189
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES BEERRDAE 1,533,494 1418726

BEKRBERDQA 20177 FERE

117



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

RE B R AR R &
At 31 December 2017
R2017F 128318

2017 2016
2017 & 20164
NOTES HK$’ 000 HK$' 000
BizE FTHET FAT
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ERBEE
Unsecured bank borrowings EHRIBITRER 29 121,064 85,303
Deferred tax liabilities ERERIBAE 2 102,964 119327
224,028 204,630
NET ASSETS BEFE 1,309,466 1,214,096
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BEANGEE
Share capital BRA 30 175,000 175,000
Reserves [t 980,030 884,290
Equity attributable to owners of the Company ARAIER AEIGER 1,155,030 1,059,290
Non-controlling interests IR A 154,436 154,806
TOTAL EQUITY A 1,309,466 1,214,096

The consolidated financial statements on pages | 15 to 267 were approved and authorised for

FISE27TEMEGA T ERERN20I8F3

issue by the board of directors on 27 March 2018 and are signed on its behalf by: A7 BEALREEe EREETE - UH

TIEEREEE -
CHEUNG Tung R LAM Kam Cheung 8 4%
DIRECTOREF DIRECTOREF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
RERREEHR

For the year ended 3| December 2017
BEWI7F12A3IBILFE

Equty attrbutable to owners of the Company

FOTHEARGRE
Share Non-
Share Share Merger  Statutory Capta opton  Transkion  Retained controling
aptal  premium resene resene resene resenve resene pofts  SubTotd  interests Tota
BE BRER AMRE ERE  ATER BREBR EIRR  REEM N JeRER &
HGO0  HKS00  HKSO0  HKSO0  HKBO0  HKSO000  HKSO0  HKSO00  HKSOD  HKG000  HKS00
Ten T ThRn TR TEn TR TEr TR TR TER TEn
(Note i) (Note(i))  (Note i)
(W) (W) (W)
At ! fnuary 016 RoisEIR18 00 40450 (40383 10372 1510 1138 543 84l 1058352 BT 109689
Prot o) or the ear ERETIER) - - = = = = S 5T LY 7/ N 7}
Exchange diferences arsing on transation BRI ZRELNESZE
of foreign operations - - - - - = (061 = (06M) (G031 (3709
Tota comprehense (expense) income ortheyerr — EAZ (B MABE = = = = = = MBS 9l e
Dividend recogiseda dstrbuton note 13) BRAARNRA (M) = = = - = = - AN (X0 - (N
Recognition of share based payment expense RARBATEL - - - - - 1397 - - 13 - 137
Acquistion of subsires e = = = = = = = = = 99200 99200
Captl contbution o subsdary A-EHBEARE - - - - = = = = - BB Bm
Traers g2 = = - = = - = = =
At 31 Decerber 2016 R0I6ENA3IA 1000 40450 (40383 2621 1510 355 (538 BLIT 109290 14806 12140%
Prot for the year R - - - - - = = NeM eI T
Exchange diferences arsing on transetion eSS R
of foreign operations - - - - - - 6934 - 6934 4141 73483
Redassfication of randation resene topoftor - 3 E-EHBLARENHEE
Joss upon dissoluton of a subsidary ERNELRE - - - - - - (1364 - (1364 - (1,364
Total comprehensive income for the year FREARALE - - - - - - 67978 39674 107,652 15252 122904
Dividend recogiseda dstrbuton rote 13) BB RE(HE D) = = = - = = = (s (17500 - (50
Diidend pd tonon-conrolin feess R ERERA NRE - = = = = = = = - (560 (5
Recognition of share based payment expense BARBATRL - - - - - 5,588 - - 5,588 - 5,588
Transfers g3 - - - 18 - - B (2508) B B B
At31 December 2017 UIESVE T 75000 40450 (40385 1559 1510 19163 04 910403 LISS030  [54436 1309466

BEEEERAT 2007 FERE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the year ended 3| December 2017
HZEWI7F 12831 BEFE

Notes:

0

(i)

(iii)

The merger reserve represented the difference between the total equity of those subsidiaries
which were transferred from the shareholders of Sinomax Enterprises Limited, the immediate
holding company of the Company ("“Individual Shareholders”) to Treasure Range Holdings
Limited (“Treasure Range"), a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, attributable to the
owners of the Company and the aggregated share capital of the relevant subsidiaries pursuant
to the group reorganisation where the transfer of the relevant subsidiaries to Treasure Range
as satisfied by issue of new shares from Treasure Range to the Company and from the

Company to Sinomax Enterprises Limited, the immediate holding company of the Company.

According to the relevant requirements in the memorandum of association of the Company's
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") subsidiaries, a portion of their profits after
taxation has to be transferred to the statutory reserve. The transfer had been made before
the distribution of a dividend to equity owners. The reserve can be applied either to set
off accumulated losses, if any, or to increase capital. The statutory reserve fund is non-

distributable other than upon liquidation.

In accordance with the provisions of the Macao Commercial Code, the subsidiary of the
Company incorporated in Macau is required to transfer a minimum of 25% of annual net
profit to statutory reserve until the accumulated amount equals half of its quota capital. This

reserve is not distributable to the shareholder.

During the year ended 31 December 2011, the Individual Shareholders acquired an
additional 34% interest in Trade Sincere Limited (“Trade Sincere”), a non-wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company, from a non-controlling shareholder for a consideration of United
States dollars (“US$") 998,012 (equivalent to HK$7,755,000) and the Group's interest in
Trade Sincere was then increased from 51% to 85%. Simultaneously, Trade Sincere disposed
of its 40% equity interest in Sinomax Kuka (Zhejiang) Foam Co. Limited (“Sinomax Kuka"),
a then wholly-owned subsidiary of Trade Sincere to a non-controlling shareholder for a
consideration of US$ 1,174,132 (equivalent to HK$8,855,000). Sinomax Kuka became a 60%
owned subsidiary of Trade Sincere after this partial disposal. The Group's effective interest in
Sinomax Kuka remained unchanged. The difference between the consideration received by
the Group and the increase in non-controlling interests after these transactions amounting to

approximately HK$ 1,515,000 is recorded in capital reserve.

Sinomax Group Limited 2017 Annual Report

bt

(i

(iif)

AGEED
EZEHEA
RAREHBEEER AR Z KRR (@R
R BEARAZEME A 7 Treasure Range
Holdings Limited([ Treasure Range ) & % £
HERBLRIRAGENZTE o [ Treasure
Range@ﬁgﬁ BHBAANREDESR
Treasure Range FZNA RIEFTHR RAA A
MARAEHEERADNEHBECEERAA
BITHRG T A

ERESBEEARLDEER AR
ARMEREEAADAERE

REARBNREARLMBE(HE KB
ARARERANMORAMRE - BRRZEN
BOABBRELTRHE - ZERERAES
BAEAD KRB AETT - ZRETARNEH
ZHBRNB)RIEE - BETERREI
EERBEEETEREDE o

RERFKEZEINRTE - ARFREFE
it PR S AO B B 1 PR BB D 25% Y R T
NEZERE BEZRA2BSANKRE
R —F - ZRBETERIERRDIE

BZE0IIFNANBLEFE  BEAKRER
FERBRRERRRFLZENBARER
BERAG(EH)MEMNER  RE
£998012% ([ % 7 1) (38 & 727,755,000
T RAEERBHMERE L ES1%ENE
85% © [AIF - B3 mFFEMRAR R & H T
PHEBREBERAR([EHERR](E
KEHm—H2EMBAR)K40%KE - R
BR1,1741325% T (18 7 8,8550008 7T ) ©
REZBHEER BREBERRABHES
(0% HMMTE AR - AEERBHBERM
ERERERTE - RNZER 5% A5E
Frltmm R BRI RERIL MM EBLN A
1,51500087C « Wit ABAEEE



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

RERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2017

BE017F 12 A3 ALEEE

2017 2016
20175 20165
HK$’ 000 HK$ 000
TR TR
OPERATING ACTIVITIES BERY
Profit before taxation B 250 Al A 58,242 110978
Adjustments for: KRG R IFFE
(Reversal of) allowance for doubtful debts RER (BB B E (2,767) 2,034
Provision for inventories FERE 6,338 8,023
Amortisation of prepaid lease payments BT E IR 1,659 1,478
Amortisation of intangible assets BVEAEEH 6,277 4707
Depreciation of investment properties REMENE 2,420 3,129
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment mE - BEREERE 57,986 40,425
Finance costs BIBRAR 26,158 16,332
Interest income FBUA (316) (1931)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment HEME - BERFENER 572 134
Share based payment expense B RRAX 5,588 2337
Reclassification of translation reserve to profit or EHE—RRBARREN
loss upon dissolution of a subsidiary DEEBRRAEN B 1,364 —
Share of loss of an associate et — B E R RER — 12719
Net loss on derecognition of an associate RIFER—HEE A
ZERFEE — 10,100
Operating cash flows before movements in working capital EEERENNKERERE 163,521 210,465
Increase in rental deposits HereEm (2,864) (4,188)
Increase in inventories FEEM (174,352) (170,047)
Decrease (increase) in trade and other receivables B 5 K Bt eI
B () 72,630 (248,896)
(Increase) decrease in bills receivables FEWERE (S )R (4,152) 9,697
(Decrease) increase in trade and other payables B 5 REMENTIBECRD )L (47,748) 57,116
(Decrease) increase in bills payables FERT R OR )18 (360) 30,693
Cash generated from (used in) operations reEEE (AR 6,675 (15,160)
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid EREBMER (5713) (59,659)
PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT") paid RENGEESE T
([¥FrEH ) (26,097) (27,070)
US Income Tax refund (paid) REI(BER)EBIER 127 (13)
NET CASH USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES REEHMAR S FHA (25,008) (101,902)

BEREEERAT 2007 FERS
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
RERERER

For the year ended 3| December 2017

HZEWI7F 12831 BEFE

2017 2016
20175 20164
NOTES HK$’ 000 HK$' 000
s FTET FET
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REES
Payment for property, plant and equipment M - BE REERNT (135,400) (284,997)
Acquisition of subsidiaries Yo B P 8 A 7] 34 — (55,076)
Placement of fixed bank deposits TFHE BRRITIE X (13,952) (25,202)
Withdrawal of fixed bank deposits REUE BRI TE R 1,734 60,022
Withdrawal of structured bank deposits REERBERITER — 24,831
Placement of pledged bank deposits e EHRITER (7,362) (12,165)
Withdrawal of pledged bank deposits REE EMRITER 9,762 15,077
Interest received BdFA 316 1,931
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment HEME - BEK
KBS TIR 469 322
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES REEZBDHAREFHE (144,433) (275,257)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES BMEED
Capital injection from non-controlling RE—REHBEAT
interests of a subsidiary R T E — 23373
Dividends paid BERRE (33,122) (54,250)
Interest paid EAREES (25,955) (16332)
New unsecured bank borrowings raised HESNERERRITER 548,778 486,193
Repayments of unsecured bank borrowings B BEWRITREK (302,269) (250,355)
NET CASH FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEEBELRSFHE 38 187,432 188,629
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND ReLkBRe%EEY
CASH EQUIVALENTS IR ) F88 17,991 (188,530)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FNHRERBLEFED
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 131,848 328790
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes EXEHNTE 5,646 (8412)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FERE S RREEEY
END OF THE YEAR, represented by PASRITEE SR R R 2 251
bank balances and cash 155,485 131,848

122 Sinomax Group Limited 2017 Annual Report



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GENERAL

The Company was incorporated and registered as an exempted company with limited
liability in the Cayman Islands under the Companies Law Chapter 22 (Law 3 of 1961,
as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands and its shares are listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). Its
immediate and ultimate holding company is Sinomax Enterprises Limited (“Sinomax

Enterprises’), a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI").

The addresses of the registered office and the principal place of business of the
Company are P.O. Box 309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman KY |- 1104, Cayman Islands
and Units 2005-2007, Level 20, Tower |, MegaBox Enterprise Square Five, 38 Wang
Chiu Road, Kowloon Bay, Hong Kong, respectively.

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The principal activities of its

principal subsidiaries are set out in note 40.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollar (“HK$"),

which is also the functional currency of the Company.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the current year

The Group has applied the following amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA") for the first time in the current

year:

Amendments to HKAS 7 Disclosure Initiative

Amendments to HKAS 12 Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses

Amendments to HKFRS 12 As part of Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2014 -2016 Cycle

e BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2017
HZ2007F 12831 ALLFE

—-RER

ARABRBEHERELREERE
(1961 F £ =R &H - ﬁﬁA&fJ)
RASBEEEMRUL ELTA—FEH
REBRLE RERNREEMERS
%ﬁ@“ﬁ@%ﬁﬁbiﬁtﬁ°ﬁﬁ
BRREERARREHRBLEARAA
([EHELE]) ZRAA—HAREE
EREE((RBERHE |)EMALA
DA e

ARBEMEMBERERTEZLEMEH D
All&P.O. Box 309, Ugland House, Grand
Cayman KYI-1104, Cayman lIslands
EENEERRENBFELEES LY
MegaBox | EE 201 2005-2007 & ©

APRBREZERAR - TEMBEAT
ZEBEMBE M40 o

GARBRENEL(RR )2 7
FRBARTMEEE -

ERFAIREETEBUBREER
(TBRMBRELER )

FEERHENNEEHEREEAN
CHEN

AEEERAFEERERBEGM
RE((BBEHAAE)MBEMHOIAT
BRMBRERREIIX

BREEN BRI
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EHEN
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the current year

(continued)

Except as described below, the application of the above amendments to HKFRSs in
the current year has had no material impact on the Group's financial performance and
positions for the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these

consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 7 Disclosure Initiative

The Group has applied these amendments for the first time in the current year. The
amendments require an entity to provide disclosures that enable users of financial
statements to evaluate changes in liabilities arising from financing activities, including both
cash and non-cash changes. In addition, the amendments also require disclosures on
changes in financial assets if cash flows from those financial assets were, or future cash

flows will be, included in cash flows from financing activities.

Specifically, the amendments require the following to be disclosed: (i) changes from
financing cash flows; (i) finance costs; (iii) dividends recognised as distribution; (iv) the

effect of changes in foreign exchange rate; and (v) other changes.

A reconciliation between the opening and closing balances of these items is provided
in note 38. Consistent with the transition provisions of the amendments, the Group
has not disclosed comparative information for the prior year. Apart from the additional
disclosure in note 38, the application of these amendments has had no impact on the

Group's consolidated financial statements.
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2.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e UHERRMEE

For the year ended 3| December 2017
HZE2017F 12831 BILFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and revised HKFRSs that have been

issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 9

HKFRS 15

HKFRS 16

HKFRS 17

HK(FRIC)-Int 22

HK(FRIC)-Int 23

Amendments to HKFRS 2

Amendments to HKFRS 4

Amendments to HKFRS 9

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Financial Instruments'

Revenue from Contracts with Customers and the related
Amendments'

Leases’

Insurance Contracts’

Foreign Currency Transactions and

Advance Consideration'

Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments?

Classification and Measurement of Share-based

Payment Transactions'

Applying HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments with HKFRS 4

Insurance Contracts'

Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation’

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and

its Associate or Joint Venture?

e BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2017
HZ2007F 12831 ALLFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M RRMEE

For the year ended 3| December 2017
HZE2017F 12831 BILFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 28 Long-term Interests in Associate and Joint Ventures?

Amendments to HKAS 28 As part of the Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2014 - 2016 Cycle'

Amendments to HKAS 40 Transfers of Investment Property'

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2015 - 2017 Cycle?

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after | January 2018

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after | January 2019
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after | January 2021

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRSs and Interpretations mentioned below,
the directors of the Company anticipate that the application of all other new and
revised HKFRSs will have no material impact on consolidated financial statements in the

foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

HKFRS 9 introduces new requirements for the classification and measurement
of financial assets, financial liabilities, general hedge accounting and impairment

requirements for financial assets.

Key requirements of HKFRS 9 which are relevant to the Group are:

. all recognised financial assets that are within the scope of HKFRS 9 are required
to be subsequently measured at amortised cost or fair value. Specifically, debt
investments that are held within a business model whose objective is to collect
the contractual cash flows, and that have contractual cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding are generally
measured at amortised cost at the end of subsequent accounting periods.
Debt instruments that are held within a business model whose objective is
achieved both by collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets,
and that have contractual terms that give rise on specified dates to cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding, are generally measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income (“FVTOCI"). All other financial assets are measured at their fair value at

subsequent accounting periods, and

. in relation to the impairment of financial assets. HKFRS 9 requires an expected
credit loss model, as opposed to an incurred credit loss model under HKAS
39. The expected credit loss model requires an entity to account for expected
credit losses and changes in those expected credit losses at each reporting date
to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition. In other words, it is no
longer necessary for a credit event to have occurred before credit losses are

recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BB |RME

For the year ended 3| December 2017

HE0I7E 2R3 BILFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)

Based on the Group's financial instruments and risk management policies as at 3|
December 2017, the directors of the Company anticipate the following potential impact
on initial application of HKFRS 9:

Classification and measurement

All the financial assets and financial liabilities will continue to be measured on the same

basis as are currently measured under HKAS 39.

Impairment

In general, the directors of the Company anticipate that the application of the expected
credit loss model of HKFRS 9 will result in earlier provision of credit losses which are
not yet incurred in relation to the Group's financial assets measured at amortised costs
and other items that subject to the impairment provisions upon application of HKFRS 9

by the Group.

Based on the assessment by the directors of the Company, if the expected credit loss
model was to be applied by the Group, the accumulated amount of impairment loss
to be recognised by Group as at | January 2018 would be increased as compared to
the accumulated amount recognised under HKAS 39 mainly attributable to expected
credit losses provision on trade receivables. Such further impairment recognised under
expected credit loss model would reduce the opening retained profits and increase the

deferred tax assets at | January 2018.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

HKFRS |5 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

HKFRS 15 was issued which establishes a single comprehensive model for entities to
use in accounting for revenue arising from contracts with customers. HKFRS 15 will
supersede the current revenue recognition guidance including HKAS 18 Revenue, HKAS

|| Construction Contracts and the related interpretations when it becomes effective.

The core principle of HKFRS 15 is that an entity should recognise revenue to depict
the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or

services. Specifically, the standard introduces a 5-step approach to revenue recognition:

. Step I: Identify the contract(s) with a customer

. Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract

. Step 3: Determine the transaction price

. Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the
contract

. Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance
obligation
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BB |RME

For the year ended 3| December 2017
HZE2017F 12831 BILFE

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (continued)

Under HKFRS 15, an entity recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation is
satisfied, i.e. when control of the goods or services underlying the particular performance
obligation is transferred to the customer. Far more prescriptive guidance has been
added in HKFRS 15 to deal with specific scenarios. Furthermore, extensive disclosures

are required by HKFRS 5.

In 2016, the HKICPA issued Clarifications to HKFRS 15 in relation to the identification
of performance obligations, principal versus agent considerations, as well as licensing

application guidance.

The directors of the Company have assessed the impact on application of HKFRS 15
and did not anticipate a material impact on the timing and amounts of revenue from
sales of health and household products and polyurethane foam and other ancillary

services recognised in the respective reporting periods.

In addition, the application of HKFRS 15 in the future may result in more disclosures in

the consolidated financial statements.

HKFRS 16 Leases

HKFRS 16 introduces a comprehensive model for the identification of lease
arrangements and accounting treatments for both lessors and lessees. HKFRS 16 will

supersede HKAS 17 Leases and the related interpretations when it becomes effective.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (continued)

HKFRS 16 distinguishes lease and service contracts on the basis of whether an identified
asset is controlled by a customer. Distinctions of operating leases and finance leases are
removed for lessee accounting, and is replaced by a model where a right-of-use asset
and a corresponding liability have to be recognised for all leases by lessees, except for

short-term leases and leases of low value assets.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost and subsequently measured at cost
(subject to certain exceptions) less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses,
adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease liability. The lease liability is initially
measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at that date.
Subsequently, the lease liability is adjusted for interest and lease payments, as well as
the impact of lease modifications, amongst others. For the classification of cash flows,
the Group currently presents upfront prepaid lease payments as investing cash flows in
relation to leasehold lands for owned use and those classified as investment properties
while other operating lease payments are presented as operating cash flows. Upon
application of HKFRS 16, lease payments in relation to lease liability will be allocated into
a principal and an interest portion which will be presented as financing cash flows by the

Group.

Under HKAS 17, the Group has already recognised prepaid lease payments for
leasehold lands where the Group is a lessee. The application of HKFRS 16 may result
in potential changes in classification of these assets depending on whether the Group
presents right-of-use assets separately or within the same line item at which the

corresponding underlying assets would be presented if they were owned.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M RRMEE

For the year ended 3| December 2017
HZE2017F 12831 BILFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (continued)

In contrast to lessee accounting, HKFRS 16 substantially carries forward the lessor
accounting requirements in HKAS 17, and continues to require a lessor to classify a

lease either as an operating lease or a finance lease.

Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by HKFRS 6.

As at 31 December 2017, the Group has non-cancellable operating lease commitments
of HK$291,044,000 as disclosed in note 35. A preliminary assessment indicates that
these arrangements will meet the definition of a lease. Upon application of HKFRS 16,
the Group will recognise a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability in respect of

all these leases unless they qualify for low value or short-term leases.

In addition, the Group currently considers refundable rental deposits paid of
HK$30,296,000 and refundable rental deposits received of HK$I, 116,000 as rights
and obligations under leases to which HKAS 17 applies. Based on the definition of
lease payments under HKFRS 16, such deposits are not payments relating to the right
to use the underlying assets, accordingly, the carrying amounts of such deposits may
be adjusted to amortised cost and such adjustments are considered as additional
lease payments. Adjustments to refundable rental deposits paid would be included in
the carrying amount of right-of-use assets. Adjustments to refundable rental deposits

received would be considered as advance lease payments.

Furthermore, the application of new requirements may result in changes in

measurement, presentation and disclosure as indicated above.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with HKFRSs
issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance (“CO").

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on historical basis at the end

of each reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange

for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a
liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement
date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable or estimated using another
valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes
into account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants would take
those characteristics into account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement
date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated
financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for share-based payment
transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share Based Payment, leasing
transactions that are within the scope of HKAS |7 Leases, and measurements that have
some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS

2 Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M RRMEE

For the year ended 3| December 2017
HZEWI7F 12831 BEFE

3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into
Level |, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements
are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its

entirety, which are described as follows:

0 Level | inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical

assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the measurement date;

. Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level I, that

are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

. Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the
Company and entities controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is

achieved when the Company:

. has power over the investee;

. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
investee; and

. has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances
indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed

above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary
and ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and
expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the date

the Group gains control until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are attributed to the
owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive
income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit

balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to

bring their accounting policies in line with the Group's accounting policies.

Al intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to

transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e UHERRMEE

For the year ended 3| December 2017
HZEWI7F 12831 BEFE

3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 3. FESTBERE)

Business combinations ES e

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The WEBERRBUEEANR - £BA 5
consideration transferred in a business combination is measured at fair value, which is EENREBERATEE MAERZE
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the AAEEMBENEE  ASEMKEK
Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the BIRBEAEAEENBBERASERR
equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition MBEWE R MR R TRRRNE
related costs are generally recognised in profit or loss as incurred. AHz AT EEN - BEREAKA—

BRREAKARRRPHER -

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are RIEERE BB HBIEERE
recognised at their fair value, except that: REZABEREATERR  HUATE
TRRRAN -

0 deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities related to employee 0 EXEHEEEXEEREESET
benefit arrangements are recognised and measured in accordance with HKAS 12 ZHEBEERB RN RIREE
Income Taxes and HKAS |9 Employee Benefits respectively; BEHENENRIAGRIRE

BEEAE 9K ESEH 5
BRHHE

. liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based payment arrangements of J RIREER -+ WU 5 AR AR
the acquiree or share-based payment arrangements of the Group entered into RN RE A E B ARG AERE
to replace share-based payment arrangements of the acquiree are measured in BN RZEERHBE R ARG A
accordance with HKFRS 2 Share Based Payment at the acquisition date (see the AR cHE BB RET
accounting policy below); and B EREEBMBRELRE2

IR BERZ W ITER
TXEHBEK) + R

. assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in accordance with J BEEENBERERNESR A
HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are EHEZERBEER L UALE
measured in accordance with that standard. EHEIDERFHIEHE CBE (K

EHRIREBZREAGHE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations (continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the
amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the
acquirer's previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net amount
of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities
assumed as at acquisition date. If, after re-assessment, the net of the acquisition-date
amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum
of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the
acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer's previously held interest in the acquiree (if

any), the excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders
to a proportionate share of the relevant subsidiary's net assets in the event of liquidation
are initially measured at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the
recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets or at fair value. The choice
of measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-transaction basis. Other types of non-

controlling interests are measured at their fair value.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group's previously held equity
interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date
when the Group obtains control), and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in
profit or loss. Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date
that have previously been recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to
profit or loss where such treatment would be appropriate if that interest were disposed

of.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the
reporting period in which the combination occurs, the Group report provisional
amounts for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. Those provisional
amounts are adjusted during the measurement period (see above), and additional
assets or liabilities are recognised, to reflect new information obtained about facts and
circumstances that existed at the acquisition date that, if known, would have affected

the amounts recognised at that date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BB |RME

For the year ended 3| December 2017
HZEWI7F 12831 BEFE

3.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost as established at the
date of acquisition of the business (see the accounting policy above) less accumulated

impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the Group's
cash-generating units (“CGU") (or group of CGUs) that is expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination, which represent the lowest level at which the goodwill is

monitored for internal management purposes and not larger than an operating segment.

A CGU (or group of CGUs) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently when there is indication that the unit may be
impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a reporting period, the CGU (or
group of CGUs) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment before
the end of that reporting period. If the recoverable amount is less than its carrying
amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount

of each asset in the unit (or group of CGUs).

On disposal of the relevant CGU, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the
determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal or any of the CGU within

group of CGUs in which the Group monitors goodwill.

The Group's policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of an associate is described

below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments in an associate

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence. Significant
influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the

investee but is not control or joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of an associate are incorporated in these
consolidated financial statements using the equity method of accounting. The financial
statements of an associate used for equity accounting purposes are prepared using
uniform accounting policies as those of the Group for like transactions and events in
similar circumstances. Under the equity method, an investment in an associate is initially
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost and adjusted
thereafter to recognise the Group's share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive
income of the associate. Change in net assets of the associate other than profit or
loss and other comprehensive income are not accounted for unless such changes
resulted in change in ownership interest held by the Group. When the Group's share
of losses of an associate exceeds the Group's interest in that associate (which includes
any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group's net investment
in the associate), the Group discontinues recognising its share of further losses.
Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or

constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.

An investment in an associate is accounted for using the equity method from the date
on which the investee becomes an associate. On acquisition of the investment in an
associate, any excess of the cost of the investment over the Group's share of the net
fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill,
which is included within the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the
Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost
of the investment, after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss in the

period in which the investment is acquired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BB |RME

For the year ended 3| December 2017

HE0I7E 2R3 BILFE

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments in an associate (continued)

The requirements of HKAS 39 are applied to determine whether it is necessary to
recognise any impairment loss with respect to the Group's investment in an associate.
When necessary, the entire carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is
tested for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its
recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its
carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised forms part of the carrying amount of
the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with
HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently

increases.

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an associate, it is accounted
for as a disposal of the entire interest in the investee with a resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss. When the Group retains an interest in the former associate
and the retained interest is a financial asset within the scope of HKAS 39, the Group
measures the retained interest at fair value at that date and the fair value is regarded as
its fair value on initial recognition. The difference between the carrying amount of the
associate and the fair value of any retained interest and any proceeds from disposing
the relevant interest in the associate is included in the determination of the gain or loss
on disposal of the associate. In addition, the Group accounts for all amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to that associate on the same
basis as would be required if that associate had directly disposed of the related assets
or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive
income by that associate would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the
related assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit or

loss (as a reclassification adjustment) upon disposal of the relevant associate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments in an associate (continued)

The Group discontinues the use of the equity method from the date when the
investment ceases to be an associate. The difference between the carrying amount of
the associate at the date the equity method was discontinued, and the fair value of any
retained interest and any proceeds from disposing of a part interest in the associate is

included in the determination of the gain or loss on disposal of the associate.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate but the Group continues
to use the equity method, the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of the
gain or loss that had previously been recognised in other comprehensive income relating
to that reduction in ownership interest if that gain or loss would be reclassified to profit

or loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the Group (such as a sale or
contribution of assets), profits and losses resulting from the transactions with the
associate are recognised in the Group's consolidated financial statements only to the

extent of interests in the associate that are not related to the Group.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable.
Revenue is reduced for estimated customer returns, rebates and other similar

allowances.

Revenue is recognised when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured; when
it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the Group and when specific

criteria have been met for each of the Group's activities, as described below.

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the goods are delivered and titles

have passed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BB |RME

For the year ended 3| December 2017
HZE2017F 12831 BILFE

3.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Interest income is accrued on a time apportionment basis, by reference to the principal
outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial

asset to that asset's net carrying amount on initial recognition.

The Group's accountings policy for recognition of revenue from operating leases is

described in the accounting policy below.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including any directly attributable
expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are stated at cost
less subsequent accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of investment properties over
their estimated useful lives and after taking into account of their estimated residual
value, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values and
depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect

of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the investment property
is permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefits are expected from
its disposals. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the property (calculated as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is

included in the profit or loss in the period in which the property is derecognised.

When an owner-occupied property becomes an investment property because its use
has changed as evidenced by end of owner-occupation, the transfer is made at the

carrying amount and the cost of the property remained unchanged.

When there is a change of use of an investment property for a transfer from investment
property to owner-occupied property as evidenced by commencement of owner-
occupation, the transfer is made at the carrying amount and the cost of the property

remained unchanged.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including buildings held for use in the production or
supply of goods, or for administrative purposes (other than construction in progress as
described below) are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost

less subsequent accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets other than construction
in progress less their residual values over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-
line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate

accounted for on a prospective basis.

Properties in the course of construction for production, supply or administrative
purposes (i.e. construction in progress) are carried at cost, less any recognised
impairment loss. Costs include professional fees and, for qualifying assets, borrowing
costs capitalised in accordance with the Group's accounting policy. Such properties
are classified to the appropriate categories of property, plant and equipment when
completed and ready for intended use. Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis

as other property assets, commences when the assets are ready for their intended use.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no
future economic benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.
Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and
equipment is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying

amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are recognised separately from
goodwill and are initially recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is

regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a business combination
with finite useful lives are reported at costs less accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible assets that are acquired
separately. Alternatively, intangible assets acquired in a business combination with
indefinite useful lives are carried at cost less any subsequent accumulated impairment
losses (see the accounting policy in respect of impairment losses on tangible and

intangible assets).

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future economic benefits
are expected from use or disposal. Gains and losses arising from derecognition of an
intangible asset, measured as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and
the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is

derecognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Research and development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the period in which it

is incurred.

An intemally-generated intangible asset arising from development activities (or from the
development phase of an internal project) is recognised if, and only if, all of the following

have been demonstrated:

. the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be

available for use or sale;

. the intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it;

0 the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

0 how the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits;

. the availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete

the development and to use or sell the intangible asset; and

0 the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset

during its development.

The amount initially recognised for internally-generated intangible asset is the sum
of the expenditure incurred from the date when the intangible asset first meets the
recognition criteria listed above. Where no internally-generated intangible asset can be
recognised, development expenditure is charged to profit or loss in the period in which

it is incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-generated intangible asset is measured at
cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses (if any), on the

same basis as intangible assets that are acquired separately.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e UHERRMEE

For the year ended 3| December 2017
HZEWI7F 12831 BEFE

3.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are

classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line
basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and

arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset.

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments including the cost of acquiring land held under operating
leases, are recognised as expenses on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Contingent rentals arising under operating leases are recognised as an expense in the

period in which they are incurred.

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating leases, such
incentives are recognised as a liability. The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised

as a reduction of rental expense on a straight-line basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leasing (continued)
Leasehold land and building

When the Group makes payments for a property interest which includes both leasehold
land and building elements, the Group assesses the classification of each element as
a finance or an operating lease separately based on the assessment as to whether
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of each element have
been transferred to the Group, unless it is clear that both elements are operating leases
in which case the entire property is accounted as an operating lease. Specifically, the
entire consideration (including any lump-sum upfront payments) are allocated between
the leasehold land and the building elements in proportion to the relative fair values of
the leasehold interests in the land element and building element of the lease at the initial

recognition.

To the extent the allocation of the relevant lease payments can be made reliably,
interest in leasehold land that is accounted for as an operating lease is presented as
“prepaid lease payments” in the consolidated statement of financial position and is

amortised over the lease term on a straight-line basis.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs of inventories
are determined on weighted average method. Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated costs of completion and costs

necessary to make the sale.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e UHERRMEE

For the year ended 3| December 2017
HZEWI7F 12831 BEFE

3.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a group entity becomes a

party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and
financial liabilities are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or

financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.

Financial assets

The Group's financial assets are classified as loans and receivables. The classification
depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time

of initial recognition.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt
instrument and of allocating interest income over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all
fees paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset,

or, where appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt instruments.

Sinomax Group Limited 2017 Annual Report

FREHBERE)

E¢MIA

TREENRERABNRASEKRASTA
ANBEXRETRTRER o

ki

RMEERERAEBENSRRFER
E-NBERETEREENERARE
RERENXZRAR S ERET AR
HREEREESERABNHRFEM
ER)

0

THREE

AEENEBEED BAEFRREER
BenBATEREENEERBNL
RS ERREE

EEFIEE

ERMR - BEBBARANARE
BEBTANBHKAARDEMEK
A% - BERFZRE-BROF BRI
A KeBEENERFHR(ER)
BRARANES RIRSRAR(BE
BRERANXBHNENAERRNE
HER  IHAAREMGERIR)E
R EREDFERFE -

BEHETANFSRATIRERAN AR

=7
o °



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments that are not quoted in an active market. Subsequent to initial recognition,
loans and receivables (including trade and other receivables, bills receivables, pledged
bank deposits, fixed bank deposits and bank balances and cash) are carried at amortised
cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment (see accounting policy on

impairment of loans and receivables below).

Impairment of loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of each
reporting period. Financial assets are considered to be impaired when there is
objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial
recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the financial assets

have been affected.

Objective evidence of impairment of loans and receivables could include:

. significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or

. breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in interest or principal

payments; or

0 it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or financial re-

organisation.

Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables could include the
Group's past experience of collecting payments, an increase in the number of delayed
payments in the portfolio past the respective credit period, observable changes in

national or local economic conditions that correlate with default on receivables.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e UHERRMEE

For the year ended 3| December 2017
HZE2017F 12831 BILFE

3.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of loans and receivables (continued)

The amount of impairment loss recognised is the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the

financial asset's original effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the loans and receivables is reduced by the impairment
loss directly with the exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is
reduced through the use of an allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount
of the allowance account are recognised in profit or loss. When a trade receivable is
considered uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account. Subsequent

recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited to profit or loss.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss decreases and the decrease
can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment losses were
recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit or
loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the asset at the date the impairment
is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the

impairment not been recognised.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Debt and equity instruments issued by the Group are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements

and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of
the Group after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by a group entity

are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (continued)

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial
liability and of allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments (including all fees
paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs
and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial liability, or,

where appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities of the Group, including trade and other payables, bills payables
and unsecured bank borrowings, are subsequently measured at amortised cost using

effective interest method.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash
flows from the asset expire or, when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all

the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the asset's
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognised

in profit or loss.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group's obligations
are discharged, cancelled or have expired. The difference between the carrying
amount of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is

recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BB |RME

For the year ended 3| December 2017

BHEWI7FE12A3NRBLEE

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of tangible and intangible assets other than goodwill

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its
tangible and intangible assets with finite useful lives to determine whether there is any
indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in order to determine

the extent of the impairment loss, if any.

When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset
individually, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the CGU to which the
asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified,
corporate assets are also allocated to individual CGUs, or otherwise they are allocated
to the smallest group of CGUs for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis

can be identified.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment at least annually,

and whenever there is an indication that they may be impaired.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset or (a CGU) for which the estimates of

future cash flows have not been adjusted.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of tangible and intangible assets other than goodwill (continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is estimated to be less than its
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or the CGU) is reduced to its
recoverable amount. In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated
first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other
assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. The
carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs
of disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of
the impairment loss that would otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated
pro rata to the other assets of the unit. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in

profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or
the CGU) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or the CGU) in

prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or
constructive) as a result of a past event, and it is probable that the Group will be
required to settle that obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of

the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required
to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account
the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where a provision is measured
using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is
the present value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time value of money is

material).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e UHERRMEE

For the year ended 3| December 2017
HZEWI7F 12831 BEFE

3.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of
qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to
get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such

time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for

capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are

incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that the
Group will comply with the conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be

received.

Government grants that are received for the purpose of giving immediate financial
support to the Group with no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss

receivable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual entity comprising the Group,
transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of that entity (foreign
currencies) are recorded in the respective functional currency (i.e. the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates) at the rates of exchanges
prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that
date. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign

currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the
retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which

they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements, the assets and
liabilities of the Group's foreign operations are translated into the presentation currency
of the Group (i.e. HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting
period. Income and expenses are translated at the average exchange rates for the year.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity under the heading of translation reserve (attributed to non-

controlling interests as appropriate).

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets acquired arising on an
acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets and liabilities of that foreign
operation and retranslated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the end of each
reporting period. Exchange differences arising are recognised in other comprehensive

income.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans, government-managed
retirement benefit schemes and the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme are recognised
as an expense when employees have rendered service, entitling them to the

contributions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BB |RME

For the year ended 3| December 2017
HZE2017F 12831 BILFE

3.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted amount of the
benefits expected to be paid as and when employees rendered the services. All short-
term employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless another HKFRS requires

or permits the inclusion of the benefits in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such as wages and salaries,

annual leave and sick leave) after deducting any amount already paid.

Equity-settled share based payment transactions

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees are measured at the fair value of
the equity instruments at the grant date. Details regarding the determination of the fair

value of equity-settled share based transactions are set out in note 31.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments determined at the grant date
without taking into consideration all non-market vesting conditions is expensed on a
straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the Group's estimate of equity
instruments that will eventually vest, with a corresponding increase in equity (share
option reserve). At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimate of
the number of equity instruments expected to vest based on assessment of all relevant
non-market vesting conditions. The impact of the revision of the original estimates, if
any, is recognised in profit or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised

estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to the share option reserve.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously recognised in share option
reserve will be transferred to share premium. When the share options are forfeited
after the vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously

recognised in the share option reserve will be transferred to retained profits.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs
from “profit before taxation” as reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income because of income or expense that are taxable or
deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group's
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted

by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial statements and the corresponding
tax base used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally
recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences can
be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination)
of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the temporary

difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries and an associate, except where the Group is able to control
the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to
utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the

foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e

B RS AR M A

For the year ended 3| December 2017
HZEWI7F 12831 BEFE

3.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Taxation (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of the reporting
period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable

profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to
apply in the period in which the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax
rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the

reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences
that would follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the

reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of their assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when they relate to
items that are recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which
case, the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity respectively. When current tax or deferred tax arises from initial
accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting for

the business combination.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in note 3, the
directors of the Company are required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from
other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may

differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions
to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if

the revision affects both current and future periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that may have a significant
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets within the next

financial year.

Estimated impairment of goodwill and intangible assets

Determining whether the goodwill and intangible assets are impaired requires the
management's estimation of the value in use of CGUs related to business of which the
goodwill and intangible assets have been allocated. In estimating the value in use of the
CGUs, key assumptions used by the management include cash flow projections, growth
rates, gross margin, discount rate, expected sales from customers and management's
expectation for market development. When the actual future cash flows are less than
expected, or change in facts and circumstances which results in downward revision of

future cash, a material impairment loss may arise.

As at 31 December 2017, the carrying amount of goodwill is HK$62,764,000 (2016:
HK$60,926,000). Details of the Group's goodwill and intangible assets are set out in

notes 18 and |9, respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e UHERRMEE

For the year ended 3| December 2017
HZE2017F 12831 BILFE

4.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (continued)

The recoverability of trade receivables

Management regularly reviews the recoverability of trade receivables which requires
management’s judgement in making an assessment of the adequacy of the allowances
for doubtful debts. When there is an objective evidence of allowance for doubitful
debts, the management determines the allowance based on the aging analysis, business
relationship with customers and settlement records for each transaction. Where the
actual recoverability of the debts is different from the original estimate, such difference
will impact the carrying amounts of trade receivables and allowance for the periods in

which such estimate has been changed.

As at 31 December 2017, the carrying amount of trade receivable is HK$708,489,000
(net of allowance for doubtful debts of HK$19,209,000) (2016: carrying amount of
HK$731,010,000, net of allowance for doubtful debts of HK$23,363,000). Details of the

Group's trade receivables are set out in note 24.

Estimated allowance for inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The Group regularly
reviews its inventory levels in order to identify slow-moving and obsolete inventories.
When the Group identifies items of inventories which have a net realisable value that
is lower than its carrying amount, the Group estimates the amount of write-down of
inventories as allowance for inventories. If the net realisable value of inventories of the
Group becomes lower than its carrying amount subsequently, additional allowance may

be required.

As at 31 December 2017, the carrying amount of inventories is HK$679,473,000 (2016:
HK$475,941,000). Details of the Group's inventories are set out in note 23.

Sinomax Group Limited 2017 Annual Report

B AR RN EERR(E)

BZBWREZTRERR

EEEBTHESE FRIFENTRD
BR - WHBEEEEMHE  UHR
FRAER R EETE - MERR
RRBCRBER SEERERED
i BRFZEBRARSEARSZE
BB rRE - HeEEcERYTKE
BRENFEHER  FRZBANE
ARENBRYEE SRR ARG
ZRM(E

R217F12A318 B 5 EK HIE
# BR T {8 /5 708,489,000 78 T (KL M B R
BR B £519209,000% 7t )(2016% : &
HE1E731,010,0007% 7T (& {1k X8R & B
23363,00087)) - AKEE 5 KA
EdE NI

e EERE

FEDERARAERFHE 2 RIEEE
et - ARETHESEFRKY
NERIGHEERERFE - BAKERS
ERFEERR TR HEERERE
B AEESGEAHETEAMEFER
Bee® - WERAKEGFENERE
HEESERNEERARE  AFELERIE
o

MN20I17F 128318 TENEEEAS
679,473,000 7T (2016 4 : 475,941,000
7T) ° AEBEGFEFBHRIE23 -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Deferred tax assets

The realisability of the deferred tax assets mainly depends on whether sufficient future
assessable profits or taxable temporary differences will be available in the future. In cases
where the actual future assessable profits generated are less or more than expected, a
material reversal or additional recognition of deferred tax assets may arise, which would
be recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive

income in future.

Details of the Group's deferred tax assets are set out in note 22.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group is principally engaged in the business of manufacture and sale of health and
household products and polyurethane foam. Health and household products mainly

represent quality visco-elastic pillows, mattress toppers and mattresses.

The information reported to the chief operating decision maker ("CODM") (ie. the
executive directors of the Company) in respect of the Group's business is focused on
the location of customers and the Group is currently organised into the following three

operating and reportable segments as follows:

e BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2017
HZ2007F 12831 ALLFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e

B RS AR M A

For the year ended 3| December 2017
HZEWI7F 12831 BEFE

5.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

China market — manufacture and sale of health and household products and
polyurethane foam for customers located in the PRC, Hong

Kong and Macau

North American — manufacture and sale of health and household products for
market customers located in the United States of America (the “US"),

Canada and other North American countries

Europe and other — manufacture and sale of health and household products for
overseas customers located overseas except for those customers located

markets in North American market

The CODM makes decisions based on the revenue of each segment and reviews
reports on the financial performance of the Group as a whole. No information of
segment results, segment assets and liabilities are reviewed by the CODM for the
assessment of performance of operating segments. Therefore, only the segment revenue
is presented. This is the measure reported to the CODM for the purposes of resource

allocation and performance assessment.

The accounting policies of the operating and reportable segments are the same as the

Group's accounting policies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M mRMEE

For the year ended 3| December 2017
BEWI7F12A3IBILFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5. BARSBEM(E)
Segment revenues AEBA
The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue and results by operating and NTAREEREERTRED HEH
reportable segments: FIRAREEDT
For the year ended 3| December 2017 BZ2017E 12831 HLEE
Europe
North and other
China American overseas
market market markets  Consolidated
BN H At
HETS L ETE /oS o)
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’000

TR TR TR TR

SEGMENT REVENUE DA

External sales INEPIEE 2,336,373 1,754,104 93,309 4,183,786
Unallocated other income AOBEMKA 56,049
Unallocated costs and expenses AP BRARFAX (4,181,593)
Profit before taxation BREATR A 58,242
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRMEE

For the year ended 3| December 2017
HZE2017F12A31 BIEFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5. BMARSBEM(E)
Segment revenues (continued) FBYN(E)
For the year ended 3| December 2016 HEWI6F12A3IALEFE
Europe
North and other
China American overseas
market market markets ~ Consolidated
UM R E A
hE TS EEM 5 BN e
HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$'000 HK$'000

THET TR THET TR

SEGMENT REVENUE 2EUBA
External sales HMEBSHE 1,895,867 1,494,402 109493 3499762
Share of loss of an associate e A RIEE (12719)
Net loss on derecognition of BUIER—FABE AR

an associate BE%E (10,100)
Unallocated other income AABEEAMEA 58,207
Unallocated costs and expenses AABRARAZ (3424172
Profit before taxation BR T A A 110978
There were no inter-segment sales during both years. RBEFER - L&D BENHEE o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M mRMEE

For the year ended 3| December 2017
BEWI7F12A3IBILFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5. BMARZBEME)

FRERMRBHRA

Revenue from major products and services

TINBAREREETRERNBA

The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue from its major products:

AT -

2017 2016
2017F 2016F
HK$’ 000 HK$' 000
TER FET
Health and household products BERREEM 2,478,265 2,147,302
Polyurethane foam BaBERA 1,705,521 1,352,460
4,183,786 3,499,762

Geographical information 15 &

AEBERBIMBEPRANEHTIRE
TEEHENTEERTEE/MAL
REMBEETFORERTIAZS

Information about the Group's revenue from external customers is presented based on
the location of the retail shops and concession counters for retail sales and location of

customers for other sales.

2017 2016

20175 20164

HK$’ 000 HK$' 000

TER THEL

The US % 1,626,152 1411594
The PRC FE 2,006,126 1,609,574
Hong Kong BE 324,275 277,863
Macau R 5972 8430
Europe BM 72,605 90,548
Other Asian countries HAhgmMBIR 14,812 12411
Other American countries HEMER 127,952 82,808
Others Hith 5,892 6,534
4,183,786 3,499,762

BEKREBERLDA

2017 FERE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRMEE

For the year ended 3| December 2017
HZE2017F12A31 BIEFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5. BMARZBEM(E)

Geographical information (continued) wHER(E)

AEEFRDEENBRELHEE
E)NERTIREEMRELTIAZS :

Information about the Group's non-current assets (excluding deferred tax assets) is

presented based on the location of the assets:

2017 2016
2017F 20164
HK$’ 000 HK$' 000
TER FET
The US ES 528,152 466,116
The PRC H 578,538 515,583
Hong Kong B 18,643 17,138
Macau SR 26 27
1,125,359 998,864

Information about major customers: FERXFHER :

RERREILETH DB —MUEFH
WA(ERIARE B AW AR 10%IA )&

An analysis of revenue from a customer in the segment of North American market

contributing over 10% of the Group's total revenue during the year is as follows:

DWW
2017 2016
2017 5 20165
HK$’ 000 HK$' 000
FET FHET
Customer A ZEA 637,600 711512
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRRWE

For the year ended 3| December 2017
BEWI7F12A3IBILFE

6. OTHER INCOME Ht A

2017 2016

20175 20165

HK$’ 000 HK$'000

TR THT

Interest income FEHA 316 1,931

Rental income G ON 10,833 8,898

Scrap sales (Note a) THREE (Hiita) 33,801 25011

Govemment subsidy (Note b) BEHB (FisED) 4,798 1,081

Overprovision of tax penalties in prior years BEFEHIBS FBERE — [1,541

Others Htt 1,991 6661

51,739 55,123

Notes: 5T -

(a)  The corresponding cost of scrap inventories is inseparable from cost of sales. () AETHYMEIFERR ARG AHERK

Z’So

ARAFUREH R O HE KA
TR - ZFREERS
FBH2EERSRA - RES%E
BRI ARG Rt A
SERREIRNERERDERA
FHY R ZERPPERT
ZN 3

(b)  The amount represented subsidies for development on export sales and advanced (b)
technology. Full amounts are recognised as income in profit or loss as there were no
specific conditions attached to the grants and, therefore, the Group recognised the
grants to profit or loss upon receipt. The subsidies were granted on a discretionary

basis to the Group during the year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M RRMEE

For the year ended 3| December 2017
HZE2017F12A31 BIEFE

7. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES Hit s R &R
2017 2016
20175 20165
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
TR THT
Allowance for doubtful debts AR (1,543) (4,198)
Reversal of allowance for doubtful debts RERERD 4310 2,164
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment HENE  BEREENER (572) (134)
Reclassification of translation reserve to profit HE-ENBRRABENIEE
or loss upon dissolution of a subsidiary BRmEL#E (1,364) —
Net exchange (losses) gains BB X (B8 ) e 58 (7,379) 920
(6,548) (1,248)
8.  FINANCE COSTS MBRE
2017 2016
2017 F 2016%
HK$’000 HK$' 000
TER TR
Interest on: FE
— bank borrowings —HRITfEE 26,158 13,161
— other borrowings —HiEE — 3171
26,158 16,332

Sinomax Group Limited 2017 Annual Report




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IS AR MY EE

For the year ended 31 December 2017
BZ017F 12831 BLEEE

PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 9. FBRBIATET
2017 2016
20175 20165
HK$’ 000 HK$ 000
TER TR
Profit before taxation has been arrived at after charging:  HIFR A T IR FTSH
BRI AR R -
Directors’ remuneration (note 10) EEHM(HEE10) 13,297 12,871
Other staff costs At TRA 387,825 310,688
Retirement benefit scheme contributions for other staff ~ E-fth B T AR R 4& F5T 2|t 3¢ 39,119 38,906
Share based payment expenses, RO HRAZ(TREES)
excluding those of directors 3,784 919
Total staff costs BT ER 444,025 363,384
Amortisation of prepaid lease payments BNEERIESH 1,659 1478
Amortisation of intangible assets EREESH 6,277 4707
Depreciation of investment properties REMERE 2,420 3,129
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME - BERLERE 57,986 40,425
Total depreciation and amortisation MEREHER 68,342 49739
Operating lease rentals in respect of THRENEEHERS
— rented premises —-HEME 62,771 41,303
— retall stores -ZEE 27,638 26,783
90,409 68,086
Department store counters concessionaire BERAFEETEEME (i)
commission (Note a) 56,846 57,158
147,255 125,244
Auditor's remuneration ZEEE S 4,300 4050
Cost of inventories recognised as expenses BRARAINEFERA(BERE
including provision for inventories of 1% 6,338,000/8 7T
HK$6,338,000 (2016: HK$8,023,000) (20164 : 8,023,000/87T)) 3,354,589 2,678,250
Research and development expenses HER= (GrAEMES)(HaEb)
(included in other expenses) (Note b) 77,447 58,950

BREEEERAF

017 FE®mE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRMEE

For the year ended 3| December 2017
HZE2017F12A31 BIEFE

9. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION (continued) 9. BRBIATEA(E)

Notes: Bzt -

(a)  Concessionaire commission in respect of department store counters is generally @ BEARIERTLEAE—RUE
calculated by applying pre-determined percentages to actual sales made through ERMEREEERBEABEEASL
respective counters. .

(b)  Research and development expenses comprise staff salaries of HK$2 1,674,000 (2016: (b) WMERXBEEIHS2,674000% 7T
HK$15,158,000), which are also included in the staff costs disclosed above. (20164 : 15,158,005 7T ) + TR & A

L ATREN B TR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IS AR MY EE

For the year ended 31 December 2017

BE017F 12 A3 ALEEE
DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S EMOLUMENTS 0. EERRSTHAEME

EZRBERTBRABREANMNE R
BERS LMAR R ARRGIBENT :

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments for the year, disclosed pursuant to the

applicable Listing Rules and CO, are as follows:

Performance Share Retirement
related based benefit
Salaries and incentive payment scheme
allowances payments expense  contributions
Fees ek HBBRR R  BAKER Total
Name of Director EEnR e ERE MiRe XZAMX FTEMX @gt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$' 000
TER TERr TERr TER TERr TERr
(Note (i))
(B &E (i)
For the year ended 3| December 2017 BZ 2017 12 31 BILEE
Executive directors HTESE
Mr. Lam Chi Fan (Chairman) WEALE(EER) — 2021 160 457 18 2,656
Mr. Cheung Tung (President) REREAE(EH) — 2,092 180 447 18 2737
Mr. Chen Feng i - 2510 200 254 - 2,964
Mr. Lam Kam Cheung MR — 1,589 200 25 I8 200
Ms. Lam Fei Man HER/ME — 1,109 160 0l 18 1,508
Non-executive directors FYTES
Mr. Wong Chi Keung TEREA 240 = = 4 = 28
Professor Lam Sing Kwong Simon et 240 - - f — 282
Mr. Fan Chun Wah Andrew ERERE 240 — — f — 282
Mr. Zhang Hwo Jie RELE 240 = = 4 — 282
Mr. Wu Tak Lung REESLE 240 = = 2] = 282
1,200 9,321 900 1,804 7 13,297

BHEEEERQA

2017 FERE



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRMEE

For the year ended 3| December 2017
HZE2017F12A31 BIEFE

10. DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S EMOLUMENTS (continued) 0. EBRBESTRAEME(E)
Performance Share Retirement
related based benefit
Salaries and incentive payment scheme
allowances payments expense  contributions
Fees ek BBERE KROIT EKEH Total
Name of Director EENA ik =il b Fx  FTEIEX st

HKPO00  HKPOOD  HKSO000  HKSO00 K000 HK$000
TRAT  TArT  TErT  FTEr  TEr  TER

(Note (i)
(P& (7))
For the year ended 3| December 2016 EZ 2016 12 31 BILEE
Executive directors HTEE
Mr. Lam Chi Fan (Chairman) WENLE(EER) = 1969 180 466 I8 2633
Mr. Cheung Tung (President) RERAE(EH) — 2039 0 47 18 274
Mr. Chen Feng Rl E — 2847 250 214 — 2911
Mr. Lam Kam Cheung MR = 1,547 250 140 I8 1955
Ms. Lam Fei Man HER/ME — 1079 200 15 18 1448
Non-executive directors FHTES
Mr. Wong Chi Keung THEEE 40 — — — — 40
Professor Lam Sing Kwong Simon AR 240 - - - - 240
Mr. Fan Chun Wah Andrew BHELE 240 - - - — 240
Mr. Zhang Hwo Jie RELE 40 — — — — 40
Mr. Wu Tak Lung REELE 240 = = = — 240
1,200 9081 1,100 1418 n 12871
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

10. DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S EMOLUMENTS (continued)

Notes:

i)

(i

(i

Performance related incentive payments is recommended by the remuneration
committee of the Company and is approved by the board of directors, with reference
to the Group's operating results, individual performance and comparable market

statistics.

No director nor the chief executive waived any emoluments in respect of the years
ended 31 December 2017 and 2016.

There are no loans, quasi-loans and other dealings arrangement in favour of the
directors of the Company, controlled bodies corporate of the directors of the
Company and connected entities with such directors of the Company in respect of
the years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016.

The executive directors shown above were for their service in connection with the

management of the affairs of the Group.

The independent non-executive directors emoluments shown above were for their

services as directors of the Company.

mEMBHRRWE

For the year ended 3| December 2017
BEWI7F12A3IBILFE

0. EEREETRAEME(E)

Bt aE
()

(i)

(i)

)

B

FRRAMBE N2 EAKEELE
B ERMATRERTELBTESR
AENRBARRAFHESERAR
ExenE-

BEEEARSTHRABREZ2017
FERWICFENAIBIEFERES
e -

BZ2017ER2016F12A3B IS
B BEARARAES ARAES
ZEBEFAARKARZSESZHE
ERARBAZER  EERRHE
R HLHE -

EXFRBTEEIME AR
EREEREEEBMRHE RS -

IXFATBLFMTEEZME R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e UHERRMEE

For the year ended 3| December 2017
HZEWI7F 12831 BEFE

EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS

(@)  Emoluments of senior management

Of the five senior management of the Company for the years ended 31
December 2016 and 2017, all of them are directors of the Company and their

remuneration has been disclosed in note 10.

(b)  Five highest paid individuals

The five highest paid individual of the Group during the year included three
directors (2016: four directors), details of whose remuneration are set out in
note 10 above. Details of the remuneration for the year of the remaining two
(2016: one) highest paid individual who are neither a director nor chief executive

of the Company are as follows:

E1q0)

EREEETMH

B E2016%F R2017F 128318
LEE  ARAANERERES
Fo 2RYBANAEE BN
AT 101 o
INBEESHEMAL

FRAEERUSREMATEE
“HREZ(06F  DRESF)
%% 2 % M & 15 & R - SR
10 A TRBWIFRRAESIE
RITBABNESHEMA (2016
F:—R)ERFM2FENT

2017 2016

2017F 20165

HK$’ 000 HK$ 000

THER FAT

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e RBNEVER 3,711 [516
Contributions to retirement benefits scheme RIREFFTEME R 121 —
Performance related incentive payments (Note) 75 88 7 35 0 524 (Fff 33 365 124
4,197 1,640

Note: Performance related incentive payments are reference to the Group's

operating results, individual performance and comparable market statistics.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M mRMEE

For the year ended 3| December 2017
BEWI7F12A3IBILFE

I1. EMPLOYEES EMOLUMENTS (continued) . EEHHME)

(b)  Five highest paid individuals 